EQUALITY OF ELEMENTARY ORBITS AND ELEMENTARY SYMPLECTIC ORBITS

By Pratyusha Chattopadhyay

THE INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, CHENNAI.

A thesis submitted to the Board of Studies in Mathematical Sciences

In partial fulfillment of the requirements $\mbox{ For the Degree of }$

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

of

HOMI BHABHA NATIONAL INSTITUTE



 $May\ 2010$

Homi Bhabha National Institute

Recommendations of the Viva Voce Board

As members of the Viva Voce Board, we recommend that the dissertation prepared by **Pratyusha Chattopadhyay** entitled "Equality of Elementary Orbits and Elementary Symplectic Orbits" may be accepted as fulfilling the dissertation requirement for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Date :
Chairman:
Date :
Convener:
Date :
Member:
Date : Member :
Date : Member :
Final approval and acceptance of this dissertation is contingent upon the candidate's submission of the final copies of the dissertation to HBNI.
I hereby certify that I have read this dissertation prepared under my direction
and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the dissertation requirement.
Date :
Guide:

DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the investigation presented in the thesis has been carried out by me. The work is original and the work has not been submitted earlier as a whole or in part for a degree/diploma at this or any other Institution or University.

Pratyusha Chattopadhyay

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis is the culmination of the vision and enterprise of Prof. Ravi A. Rao. It is an honour being his student and I take this opportunity to thank him for his eternal patience and eye for details which had been instrumental in driving me passionately through the wire. I also owe my deepest gratitude to Prof. D.S. Nagaraj who as my supervisor not only encouraged and challenged me but also provided valuable inputs that influenced in shaping up my research.

I am grateful to my instructors Professors J. Iyer, S. Kesavan, M. Krishna, K. Paranjape, P. Sankaran and K. Srinivas for guiding and instilling in me discipline and perseverance during my initial years of PhD by never accepting less than my best efforts. I am specially thankful to Prof. V. Kodiyalam for listening to my chalk talks throughout a year that moulded my analytical and presentation skills. I wish to thank Prof. R. Balasubramanian for enabling every support all along my program. I am also deeply indebted to the Professors of my alma mater, University of Hyderabad, who were the leading lights of my exploration. I thank them all.

I would like to thank the administrative staffs of IMSc for their unending cooperation during my stay. A special note of thanks to TIFR for extending hospitality and providing the best resources during my frequent visits. I would also tender my thanks to Bhaskaracharya Pratishthana, Pune and ISI, Kolkata for their cordial reception.

I owe much to my fellow students and friends in this endeavour, Preena, Sunil, Shilpa and Gaurav for their mirthful and inspiring company.

Last but far from least, I would like to thank my parents, Pralay and Amit for their constant support and affection.

Abstract

Aim of this thesis is to show a bijection between the orbit spaces of unimodular rows under the action of the elementary linear group and the orbit spaces of unimodular rows under the action of the elementary symplectic group. We also establish a relative version of it with respect to an ideal. We then generalise this result and show that the orbit space of unimodular rows of a projective module under the action of the group of elementary transvections is in bijection with the orbit space of unimodular rows of a projective module under the action of the group of elementary symplectic transvections with respect to an alternating form.

Let (Q, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic module with hyperbolic rank ≥ 1 (which means that there is a summand $\mathbb{H}(R)$). We use the above equalities to improve the injective stability bound for $K_1\operatorname{Sp}(R)$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(Q, \langle, \rangle)/\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle)$.

Contents

1	\mathbf{Intr}	oduction	1		
2	Pre	liminaries	13		
	2.1	Definitions and Notations	13		
	2.2	Preliminary Results	18		
3	Quillen's Local-Global Principle				
	3.1	Splitting Lemma and Related Results	36		
	3.2	Local Global Principle	38		
	3.3	Local Global Principle: A Stronger Version	42		
4	Equ	ality of Orbits	48		
	4.1	The absolute case	48		
	4.2	The Relative Case	49		
5	Equality of Orbits: A Global Version 5				
	5.1	Elementary Symplectic Group $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$	53		
	5.2	Dilation Principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$			
	5.3	Local Global Principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$			
	5.4	Transvection Group			
	5.5	Dilation for Elementary Transvections	66		
	5.6	Local Global Principle for Elementary Transvections	67		
	5.7	Symplectic Modules and Symplectic Transvections	70		
	5.8	Dilation for Elementary Symplectic Transvections	77		
	5.9	Local Global principle for $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q)$	80		
	5.10	Equality of $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$, $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ and $\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$	83		
		Equality of orbits			

6	$\mathbf{E}\mathbf{x}\mathbf{c}$	ision Theorem	89
	6.1	Excision Ring and Excision Theorem	89
	6.2	Discussion on The Excision Theorem	90
	6.3	Symplectic Analogue of The Excision Theorem	91
	6.4	Equality of Orbits and Excision	95
	6.5	Suresh linear relation property for a group G	95
	6.6	Excision Theorem for Symplectic Transvection Group	97
7	Inje	ective Stability	101
	7.1	Decrease in injective stability for $K_1\operatorname{Sp}(R)$	101
	7.2	Decrease in injective stability for $\operatorname{Sp}(Q,\langle,\rangle)/\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$	108

List of Publications

- [1] P. Chattopadhyay and R.A. Rao. Elementary symplectic orbit and improved k_1 -stability. (to appear in Journal of K-Theory).
- [2] R. Basu, P. Chattopadhyay, and R.A. Rao. Some remarks on symplectic injective stability. (to appear in Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society).
- [3] H. Apte, P. Chattopadhyay, and R.A. Rao. ————. (in preparation).
- [4] P. Chattopadhyay and R.A. Rao. Equality of linear and symplectic orbits. (in preparation).

Chapter 1

Introduction

We always work over a commutative ring R with 1. I denotes an ideal of R. We use the notation (P, \langle, \rangle) to denote a symplectic R-module where P is a finitely generated projective R-module of even rank and $\langle, \rangle: P \times P \longrightarrow R$ is a non-degenerate (i.e, $P \cong P^*$ by $x \longrightarrow \langle x, \rangle$) alternating bilinear form. Also Q represents $(R^2 \perp P)$ with induced form on $(\mathbb{H}(R) \perp P)$ and Q[X] represents $(R[X]^2 \perp P[X])$ with induced form on $(\mathbb{H}(R[X]) \perp P[X])$. Here $\mathbb{H}(R)$ denotes $(R \oplus R^*)$, with a unique non-degenerate bilinear form, namely $\langle (a_1, b_1), (a_2, b_2) \rangle = a_1b_2 - a_2b_1$.

Now we will make a chapter wise summary.

Chapter 2

In this chapter we recall the definitions of finitely presented module, extended module, unimodular row, relative unimodular row with respect to an ideal, elementary groups (linear, symplectic, orthogonal), relative elementary groups (linear, symplectic, orthogonal) with respect to an ideal and alternating matrix, commutator identities satisfied by the (standard) elementary generators of the elementary groups. Here we also fix some notations and state our assumptions. Then we state some well known results and give a proof of a few of them.

Chapter 3

In chapter 3 we first state D. Quillen's famous Local Global principle which says the following:

Quillen's Local-Global Principle: ([24], Theorem 1)

Let M be a finitely presented module over R[X]. If $M_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is extended $R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]$ -module for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, then M is extended from R.

We next state L.N. Vaserstein's "action version" of Quillen's Local Global prin-

ciple ([18], Chapter 3, Theorem 2.5) which says

Let
$$n \geq 3$$
 and $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R[X])$. If $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{GL}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R , then $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{GL}_n(R[X])$.

and also state R.A. Rao's similar result for the elementary linear group ([25], Theorem 2.3) which says

Let
$$v(X) \in \operatorname{Um}_n(R[X])$$
, $n \geq 3$. Suppose for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} in R , $v(X) \in v(0)\operatorname{E}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$.

The aim of this chapter is to prove a relative (w.r.t. an extended ideal) elementary (linear and symplectic) action version of L.N. Vaserstein and R.A. Rao's result, which says

Theorem 1: (Local Global Principle w.r.t. an Extended Ideal:) (see Theorem 3.2.3)

Let $n \geq 3$. Let I be an ideal of R and $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R[X], I[X])$. If for all maximal (or even prime) ideals \mathfrak{m} of R, $v(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in v(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} E(n, I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then

$$v(X) \in v(0) E(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

This theorem plays a crucial role in the thesis. Also, we state and prove a stronger version of the above theorem (see Theorem 3.3.5) in this chapter.

Chapter 4

L.N. Vaserstein showed in ([29], Lemma 5.5) that

For any natural number n and any alternating matrix φ from $GL_{2n}(R)$,

$$e_1\left(\mathrm{E}_{2n}(R)\right) = e_1\left(\mathrm{E}_{2n}(R) \cap \mathrm{Sp}_{\omega}(R)\right),$$

where $\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$ denotes the isotropy group of φ , i.e.

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R) = \{ \alpha \in \operatorname{SL}_{2n}(R) \mid \alpha^t \varphi \alpha = \varphi \}.$$

In this chapter we concentrate on the special case when $\varphi = \psi_n$, the standard alternating matrix. In this special case the proof is much easier to establish. In this case following L.N. Vaserstein's proof one observes that

For any natural number $n \geq 2$, $e_1 E_{2n}(R) = e_1 ESp_{2n}(R)$.

The above lemma means that if v is the first row of an elementary matrix of even size then it is also the first row of an elementary symplectic matrix. This led us to query whether the orbit space of unimodular rows under the action of the elementary subgroup is in bijective correspondence with the orbit space of unimodular rows under the action of the elementary symplectic group. In this chapter, we prove that this is so, and also establish the relative version. In particular,

Theorem 2(a): (see Theorem 4.1.1)

Let R be a commutative ring and let $v \in Um_{2n}(R)$, then

$$v \to_{2n}(R) = v \to_{2n}(R),$$

for
$$n \geq 2$$
.

Theorem 2(b): (see Theorem 4.2.2)

Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in \text{Um}_{2n}(R, I)$, then

$$v \to E_{2n}(R, I) = v \to E_{2n}(R, I),$$

for
$$n \geq 3$$
.

Chapter 5

In this chapter we define the **Elementary symplectic group with respect** to an alternating matrix following the lead of L.N. Vaserstein.

In ([29], Lemma 5.4) L.N. Vaserstein obtained the following:

Let n be a natural number and φ be an alternating matrix from $GL_{2n}(R)$. Let us assume

$$\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -c \\ c^t & \nu \end{pmatrix} \ and \ \varphi^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & d \\ -d^t & \mu \end{pmatrix},$$

where $c, d \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$. For any v from \mathbb{R}^{2n-1} we have

$$\alpha = \alpha(\varphi, v) = I_{2n-1} + d^t v \nu,$$

$$\beta = \beta(\varphi, v) = I_{2n-1} - \mu v^t c.$$

It can be easily checked that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha v^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix}$$

belong to $E_{2n}(R) \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{\omega}(R)$.

The above lemma emboldened us to set

$$L_{\varphi}(v) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha v^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, R_{\varphi}(v) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix},$$

for $v \in R^{2n-1}$. We say that the subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$ generated by the elements $L_{\varphi}(v), R_{\varphi}(v)$, for $v \in R^{2n-1}$ is the elementary symplectic group $\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$ with respect to the alternating matrix φ .

Let I be an ideal of R. The relative elementary group $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(I)$ is a subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$ generated as a group by the elements $L_{\varphi}(v), R_{\varphi}(v)$, where $v \in I^{2n-1}$.

The relative elementary group $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R,I)$ is the normal closure of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(I)$ in $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R).$

We established dilation principle, Local Global principle, action version of Local Global principle for both $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi\otimes R[X]}(R[X])$ and relative group $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi\otimes R[X]}(R[X],I[X])$. Using action version of Local Global principle we show the following:

Theorem 3(a): (see Theorem 5.11.1)

Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R)/\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R)/\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R),$$

is bijective for $n \geq 2$.

Theorem 3(b): (see Theorem 5.11.2)

Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 such that $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)/\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R,I) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)/\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R,I)$$

is bijective for $n \geq 3$.

We recall the definition of transvections, elementary transvections of a finitely generated R-module, symplectic transvections, elementary symplectic transvections

of symplectic module due to H. Bass and study these subgroups of automorphisms generated by them.

Let M be a finitely generated R-module. Let $q \in M$ and $\pi \in M^* = \text{Hom}(M, R)$, with $\pi(q) = 0$. Let $\pi_q(p) := \pi(p)q$. An automorphism of the form $1 + \pi_q$ is called a **transvection** of M, if either $q \in \text{Um}(M)$ or $\pi \in \text{Um}(M^*)$. Collection of transvections of M is denoted by Trans(M). This forms a subgroup of Aut(M).

Let M be a finitely generated R module. The automorphisms of $N=(R\perp M)$ of the form

$$(a,p) \mapsto (a,p+ax),$$

 $(a,p) \mapsto (a+\tau(p),p),$

where $x \in M$ and $\tau \in M^*$ are called **elementary transvections** of N.

Let I be an ideal of R. The group of **relative transvections** w.r.t. an ideal I is generated by the transvections of the form $1 + \pi_q$, where either $q \in \text{Um}(IM), \pi \in \text{Um}(M^*)$, or $q \in \text{Um}(M), \pi \in \text{Um}(IM^*)$. The group of relative transvections is denoted by Trans(M, IM).

Let I be an ideal of R. The elementary transvections of $N=(R\perp M)$ of the form

$$(a,p) \mapsto (a,p+ax),$$

 $(a,p) \mapsto (a+\tau(p),p),$

where $x \in IM$ and $\tau \in (IM)^*$ are called **relative elementary transvections** w.r.t. an ideal I, and the group generated by them is denoted by $\operatorname{ETrans}(IN)$. The normal closure of $\operatorname{ETrans}(IN)$ in $\operatorname{ETrans}(N)$ is denoted by $\operatorname{ETrans}(N, IN)$.

The group of isometries of (P, \langle, \rangle) is denoted by $\operatorname{Sp}(P, \langle, \rangle)$.

In [7] Bass has defined a **symplectic transvection** of a symplectic module (P, \langle, \rangle) to be an automorphism of the form

$$\sigma(p) = p + \langle u, p \rangle v + \langle v, p \rangle u + \alpha \langle u, p \rangle u,$$

where $\alpha \in R$ and $u, v \in P$ are fixed elements with $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$.

The symplectic transvections of Q of the form

$$(a, b, p) \mapsto (a, b - \langle p, q \rangle + \alpha a, p + aq),$$

 $(a, b, p) \mapsto (a + \langle p, q \rangle - \alpha b, b, p + bq),$

where $a, b \in R$ and $p, q \in P$ are called **elementary symplectic transvections**.

The subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}(P, \langle, \rangle)$ generated by the symplectic transvections is denoted by $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P, \langle, \rangle)$, whereas the subgroup of $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle)$ generated by elementary symplectic transvections is denoted by $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle)$.

The group of relative symplectic transvections w.r.t. an ideal I is generated by the symplectic transvections of the form

$$\sigma(p) = p + \langle u, p \rangle v + \langle v, p \rangle u + \alpha \langle u, p \rangle u,$$

where $\alpha \in I$ and $u \in P$, $v \in IP$ are fixed elements with $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$.

The group generated by relative symplectic transvections, as above, is denoted by $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P, IP, \langle, \rangle)$.

The elementary symplectic transvections of Q of the form

$$(a, b, p) \mapsto (a, b - \langle p, q \rangle + \alpha a, p + aq),$$

 $(a, b, p) \mapsto (a + \langle p, q \rangle - \beta b, b, p + bq),$

where $\alpha, \beta \in I$ and $q \in IP$ are called relative elementary symplectic transvections w.r.t. an ideal I.

The subgroup of $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ generated by relative elementary symplectic transvections is denoted by $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(IQ,\langle,\rangle)$. The relative group $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle)$ is the normal closure of $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(IQ,\langle,\rangle)$ in the group $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$.

For both the groups we establish dilation principle, Local Global principle and action version of Local Global principle in absolute case and relative case.

Using these principles we get the main results of this chapter. They are the following:

Theorem 4(a): (see Theorem 5.10.3)

Let $(P, \langle , \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free R-module of rank $2n, n \geq 1$. Let $\langle u, v \rangle = u\varphi v^t$, where φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Then

$$\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R).$$

Theorem 4(b): (see Theorem 5.10.4)

Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $(P, \langle , \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $\langle u, v \rangle = u\varphi v^t$, where φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 such that $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Then

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R, I).$$

Using dilation principle, Local Global principle and action version of Local Global principle we deduce the **global version** of Theorem 2(a) and Theorem 2(b).

Theorem 5(a): (see Theorem 5.11.3)

Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, with $n \geq 1$ and $v = (a, b, p) \in \text{Um}(Q)$. Then

$$(a, b, p)$$
 ETrans $(Q) = (a, b, p)$ ETrans_{Sp} (Q, \langle, \rangle) .

Theorem 5(b): (see Theorem 5.11.4)

Let R be a commutative ring with R=2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, with $n \geq 2$. Let $v = (a, b, p) \in \text{Um}(Q, IQ)$. Then

$$(a, b, p) \operatorname{ETrans}(Q, IQ) = (a, b, p) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle).$$

Here we also assume that of each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, the alternating form \langle , \rangle corresponds to the alternating matrix $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$, over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$.

Remark: All the theorems appeared in this chapter can also be proved for invertible alternating matrix need not be of Pfaffian 1. The details are left to the reader.

Chapter 6

In this chapter we recall W. van der Kallen's definition of Excision ring in ([15], (3.19)).

The Excision ring $(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)$: If I is an ideal in R, one can construct the ring $\mathbb{Z} \oplus I$

with multiplication defined by $(n \oplus i)(m \oplus j) = (nm \oplus nj + mi + ij)$, for $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $i, j \in I$.

We also recall W. van der Kallen's Excision theorem in the linear case.

Excision Theorem:([15], Theorem 3.21)

Let $n \geq 3$ and let I be an ideal in R. Then the natural maps

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_n(R, I)}{\operatorname{E}_n(R, I)},
\frac{\operatorname{Um}_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)},$$

are bijective.

The goal of this chapter is to establish a symplectic analogue of W. van der Kallen's Excision theorem, which appears next.

Theorem 6: (see Theorem 6.3.2)

Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Then the natural maps

$$\Phi: \frac{\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)},$$

$$\Psi: \frac{\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)},$$

are bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Here, using the above theorem we recapture Theorem 2(b), which says that $vE_{2n}(R, I) = vESp_{2n}(R, I)$, for an ideal I of R, when R = 2R.

We also establish the following Excision theorem for the group of elementary symplectic transvections for a free (projective) module.

Definition: Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let us consider the excision ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$. The standard alternating matrix of size 2n over the ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$ is defined inductively as

$$\widehat{\psi}_n = \widehat{\psi}_{n-1} \perp \widehat{\psi}_1$$

where

$$\widehat{\psi}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} (0,0) & (1,0) \\ (-1,0) & (0,0) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Theorem 7: (see Theorem 6.6.3)

Let R be a commutative ring with R=2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let us consider the excision ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$. Let $((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n-2}, \langle,\rangle_{\varphi^*})$ be a symplectic $(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ -module, where φ^* be an alternating matrix over the ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$ and $\varphi^* \equiv \widehat{\psi_{n-1}} \pmod{0 \oplus I}$. Then the natural maps

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}})} \xrightarrow{\eta} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R^{2n}, I^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}})}, \\
\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}})} \xrightarrow{\delta} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}})},$$

are bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Chapter 7

Here we recall the definition of stable general linear group, stable special linear group, stable range and stable dimension.

H. Bass, J. Milnor, J-P. Serre began the study of the stabilization for the linear group $GL_n(R)/E_n(R)$, for $n \geq 3$. In ([6], Corollary 11.3), they showed that:

Suppose that the maximal spectrum of a commutative ring R is a Noetherian space of dimension $\leq d$. Then the map

$$\frac{\operatorname{GL}_n(R)}{\operatorname{E}_n(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{GL}_{n+1}(R)}{\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism of groups for all $n \ge d + 3$.

In ([4], §11) Bass conjectured the following:

Conjecture due to Bass:

Let R be a commutative ring with 1 and Jacobson-Krull dimension of R is d. Then the map

$$\frac{\mathrm{GL}_n(R)}{\mathrm{E}_n(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathrm{GL}_{n+1}(R)}{\mathrm{E}_{n+1}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism for $n \ge d + 2$.

In [34], L.N. Vaserstein proved the above conjecture.

After this in ([26]), R.A. Rao and W. van der Kallen began the study of whether the stabilization bound above improves for special rings; and they could show (see [26], Theorem 1)

Let A be a non-singular affine algebra of Krull dimension $d \geq 2$ over a perfect C_1 -field. Let $\sigma \in \mathrm{SL}_{d+1}(A)$ and $(1 \perp \sigma) \in \mathrm{E}_{d+2}(A)$. Then σ is homotopic to identity, i.e, there exists a $\rho(X) \in \mathrm{SL}_{d+1}(A[X])$ such that $\rho(1) = \sigma$ and $\rho(0) = Id$.

Then, as a consequence they showed that

If A is a non-singular affine algebra of Krull dimension $d \geq 2$ over a perfect C_1 -field, then the natural map

$$\frac{\operatorname{SL}_n(A)}{\operatorname{E}_n(A)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{SL}_{n+1}(A)}{\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(A)}$$

is injective for $n \geq d + 1$.

L.N. Vaserstein in [35] considered the symplectic, orthogonal and the unitary K_1 -functors, and obtained stabilization theorems for them. In ([35], Theorem 3.3) he showed that:

The natural map

$$\varphi_{n,n+1}: \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n+2}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism for $2n \geq 2d+4$. Here d is the stable dimension of R. \square

R. Basu and R.A. Rao showed, in ([9], Theorem 1), the following:

Let R be a non-singular affine algebra over a perfect C_1 -field of odd Krull dimension $d \geq 2$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)$. Then σ is homotopic to identity, i.e, there exists $\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R[X])$ such that $\rho(1) = \sigma$ and $\rho(0) = Id$. \square

And as a consequence they showed (see [9], Theorem 2)

If R is a non-singular affine algebra over a perfect C_1 -field of odd Krull dimension $d \geq 2$, then the natural map

$$\varphi_{n,n+1}: \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n+2}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism for $2n \ge d + 1$.

Using Theorem 2(b) we can reprove this result. Moreover we show the following:

Theorem 8: (see Theorem 7.1.15)

Let R be a finitely generated algebra of even Krull dimension $d \geq 4$ over K, where $K = \mathbb{Z}$ or F or \overline{F} and $\operatorname{char}(K) \neq 2$. (Here F is a finite field and \overline{F} is its algebraic closure.) Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R)$. Then σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to the identity. In fact, $\sigma = \rho(1)$, and $\rho(0) = \operatorname{Id}$, for some

$$\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R[X]) \cap \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R[X]).$$

As a consequence of the above result we show that:

Theorem 9: (see Corollary 7.1.16)

Let R be a finitely generated non-singular algebra of even Krull dimension $d \geq 4$ over K, where K is either a finite field or the algebraic closure of a finite field and $\operatorname{char}(K) \neq 2$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R)$. Then σ belongs to $\operatorname{ESp}_d(R)$. In particular,

$$\frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n+2}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)}$$

is injective for $2n \geq d$.

We also show the following:

Theorem 10: (see Theorem 7.2.7)

Let R be a commutative ring of dimension d. Let us assume R=2R. Let $(P\langle,\rangle)$ be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of even rank $\geq \max\{2, d-3\}$. Let $Q=(R^2 \perp P)$, and $\widehat{Q}=(R^2 \perp Q)$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$, and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}),\langle,\rangle)$. Then σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to the identity. In fact, $\sigma=\rho(1)$, and $\rho(0)=Id$, for some

$$\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle) \cap \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

Here we assume that over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where \mathfrak{m} is a maximal ideal of R, the alternating form \langle,\rangle corresponds to the alternating matrix $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$.

The next theorem is a consequence of the above theorem. This gives an improvement for Basu-Rao (see Theorem 7.1.8) estimate in the module case over finitely

generated rings.

Theorem 11: (see Corollary 7.2.9)

Let R be a finitely generated non-singular algebra of dimension d over K, where K is either a finite field or the algebraic closure of a finite field. Let us assume R=2R. Let $(P.\langle,\rangle)$ be a symplectic R-module with P a finitely generated projective module of even rank $\geq \max\{2, d-3\}$. Let $Q=(R^2 \perp P)$, and $\widehat{Q}=(R^2 \perp Q)$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q},\langle,\rangle)$. Then σ belongs to $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$.

Here we assume that over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where \mathfrak{m} is a maximal ideal of R, the alternating form \langle , \rangle corresponds to the alternating matrix $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter we will recall a few definitions, fix some notations, state few known results as well as state some preliminary results with their proofs, which will be used throughout this thesis.

2.1 Definitions and Notations

Definition 2.1.1 An R-module M is said to be **finitely presented** if there is an exact sequence

$$R^m \longrightarrow R^n \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0.$$

for suitable natural numbers n, m.

Definition 2.1.2 An R[X]-module M will be called **extended** from R if it is isomorphic to $R[X] \otimes_R N$ for some R-module N.

Definition 2.1.3 A row $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is said to be **unimodular** (of length n) if there is a row vector $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n)$ from \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$\langle v, w \rangle = v \cdot w^t = v_1 w_1 + \dots + v_n w_n = 1.$$

 $\operatorname{Um}_n(R)$ will denote the set of all unimodular rows $v \in R^n$.

Definition 2.1.4 Let I be an ideal of R. A row is said to be **relative unimodular** w.r.t. I if it is unimodular and congruent to $e_1 = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ modulo I.

 $\operatorname{Um}_n(R,I)$ will denote the set of all relative unimodular rows w.r.t. I of length n. If I=R, then $\operatorname{Um}_n(R,I)$ is $\operatorname{Um}_n(R)$.

Definition 2.1.5 Let P be a finitely generated projective R-module of rank n. An element v in P is said to be **unimodular** if for any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, we have $v_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}})$. The collection of unimodular elements of P is denoted by $\mathrm{Um}(P)$. Note that $\mathrm{Um}(P,IP)$ denotes the collection of elements from $\mathrm{Um}(P)$ such that $v_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}},I_{\mathfrak{m}})$. The set $\mathrm{Um}(P,IP)$ is the collection of all **relative unimodular** elements w.r.t. an ideal I of R.

Definition 2.1.6 The set of all $n \times n$ invertible matrices, whose entries come from a ring R, is a group under matrix multiplication. This group is called **General Linear** group of size n. (This group is denoted by $GL_n(R)$.)

Notation 2.1.7 The group $GL_n(R)$ of invertible matrices acts on R^n in a natural way: $v \longrightarrow v\sigma$, if $v \in R^n$, $\sigma \in GL_n(R)$. This map preserves $Um_n(R)$ (see Lemma 2.2.2). So $GL_n(R)$ acts on $Um_n(R)$. Note that any subgroup G of $GL_n(R)$ also acts on $Um_n(R)$. Let $v, w \in Um_n(R)$, we denote $v \sim_G w$ or $v \in wG$, if there is a $g \in G$ such that v = wg.

Definition 2.1.8 Let R be a commutative ring with 1. The set of all $n \times n$ invertible matrices, with determinant 1 is a group which is called **Special Linear** group. (This is a subgroup of $GL_n(R)$ and denoted by $SL_n(R)$.)

Definition 2.1.9 Let $E_n(R)$ denote the subgroup of $SL_n(R)$ consisting of all *elementary* matrices, i.e. those matrices which are a finite product of the *(standard)* elementary generators

$$E_{ij}(\lambda) = I_n + e_{ij}(\lambda), \ 1 \le i \ne j \le n, \ \lambda \in R,$$

where $e_{ij}(\lambda) \in M_n(R)$ has at most one non-zero entry λ in its (i, j)-th position. The group $E_n(R)$ is called **Elementary Group**.

In the thesis, if α denotes an $m \times n$ matrix, then we let α^t denote its transpose matrix. This is of course an $n \times m$ matrix. However, we will mostly be working with square matrices, or rows and columns. Also in the sequel $GL_n(R, I)$ denotes the kernel of the map $GL_n(R) \longrightarrow GL_n(R/I)$ and $SL_n(R, I)$ denotes the kernel of the map $SL_n(R) \longrightarrow SL_n(R/I)$.

Definition 2.1.10 Let I be an ideal of R. The **relative elementary group** $E_n(I)$ is the subgroup of $E_n(R)$ generated as a group by the elements $E_{ij}(x)$, $x \in I$, $1 \le i \ne j \le n$. The **relative elementary group** $E_n(R, I)$ is the normal closure of $E_n(I)$ in $E_n(R)$.

(Equivalently, $E_n(R, I)$ denotes the smallest normal subgroup of $E_n(R)$ containing the element $E_{21}(x)$, where $x \in I$. Also $E_n(R, I)$ is generated as a group by the elements $E_{ij}(a)E_{ji}(x)E_{ij}(-a)$, with $a \in R$, $x \in I$, and $1 \le i \ne j \le n$, provided $n \ge 3$ (see Lemma 2.2.29).)

Definition 2.1.11 $\mathbf{E}_n^1(R,I)$ is the subgroup of $\mathbf{E}_n(R)$ generated by the elements $E_{1i}(a)$, where $a \in R$, and $E_{i1}(x)$, where $x \in I$, $2 \le i \le n$.

Definition 2.1.12 Symplectic Group Sp_{2n}(R): The group of all invertible $2n \times 2n$ matrices

$$\{\alpha \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(R) \mid \alpha^t \psi_n \alpha = \psi_n\},\$$

where ψ_n is the alternating matrix $\sum_{i=1}^n e_{2i-1,2i} - \sum_{i=1}^n e_{2i,2i-1}$ (corresponding to the standard symplectic form). By $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R,I)$ we denote the kernel of the map $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R/I)$.

Notation 2.1.13 Let σ denote the permutation of the natural numbers given by $\sigma(2i) = 2i - 1$ and $\sigma(2i - 1) = 2i$.

Definition 2.1.14 We define, for $1 \le i \ne j \le 2n$, $z \in R$,

$$se_{ij}(z) = \begin{cases} 1_{2n} + e_{ij}(z) & \text{if } i = \sigma(j), \\ 1_{2n} + e_{ij}(z) - (-1)^{i+j} e_{\sigma(j)\sigma(i)}(z) & \text{if } i \neq \sigma(j) \text{ and } i < j. \end{cases}$$

It is easy to check that all these generators belong to $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)$. We call them the *(standard) elementary symplectic* matrices over R and the subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)$ generated by them is called the **Elementary Symplectic group** $\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R)$.

Definition 2.1.15 Let I be an ideal of R. The **relative elementary group** $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I)$ is a subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ generated as a group by the elements $se_{ij}(x)$, $x \in I$ and $1 \leq i \neq j \leq 2n$.

The **relative elementary group** $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ is the normal closure of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I)$ in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$.

(Equivalently, $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$ is the smallest normal subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ containing the element $se_{21}(x)$, where $x \in I$. Also $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$ is generated as a group by the elements $se_{ij}(a)se_{ji}(x)se_{ij}(-a)$, with $a \in R$, $x \in I$, $1 \le i \ne j \le 2n$, provided $n \ge 3$ (see Lemma 2.2.29).)

Definition 2.1.16 $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I)$ is the subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ generated by the elements $se_{1i}(a)$, where $a \in R$, and $se_{i1}(x)$, where $x \in I$, $2 \le i \le 2n$.

Definition 2.1.17 Orthogonal Group O_{2n}(R): The group of all invertible $2n \times 2n$ matrices

$$\{\alpha \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(R) \mid \alpha^t \widetilde{\psi_n} \alpha = \widetilde{\psi_n} \},$$

where $\widetilde{\psi_n}$ is the symmetric matrix $\sum_{i=1}^n e_{2i-1,2i} + \sum_{i=1}^n e_{2i,2i-1}$ (corresponding to the standard hyperbolic form). By $O_{2n}(R,I)$ we denote the kernel of the map $O_{2n}(R) \longrightarrow O_{2n}(R/I)$.

Definition 2.1.18 We define for $1 \le i \ne j \le 2n$, $z \in R$,

$$oe_{ij}(z) = 1_{2n} + e_{ij}(z) - e_{\sigma(i)\sigma(i)}(z)$$
, if $i \neq \sigma(j)$, and $i < j$.

It is easy to check that all these matrices belong to $O_{2n}(R)$. We call them the *(standard) elementary orthogonal* matrices over R and the subgroup of $O_{2n}(R)$ generated by them is called the **Elementary Orthogonal group** $EO_{2n}(R)$.

Definition 2.1.19 Let I be an ideal of R. The **relative elementary group** $EO_{2n}(I)$ is a subgroup of $EO_{2n}(R)$ generated as a group by the elements $oe_{ij}(x)$, $x \in I$ and $1 \le i \ne j \le 2n$. The **relative elementary group** $EO_{2n}(R,I)$ is the normal closure of $EO_{2n}(I)$ in $EO_{2n}(R)$. (Equivalently, $EO_{2n}(R,I)$ is generated as a group by $oe_{ij}(a)oe_{ji}(x)oe_{ij}(-a)$, with $a \in R$, $x \in I$, $i \ne j$, provided $n \ge 3$.)

Definition 2.1.20 $EO_{2n}^1(R, I)$ is the subgroup of $EO_{2n}(R)$ generated by the elements $oe_{1i}(a)$, where $a \in R$, and $oe_{i1}(x)$, where $x \in I$, $3 \le i \le 2n$.

Notation 2.1.21 We fix some notations.

- M(n, R) will denote the set of all $n \times n$ matrices.
- G(n, R) will denote either the linear group $GL_n(R)$, the symplectic group $Sp_{2m}(R)$, or the orthogonal group $O_{2m}(R)$, for n = 2m.

- Now onwards, E(n, R) will denote either of the elementary subgroups $E_n(R)$, $ESp_{2m}(R)$ or $EO_{2m}(R)$. The standard elementary generators of E(n, R) are denoted by $ge_{ij}(a)$, $a \in R$.
- Let I be an ideal in R. Let G(n, R, I) denote the relative linear groups $GL_n(R, I)$, $SL_n(R, I)$, the relative symplectic group $Sp_{2m}(R, I)$, or the relative orthogonal group $O_{2m}(R, I)$.
- E(n, I) is a subgroup of E(n, R) generated as a group by the elements $ge_{ij}(x)$, where $x \in I$, and $1 \le i \ne j \le n$.
- E(n, R, I) denotes the corresponding relative elementary subgroups $E_n(R, I)$, $ESp_{2m}(R, I)$, $EO_{2m}(R, I)$, respectively. These are the normal closures of the subgroups E(n, I) in E(n, R), which are also known to be generated by the elements $ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a)$, $a \in R, x \in I$, and $1 \le i \ne j \le n$ (see Lemma 2.2.29).
- $E^1(n, R, I)$ is a subgroup of E(n, R), generated by the elements $ge_{1i}(a)$, where $a \in R$ and $ge_{i1}(x)$, where $x \in I$, $2 \le i \le n$ in the linear and symplectic case, and $3 \le i \le n$ in the orthogonal case.
- In the symplectic case we set $\widetilde{v} = v\psi_m$, where ψ_m is the standard symplectic form, and in the orthogonal case we set $\widetilde{v} = v\widetilde{\psi}_m$, where $\widetilde{\psi}_m$ is the standard hyperbolic form.
 - Let $\alpha \in G(n,R)$ and $\beta \in G(m,R)$, then by $\alpha \perp \beta$ we denote the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \in G(n+m, R).$$

• Let a, b be two elements of M(n, R). The symbol [a, b] represents the element $aba^{-1}b^{-1}$ and known as commutator of the elements a and b. Also we fix a notation $ab = aba^{-1}$.

In this thesis we shall have the

Blanket Assumption:

1. $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and n = 2m with $m \geq 3$ in the symplectic case and in the orthogonal case.

Here we state few commutator identities for the standard elementary generators of E(n, R).

• For $E_n(R)$, when $n \geq 3$:

$$[E_{ij}(a), E_{jk}(b)] = E_{ik}(ab) \text{ if } i \neq k,$$

$$[E_{ij}(a), E_{kl}(b)] = id \text{ if } i \neq l, \text{ and } j \neq k.$$

• For $\mathrm{ESp}_{2m}(R)$, for $m \geq 3$:

$$[se_{ik}(a), se_{kj}(b)] = se_{ij}(ab) \quad \text{if } i \neq j, \sigma(j),$$

$$[se_{ik}(a), se_{k\sigma(i)}(b)] = se_{i\sigma(i)}(2ab),$$

$$[se_{1j}(a), se_{1l}(b)] = id \quad \text{if } l \neq \sigma(j),$$

$$[se_{1j}(a), se_{1l}(b)] = se_{12}((-1)^{j+1}2ab) \quad \text{if } l = \sigma(j), j \neq 2,$$

$$[se_{i1}(a), se_{k1}(b)] = id \quad \text{if } k \neq \sigma(i),$$

$$[se_{i1}(a), se_{k1}(b)] = se_{21}((-1)^{i}2ab) \quad \text{if } k = \sigma(i), i \neq 2.$$

Definition 2.1.22 A matrix from $M_n(R)$ is said to be **alternating** if it has the form $\nu - \nu^t$, where $\nu \in M_n(R)$. It follows that its diagonal elements are zeros.

2.2 Preliminary Results

The most useful property of the standard elementary generators of the classical linear, symplectic and orthogonal groups is the following **linear property**:

Lemma 2.2.1 For all
$$a, b \in R$$
, $ge_{ij}(a + b) = ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ij}(b)$.

Proof: Follows by an easy verification.

Lemma 2.2.2 The natural action of $GL_n(R)$ on R^n preserves $Um_n(R)$.

Proof: Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R)$ and let $g \in \mathrm{GL}_n(R)$. We need to show vg is in $\mathrm{Um}_n(R)$. Let $w \in R^n$ be such that $\langle v, w \rangle = 1$. Therefore $\langle vg, w(g^{-1})^t \rangle = 1$ and hence $vg \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.3 Let α be in E(n, R). Then there exists $\alpha(X) \in E(n, R[X])$ such that $\alpha(1) = \alpha$, and $\alpha(0) = Id$.

Proof: Let $\alpha = \prod_{k=1}^r ge_{i_k j_k}(a_k)$, where $a_k \in R$. Let us define

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} g e_{i_k j_k}(a_k X).$$

Clearly $\alpha(X) \in E(n, R[X])$. Note that $\alpha(1) = \alpha$, and $\alpha(0) = Id$.

Lemma 2.2.4 Let M be an R-module and let $\alpha(X), \beta(X) \in \operatorname{Aut}(M[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$, $\beta(0) = Id$. Let α be a non-nilpotent element in R. Let $\alpha(X)_{\alpha} = \beta(X)_{\alpha}$ in $\operatorname{Aut}(M_{\alpha}[X])$. Then $\alpha(\alpha^{N}X) = \beta(\alpha^{N}X)$ in $\operatorname{Aut}(M[X])$, for $N \gg 0$.

Proof: Using $\alpha(0) - \beta(0) = 0$, we get $\alpha(X) - \beta(X) = X\gamma(X)$, for some $\gamma(X) \in \text{Aut}(M[X])$. Also $\alpha(X)_a - \beta(X)_a = 0$ in $\text{Aut}(M_a[X])$, i.e, $(\alpha(X) - \beta(X))_a = 0$, i.e, $(X\gamma(X))_a = 0$. Hence $a^N(X\gamma(X)) = 0$, in Aut(M[X]), for some $N \gg 0$. Therefore

$$\alpha(a^N X) - \beta(a^N X) = a^N X \gamma(a^N X) = 0,$$

in $\operatorname{Aut}(M[X])$, for $N \gg 0$.

Lemma 2.2.5 ([31], Lemma 1.3): Let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \operatorname{Um}_n(R)$ and let $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in R^n$ be such that $\sum_{i=1}^n v_i u_i = 1$. Let $\varphi \colon R^n \to R$ be the map sending $e_i \mapsto v_i$ where e_1, \ldots, e_n is the natural basis for R^n . Then, for $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) \in \ker(\varphi)$, $w = \sum_{i < j} a_{ij} (v_j e_i - v_i e_j)$, $a_{ij} \in R$.

See ([14], Page 18, Lemma 4.6) or ([20], Proposition 5.1.1) for an alternative proof. \Box

Lemma 2.2.6 ([31], Corollary 1.2): Let $n \geq 3$ and I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in R^n$ and $w \in I^n$ be such that $\langle w, v \rangle = 0$. If $w_i = 0$, for some $1 \leq i \leq n$, then $I_n + v^T w \in E_n(R, I)$.

Lemma 2.2.7 (Suslin): (see [20], Corollary 5.1.3) Let $n \geq 3$. Let $v, w \in R^n$ be such that $v \in \text{Um}_n(R)$ and $\langle w, v \rangle = 0$. Then $I_n + v^T w \in E_n(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.8 Let $n \geq 3$ and I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R)$ and $w \in I^n$ such that $\langle w, v \rangle = 0$. Then $I_n + v^t w \in \mathrm{E}_n(R, I)$.

Proof: Let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be such that $\sum v_i u_i = 1$. Using Lemma 2.2.5 we get

$$w = \sum w_{i}e_{i} = \sum_{i \neq j} v_{j}(w_{i}u_{j} - w_{j}u_{i})e_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i < j} (w_{i}u_{j} - w_{j}u_{i})(v_{j}e_{i} - v_{i}e_{j})$$

$$= \sum_{i < j} a_{ij}(v_{j}e_{i} - v_{i}e_{j}),$$

where $a_{ij} \in I$. Now

$$I_{n} + v^{t}w = I_{n} + \sum_{i < j} a_{ij}v^{t}(v_{j}e_{i} - v_{i}e_{j})$$
$$= \prod_{i < j} (I_{n} + a_{ij}v^{t}(v_{j}e_{i} - v_{i}e_{j})).$$

Each term appeared in the above product is in $E_n(R, I)$ (see Lemma 2.2.6). Hence we established the claim.

Lemma 2.2.9 ([36], Lemma 8) Let R be an associative ring with identity and let I be a two sided ideal in R. Then $E_n(R, I) = [E_n(R), E_n(I)]$, for $n \geq 3$.

Corollary 2.2.10 ([31], Corollary 1.4) For $n \geq 3$, $E_n(R, I)$ is a normal subgroup of $GL_n(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.11 ([29], Lemma 2.7(a)) Let R be an associative ring with 1. Then $E_n(R)$ is generated by the matrices of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I \end{pmatrix}$,

where $v \in R^{2n-1}$.

Remark 2.2.12 Note that if $v = (v_1, ..., v_{2n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} E_{1i}(v_{i-1}),$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} E_{i1}(v_{i-1}),$$

and hence $E_n(R)$ is generated by the elements of the form $E_{1i}(a), E_{i1}(b)$, where $a, b \in R$, and $2 \le i \le n$.

Lemma 2.2.13 ([29], Lemma 2.7(b)) Let R be an associative ring with I, I be an ideal of R, and $n \geq 3$ be a natural number. Then $E_n(R, I^2) \subseteq E_n(I)$, where I^2 is a two sided ideal of R consisting of sums of elements of the form ab where $a, b \in I$.

Proof: Let $\beta = E_{ij}(z) \in E_n(I^2)$ and $\alpha = E_{kl}(z') \in E_n(R)$. We need to show $\alpha\beta\alpha^{-1} \in E_n(I)$. If $(i,j) \neq (l,k)$, then the matrix $\alpha\beta\alpha^{-1}$ splits in to product of elementary matrices from $E_n(I)$. If (i,j) = (l,k), we choose $r \leq n$ different from i,j and write $z = a_1b_1 + \cdots + a_sb_s$. Now we can write

$$\beta = E_{ij}(z) = \prod_{t=1}^{s} [E_{ir}(a_t), E_{rj}(b_t)],$$

and

$$\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} = \prod_{t=1}^{r} [\alpha E_{ir}(a_t) \alpha^{-1}, \alpha E_{tj}(b_t) \alpha^{-1}] \in E_n(I).$$

Hence the lemma is proved.

Lemma 2.2.14 ([21], Lemma 2.5) (Whitehead's Lemma):

$$\begin{pmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & u^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in E_2(R),$$

whenever u is a unit in R. Moreover

$$\begin{pmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & u^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{E}_2(R, I),$$

whenever u is unit in R and $u \equiv 1 \pmod{I}$.

Proof: To prove this lemma we need to consider the following equation:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & u^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = E_{21}(u^{-1} - 1)E_{12}(1)E_{21}(u - 1)E_{12}(-1)E_{12}(1 - u^{-1}),$$

and hence the proof follows.

Lemma 2.2.15 Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring. Then for any $v \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R)$, $v \in e_1 \mathrm{E}_n(R)$.

Proof. Let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R)$. Since R is a local ring this forces one of the v_i to be unit in R. Therefore there exists $E \in \mathrm{E}_n(R)$ such that $vE = (0, \ldots, 0, v_i, 0, \ldots, 0)$. Note that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in E_2(R),$$

and hence there exists $E' \in E_n(R)$ such that $vEE' = (v_i, 0, \dots, 0)$. Now

$$vEE'\begin{pmatrix} v_i^{-1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & v_i & 0\\ 0 & 0 & I_{n-2} \end{pmatrix} = (1, 0, \dots, 0),$$

and hence using Lemma 2.2.14 we get, $v \in e_1 E_n(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.16 Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring. Then for any $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R)$, $v \in e_1\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$.

Proof: Let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R)$. Since R is a local ring this forces one of the v_i to be unit in R. Therefore there exists $E \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ such that $vE = (0, \ldots, 0, v_i, 0, \ldots, 0)$. Namely we choose

$$E = se_{i1}(-v_1v_i^{-1})\dots se_{i2n}(-v_1v_{2n}^{-1})se_{i\sigma(i)}(*),$$

for a suitable element $* \in R$. Note that

$$(0,\ldots,0,v_i,0,\ldots,0)se_{i1}(1)se_{1i}(-1) = (v_i,0,\ldots,0).$$

Now

$$vE\ se_{i1}(1)se_{1i}(-1)\begin{pmatrix} v_i^{-1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & v_i & 0\\ 0 & 0 & I_{n-2} \end{pmatrix} = (1,0,\ldots,0),$$

and hence using Lemma 2.2.14 we get, $v \in e_1 \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.17 Let I be an ideal in R. Let $v = (1 + x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{2n}) \in \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)$. Let $1 + x_1$ be a unit in R. Then there exists

$$g \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I) (\subseteq \operatorname{E}_{2n}(R, I))$$

such that $v = e_1 g$.

Proof: Since $1 + x_1 = u$ is a unit in the ring R, it is easy to show as in the proof of Lemma 2.2.16 that there exists $g^* \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$ such that $vg^* = (u, 0, \dots, 0)$. We have

$$(u,0,\ldots,0) = e_1 \begin{pmatrix} u & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & u^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix} \in e_1 \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I),$$

by Lemma 2.2.14. Let us take

$$g = E_{21}(u^{-1} - 1)E_{12}(1)E_{21}(u - 1)E_{12}(-1)E_{12}(1 - u^{-1})(g^*)^{-1}.$$

Clearly
$$g \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$$
 and $v = e_1 g$.

Corollary 2.2.18 Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring and I be a ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R,I)$, then $v \in e_1\mathrm{E}_n(R,I)$.

Corollary 2.2.19 Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring and I be a ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$, then $v \in e_1\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$.

Lemma 2.2.20 Let I be an ideal of R and let $\varepsilon \in E(n, R/I^k, I/I^k)$, for some positive integer k > 1. Then there exists $\varepsilon_0 \in E(n, R, I)$ (depending on k) such that $\overline{\varepsilon_0} = \varepsilon$. Here 'bar' means reduction modulo I^k .

Proof: Let $\varepsilon = \prod_{k=1}^r ge_{i_kj_k}(\overline{a_k})ge_{j_ki_k}(\overline{x_k})ge_{i_kj_k}(-\overline{a_k})$, where $a_k \in R$ and $x_k \in I$, for $1 \leq k \leq r$ (see Lemma 2.2.29). Let us set

$$\varepsilon_0 = \prod_{k=1}^r g e_{i_k j_k}(a_k) g e_{j_k i_k}(x_k) g e_{i_k j_k}(-a_k) \in \mathcal{E}(n, R, I).$$

Clearly
$$\overline{\varepsilon_0} = \varepsilon$$
.

Lemma 2.2.21 Let I be an ideal of R and $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$. Then there exists $\varepsilon_k \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ such that $v\varepsilon_k \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I^k)$, for any positive integer k.

Proof: Let $v = (1 + i_1, i_2, ..., i_{2n})$ and let

$$\overline{v} = (\overline{1} + \overline{i}_1, \overline{i}_2, \dots, \overline{i}_{2n}) \in \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R/I^k, I/I^k).$$

Here 'bar' means reduction modulo I^k . As \overline{i}_1 is nilpotent in R/I^k , $\overline{1}+\overline{i}_1$ is a unit in R/I^k . By Lemma 2.2.17, there exists $\varepsilon \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R/I^k,I/I^k)$ such that $\overline{v}\varepsilon = (\overline{1},\overline{0},\ldots,\overline{0})$ in $(R/I^k)^{2n}$. Using Lemma 2.2.20 we get a $\varepsilon_k \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ such that $\overline{\varepsilon_k} = \varepsilon$ and $\overline{v}\varepsilon_k = (\overline{1},\overline{0},\ldots,\overline{0})$ in $(R/I^k)^{2n}$. So $v\varepsilon_k = (1+x_1,x_2,\ldots,x_{2n})$, where $x_1,\ldots,x_{2n}\in I^k$.

Lemma 2.2.22 ([16], Lemma 1.5) Let $n \geq 2$, and I be an ideal of R. Let $a \in I, v \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, or $a \in R, v \in I^{2n}$. Then $I_{2n} + av^t\widetilde{v} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$.

Lemma 2.2.23 ([16], Lemma 1.10) Let $n \geq 2$, and I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in I^{2n}$, and $w \in \text{Um}_{2n}(R)$ be such that $\widetilde{v}w^t = 0$. Then $I_{2n} + v^t\widetilde{w} + w^t\widetilde{v} \in \text{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$.

Lemma 2.2.24 ([16], Lemma 1.11) When $n \geq 2$, $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(R)$.

The following Lemma is proved in a similar way as Lemma 2.2.13. We include the proof for completeness.

Lemma 2.2.25 Let I be an ideal of R. Assume that R = 2R. Then $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I^2)$ is a subset of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I)$, for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: Let $z^* = \sum a_t b_t$ with $a_t, b_t \in I$. Let $\beta = se_{ij}(z^*) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I^2)$ and $\alpha = se_{kl}(z) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$, for some $z \in R$. It suffices to show that $\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I)$. If $(i, j) \neq (l, k)$ and $(i, j) \neq (\sigma(k), \sigma(l))$, then the matrix $\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1}$ splits into a product of elementary matrices from $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I)$.

When (i, j) = (l, k) or $(i, j) = (\sigma(k), \sigma(l))$ we need to consider the following two cases:

Case (1): In this case $i \neq \sigma(j)$. We can choose $r \leq 2n$ different from $i, j, \sigma(i), \sigma(j)$. Now,

$$\beta = se_{ij}(z^*) = \prod_t [se_{ir}(a_t), se_{rj}(b_t)]$$

and hence

$$\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} = \prod_{t} [\alpha s e_{ir}(a_t) \alpha^{-1}, \alpha s e_{rj}(b_t) \alpha^{-1}] \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(I).$$

Case (2): In this case $i = \sigma(j)$. We can choose $r \leq 2n$ different from i and $\sigma(i)$. We have

$$\beta = se_{i\sigma(i)}(z^*) = \prod_t [se_{ir}(a_t/2), se_{r\sigma(i)}(b_t)],$$

and hence

$$\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} = \prod_{t} [\alpha s e_{ir}(a_t/2)\alpha^{-1}, \alpha s e_{r\sigma(i)}(b_t)\alpha^{-1}] \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(I).$$

Therefore the claim is established.

Remark 2.2.26 The calculation in Case 1 in the above proof says that we need to choose an integer r, which is different from $i, j, \sigma(i), \sigma(j)$, and hence these matrices should have size at least 5. But these matrices are of even size. Therefore we need to assume $n \geq 3$, where 2n is the size of the group $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.27 Let $\alpha(X) \in E(n, R[X])$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then,

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k \ ge_{i_k j_k}(Xh_k(X)) \ \gamma_k^{-1},$$

where $\gamma_k \in E(n,R)$.

Proof: Let $\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^r ge_{i_k j_k}(f_k(X))$, where $f_k(X) = f_k(0) + Xh_k(X)$, for some $h_k(X) \in R[X]$. Therefore we have

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} g e_{i_k j_k}(f_k(0)) g e_{i_k j_k}(X h_k(X))$$
$$= \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k g e_{i_k j_k}(X h_k(X)) \gamma_k^{-1},$$

where $\gamma_l = \prod_{k=1}^l g e_{i_k j_k}(f_l(0))$.

Lemma 2.2.28 ([8], Corollary 3.9): If $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \dots \varepsilon_r$, where each ε_j is a (standard) elementary generator, then

$$\varepsilon g e_{pq}(X^{2^r m} Y) \varepsilon^{-1} = \prod_{t=1}^k g e_{p_t q_t}(X^m h_t(X, Y)),$$

for
$$h_t(X,Y) \in R[X,Y]$$
.

Following lemma is due to L.N. Vaserstein. However our proof imitates W. van der Kallen's proof in the linear case (see [15], Lemma 2.2).

Lemma 2.2.29 ([29], §2): Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let E(n, R, I) be the smallest normal subgroup of E(n, R) containing the elements $ge_{21}(x), x \in I$. Then E(n, R, I) is generated by the elements $ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a)$, where $a \in R, x \in I$, and $1 \leq i \neq j \leq n$.

Proof: Let G_1 denote the smallest normal subgroup of E(n, R) containing the elements $ge_{21}(x)$, with $x \in I$ and G_2 denote the subgroup which is generated by the elements $ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a)$, with $a \in R, x \in I$, and $1 \le i \ne j \le n$. Let us set the following notation:

$$S_{ij} = \{ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a) : a \in R, x \in I, 1 \le i \ne j \le n\}.$$

Note that $G_2 = \langle S_{ij} : i \neq j \rangle$, subgroup of E(n, R) generated by all possible $S_{ij}, i \neq j$. Clearly $S_{12} \subseteq G_1$. Let us consider an element from $S_{1j}, j \neq 1, 2$, of the

form $ge_{1j}(a)ge_{j1}(x)ge_{1j}(-a)$. Now

$$ge_{1j}(a)ge_{j1}(x)ge_{1j}(-a) = {}^{ge_{1j}(a)}[ge_{j2}(1), ge_{21}(x)]$$

$$= [{}^{ge_{1j}(a)}ge_{j2}(1), {}^{ge_{1j}(a)}ge_{21}(x)]$$

$$= [\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$$

$$= \alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_1^{-1}\alpha_2^{-1},$$

where $\alpha_1 = ge_{1j}(a)$ $ge_{j2}(1)$ and $\alpha_2 = ge_{1j}(a)$ $ge_{21}(x)$. Clearly $\alpha_2 \in G_1$, and hence $\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_1^{-1} \in G_1$, as G_1 is a normal subgroup of E(n,R). Therefore $S_{1j} \subseteq G_1$, for $2 < j \le n$.

Let us now consider an element $ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{j}(-a) \in S_{ij}$, and $i, j \neq 1$. Note that

$$ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{j}(-a) = {}^{ge_{ij}(a)}[ge_{j1}(*), ge_{1i}(1)]$$

$$= [{}^{ge_{ij}(a)}ge_{j1}(*), {}^{ge_{ij}(a)}ge_{1i}(1)]$$

$$= [\beta_{1}, \beta_{2}] = \beta_{1}\beta_{2}\beta_{1}^{-1}\beta_{2}^{-1},$$

where * is an element of the ideal I, $\beta_1 = ge_{ij}(a)$ $ge_{j1}(*)$ and $\beta_2 = ge_{ij}(a)$ $ge_{1i}(1)$. Clearly $\beta_1 \in G_1$ and hence $\beta_2 \beta_1^{-1} \beta_2^{-1} \in G_1$, as G_1 is a normal subgroup of E(n, R). Therefore $S_{ij} \subseteq G_1$, for $i, j \neq 1$.

Here we consider an element of the form $ge_{i1}(a)ge_{i1}(x)ge_{i1}(-a)$ from S_{i1} for $i \geq 2$. Now

$$ge_{i1}(a)ge_{1i}(x)ge_{i1}(-a) = {}^{ge_{i1}(a)}[ge_{1j}(1), ge_{ji}(*)]$$

$$= [{}^{ge_{i1}(a)}ge_{1j}(1), {}^{ge_{i1}(a)}ge_{ji}(*)]$$

$$= [\gamma_1, \gamma_2]$$

$$= \gamma_1 \gamma_2 \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1},$$

where * is an element of the ideal I, $\gamma_1 = ge_{i1}(a)$ $ge_{1j}(1)$ and $\gamma_2 = ge_{i1}(a)$ $ge_{ji}(*)$. Note that $\gamma_2 \in G_1$ and hence $\gamma_1 \gamma_2 \gamma_1^{-1} \in G_1$, as G_1 is a normal subgroup of E(n, R). Therefore $S_{i1} \subseteq G_1$, for $i \ge 2$. All the above set inclusions give us $\langle S_{ij} : i \ne j \rangle \subseteq G_1$, i.e, $G_2 \subseteq G_1$. Note that $ge_{21}(x) \in G_2$. For showing the other inclusion we need to show G_2 is a normal subgroup of E(n, R), i.e, we need to show

$$hge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a)h^{-1} \in G_2,$$

for $h \in E(n, R)$. It suffices to show $hge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a)h^{-1} \in G_2$, for standard elementary generator h of the group E(n, R). Exploiting commutator identities we get this inclusion and hence we have $G_1 = G_2$.

Lemma 2.2.30 (see [15], Lemma 2.2) Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Then the following sequence is exact

$$1 \longrightarrow \mathrm{E}(n,R,I) \longrightarrow \mathrm{E}^1(n,R,I) \longrightarrow \mathrm{E}^1(n,R/I,0) \longrightarrow 1.$$

Thus E(n, R, I) equals $E^1(n, R, I) \cap G(n, R, I)$.

Proof: Let $f: E^1(n, R, I) \longrightarrow E^1(n, R/I, 0)$. Note that

$$\ker(f) \subseteq \mathrm{E}^1(n,R,I) \cap \mathrm{G}(n,R,I).$$

Let $M = \prod ge_{j1}(x_j)ge_{1i}(a_i) \in E^1(n, R, I) \cap G(n, R, I)$. Note that $M \in G(n, R, I)$ implies

$$\bar{M} = \prod g e_{j1}(0) g e_{1i}(\bar{a}_i)$$
$$= \prod g e_{1i}(\bar{a}_i) = I_n,$$

i.e, $M \in \ker(f)$. Therefore $\ker(f) = \mathrm{E}^1(n,R,I) \cap \mathrm{G}(n,R,I)$. Now we shall prove that $\ker(f) = \mathrm{E}(n,R,I)$. Let

$$E = \prod_{k=1}^{r} g e_{j_k 1}(x_k) g e_{1i_k}(a_k) \in \ker(f).$$

Note that E can be written as $ge_{j_11}(x_1)\prod_{k=2}^r \gamma_k ge_{j_k1}(x_k)\gamma_k^{-1}$, where γ_l is equal to $\prod_{k=1}^{l-1} ge_{1i_k}(a_k) \in E(n,R)$, and hence $\ker(f) \subseteq E(n,R,I)$. To establish the reverse inclusion we need to show $E(n,R,I) \subseteq E^1(n,R,I)$. It suffices to show $E^1(n,R,I)$

contains the set

$$S_{ij} = \{ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x)ge_{ij}(-a) : a \in R, x \in I\},\$$

for all i, j, with $i \neq j$. First we state the following identities

$$[gh, k] = (g[h, k])[g, k], \tag{2.1}$$

$$[g, hk] = [g, h](^h[g, k]),$$
 (2.2)

$$g[h,k] = [gh,gk],$$
 (2.3)

where ghg^{-1} and $[g,h] = ghg^{-1}h^{-1}$. In the following computation we show that $E^1(n,R,I)$ contains S_{ij} , if it contains S_{ik} and S_{jk} . We write * for some element of I and of $E^1(n,R,I)$. Now

$$\begin{split} ge_{ij}(a)ge_{ji}(x) &= & ge_{ij}(a)[ge_{jk}(1), ge_{ki}(*)] \\ &= & [ge_{ij}(a)ge_{jk}(1), ge_{ki}(*)ge_{kj}(*)] \\ &= & [ge_{ik}(a)ge_{jk}(1), ge_{ki}(*)ge_{kj}(*)] \\ &= & ge_{ik}(a)[ge_{jk}(1), ge_{ki}(*)ge_{kj}(*)][ge_{ik}(a), ge_{ki}(*)ge_{kj}(*)] \\ &= & ge_{ik}(a)ge_{ji}(*)\binom{ge_{ik}(a)ge_{ki}(*)}{ge_{jk}(1), ge_{kj}(*)]} \\ &= & ge_{ik}(a), ge_{ki}(*)]ge_{kj}(*)ge_{ij}(*) \\ &= & (*)^{ge_{ik}(a)}(ge_{ki}(*)ge_{ji}(*)[ge_{jk}(1), ge_{kj}(*)]) \\ &= & (*)^{ge_{ik}(a)}(ge_{ki}(*)ge_{ji}(*)[ge_{jk}(1), ge_{kj}(*)]) \\ &= & (*)[ge_{ik}(a), ge_{ki}(*)](*) \\ &= & (*)[ge_{ik}(a), ge_{ki}(*)](*), \end{split}$$

which lies in the group generated by $E^1(n, R, I)$, S_{ik} and S_{jk} . Similarly, if $E^1(n, R, I)$ contains S_{ki} and S_{kj} then it contains S_{ji} . Note that $E^1(n, R, I)$ contains S_{12} , S_{13} and hence it contains S_{23} , S_{32} , S_{21} , S_{31} , and so on.

Remark 2.2.31 In the above two lemmas (Lemma 2.2.29 and Lemma 2.2.30) we require the assumption R = 2R when we prove the result for elementary symplectic group, i.e, $E(n, R, I) = ESp_n(R, I)$. We do not require this assumption for the elementary linear group.

The following lemma is due to L.N. Vaserstein. We include the proof for completeness.

Lemma 2.2.32 ([29], Lemma 5.4) Let $n \geq 2$ be a natural number and φ be an alternating matrix from $GL_{2n}(R)$. Then for any v from R^{2n-1} there exists α, β in $E_{2n-1}(R)$ such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha v^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix}$$

belong to $E_{2n}(R) \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$, where $\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$ denotes the isotropy group of φ , i.e,

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{\omega}(R) = \{ \alpha \in \operatorname{SL}_{2n}(R) \mid \alpha^t \varphi \alpha = \varphi \}.$$

Proof: We write

$$\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -c \\ c^t & \nu \end{pmatrix}, \ \varphi^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & d \\ -d^t & \mu \end{pmatrix},$$

where $c, d \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$. From the equality $\varphi \varphi^{-1} = 1$ we see that $cd^t = 1$, $\nu d^t = 0$, $c\mu = 0$ and $d^t c + \mu \nu = I_{2n-1}$. Let

$$\alpha = \alpha(\varphi, v) = I_{2n-1} + d^t v \nu,$$

$$\beta = \beta(\varphi, v) = I_{2n-1} - \mu v^t c.$$

Notice that $\alpha \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R)$ since $v\nu \cdot d^t = 0$ and $d \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n-1}(R)$. Similarly $\beta \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R)$ since $c \cdot \mu v^t = 0$ and $c \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n-1}(R)$ (see Lemma 2.2.7). We have

$$L_{\varphi}(v) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha v^{t} & \alpha \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^{t} & I_{n-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$R_{\varphi}(v) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I_{n-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now $(1 \perp \alpha), (1 \perp \beta) \in E_n(R)$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I_{n-1} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I_{n-1} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{E}_n(R)$$

in view of Lemma 2.2.11. And hence $L_{\varphi}(v), R_{\varphi}(v) \in E_n(R)$. The inclusions

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha v^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$$

are verified immediately.

Lemma 2.2.33 Let $n \geq 2$ and $\varepsilon \in E_{2n}(R)$. Then there exists $\rho \in E_{2n-1}(R)$ such that $(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon \in ESp_{2n}(R)$.

Proof: Let $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_r \dots \varepsilon_1$, where each ε_i is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I \end{pmatrix}$,

where $v = (a_1, \ldots, a_{2n-1}) \in R^{2n-1}$ (see Lemma 2.2.11). We prove the result using induction on r. If r = 0 there is nothing to prove. Let $r \geq 1$. Let us assume the result is true for r - 1, i.e, when $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{r-1} \ldots \varepsilon_1$, then there exists a $\delta \in E_{2n-1}(R)$ such that $(1 \perp \delta)\varepsilon \in ESp_{2n}(R)$. Now we prove the result when number of generator of ε is r. Now,

$$L_{\psi_n}(v) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} se_{i1}(a_{i-1}),$$

$$R_{\psi_n}(v) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} se_{1i}(a_{i-1}).$$

Note that $\alpha = \alpha(\psi_n, v), \beta = \beta(\psi_n, v) \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R)$. Let us set γ equal to either α or β depending on the form of ε_1 . Now,

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1 \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R),$$

and each

$$\beta_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$$
 or $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I \end{pmatrix}$.

Now we have

$$\varepsilon = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \beta_r \dots \beta_2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1.$$

By induction hypothesis $(1 \perp \delta)\beta_r \dots \beta_2 \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$, for some $\delta \in \mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R)$. Hence $(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$, where $\rho = \delta^{-1}\gamma \in \mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.34 ([29], Lemma 5.5) For any natural number $n \geq 2$ and any alternating matrix φ from $GL_{2n}(R)$, $e_1(E_{2n}(R)) = e_1(E_{2n}(R) \cap Sp_{\varphi}(R))$.

We will only use Lemma 2.2.34 in the special case when $\varphi = \psi_n$. In this special case the proof is much easier to establish. In this case following L.N. Vaserstein's proof one can show that

Lemma 2.2.35 For any natural number $n \geq 2$, $e_1 E_{2n}(R) = e_1 ESp_{2n}(R)$.

Proof: One way inclusion is obvious. To show $e_1 E_{2n}(R) \subseteq e_1 ESp_{2n}(R)$ let us choose $v \in e_1 E_{2n}(R)$ such that $v = e_1 \varepsilon_r \dots \varepsilon_1$, where $\varepsilon_r \dots \varepsilon_1 \in E_{2n}(R)$ and each ε_i is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v_i \\ 0 & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix} \text{ or } \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v_i^t & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $v_i \in R^{2n-1}$ (see Lemma 2.2.11). By induction on r we will show that $v \in e_1 \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$. If r = 0 we have nothing to prove. Let $r \geq 1$. Let us assume the result is true for r-1, i.e, $e_1 \varepsilon_{r-1} \ldots \varepsilon_1 \in e_1 \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$. Now we prove the result when $v = e_1 \varepsilon_r \ldots \varepsilon_1$. By Lemma 2.2.33, we get γ in $\mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R)$ such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1 \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R),$$

and

$$v = e_1 \beta_r \dots \beta_2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1,$$

where each

$$\beta_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that each β_i is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
 or $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix}$.

By induction hypothesis we have $e_1\beta_r...\beta_2 \in e_1\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ and hence v is in $e_1\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$.

Lemma 2.2.36 Let $n \geq 2$ and let I be an ideal of R. Let $\varepsilon \in E^1_{2n}(R,I)$. Then there exists a ρ such that $\rho^t \in E^1_{2n-1}(R,I)$ and $(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon \in ESp^1_{2n}(R,I)$.

Proof: Let $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_r \dots \varepsilon_1$, where each ε_i is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix} \text{ or } \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ w^t & I_{2n-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $v = (a_1, \ldots, a_{2n-1}) \in R^{2n-1}$, and $w = (b_1, \ldots, b_{2n-1}) \in I^{2n-1}$ (see Lemma 2.2.11). We prove the result using induction on r. If r = 0 there is nothing to prove. Let $r \geq 1$. Let us assume the result is true for r - 1, i.e, when $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{r-1} \ldots \varepsilon_1$, then there exists a δ such that $\delta^t \in E^1_{2n-1}(R, I)$ and $(1 \perp \delta)\varepsilon \in ESp^1_{2n}(R, I)$. Now we prove the result when number of generators of ε is r. Let

$$\alpha = \alpha(\psi_n, w) = I_{2n-1} + (-e_1)^t w \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \psi_{n-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= E_{12}(b_3) E_{13}(-b_2) \dots E_{12n-1}(-b_{2n-2}),$$

and

$$\beta = \beta(\psi_n, v) = I_{2n-1} - \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \psi_{n-1}^t \end{pmatrix} v^t(-e_1)$$
$$= E_{21}(a_3)E_{31}(-a_2)\dots E_{2n-11}(-a_{2n-2}).$$

Note that $\alpha^t, \beta^t \in \mathrm{E}^1_{2n-1}(R,I)$. Also note that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ w^t & I \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} se_{i1}(b_{i-1}) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R, I),$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} se_{1i}(a_{i-1}) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R, I).$$

We can set γ to be α or β depending on the form of ε_1 such that $\gamma^t \in \mathrm{E}^1_{2n-1}(R,I)$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1 \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}^1(R, I)$$

Therefore we have,

$$\varepsilon = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \beta_r \dots \beta_2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1,$$

where each

$$\beta_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon_i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{E}^1_{2n}(R, I).$$

By induction hypothesis there exists δ such that $\delta^t \in \mathrm{E}^1_{2n-1}(R,I)$ and $(1 \perp \delta)\beta_r \dots \beta_2 \in \mathrm{ESp}^1_{2n}(R,I)$. Let us set $\rho = \delta^{-1}\gamma$. Clearly $\rho^t \in \mathrm{E}^1_{2n-1}(R,I)$ and $(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon \in \mathrm{ESp}^1_{2n}(R,I)$.

Lemma 2.2.37 Let $n \geq 2$ and let I be an ideal of R. Let $\varepsilon \in E_{2n}(R, I)$, $n \geq 2$. Then there exists $\rho \in E_{2n-1}(R, I)$ such that $(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon \in ESp_{2n}(R, I)$.

Proof: We have $\varepsilon \in E_n(R,I) = E_{2n}^1(R,I) \cap GL_{2n}(R,I)$ (see Lemma 2.2.30). Using Lemma 2.2.36 we get a ρ such that $\rho^t \in E_{2n-1}^1(R,I)$ and $(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon = \alpha$, where $\alpha \in ESp_{2n}^1(R,I)$. We have,

$$\bar{\varepsilon} = (1 \perp \bar{\rho})^{-1} \bar{\alpha}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & *_1 & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & *_2 & *_3 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{*_3} & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= I_{2n} \pmod{I}.$$

Here 'bar' means reduction modulo I. Comparing the entries we get, $*_1, *_2, *_3$ are zero modulo I. Hence $\rho \in \mathrm{GL}_{2n-1}(R, I)$ and $\alpha \in \mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(R, I)$. We get, via Lemma 2.2.30,

$$\alpha \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I) \cap \mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(R,I) = \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I),$$

 $\rho^t \in \mathrm{E}_{2n-1}^1(R,I) \cap \mathrm{GL}_{2n-1}(R,I) = \mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R,I).$

and hence $\rho \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R,I)$. Therefore

$$(1 \perp \rho)\varepsilon = \alpha \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I).$$

We use this to prove the next Lemma, which is a relative version of a special case of an (as yet) unpublished result of R.A. Rao and R.G. Swan.

Corollary 2.2.38 (Rao-Swan): Let $n \geq 2$ and $\varepsilon \in E_{2n}(R, I)$. Then

$$\varepsilon^t \psi_n \varepsilon = (1 \perp \varepsilon_0)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon_0),$$

for some $\varepsilon_0 \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R,I)$.

Proof: Note that $\varepsilon^{-1} \in \mathcal{E}_{2n}(R,I)$. Using Lemma 2.2.37 we get $\varepsilon_0 \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R,I)$ such that $(1 \perp \varepsilon_0)\varepsilon^{-1} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$, and hence

$$\varepsilon^{-1t} (1 \perp \varepsilon_0)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon_0) \varepsilon^{-1} = \psi_n.$$

Therefore we have

$$\varepsilon^{t} \psi_{n} \varepsilon = \varepsilon^{t} \left\{ \varepsilon^{-1} (1 \perp \varepsilon_{0})^{t} \right\} \psi_{n} \left\{ (1 \perp \varepsilon_{0}) \varepsilon^{-1} \right\} \varepsilon$$
$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon_{0})^{t} \psi_{n} (1 \perp \varepsilon_{0}).$$

Chapter 3

Quillen's Local-Global Principle

We begin this chapter with D. Quillen's famous Local-Global principle (see Theorem 3.1.2). Quillen proved it using his Splitting lemma (see Lemma 3.1.1) for invertible elements in the fibre of X = 0. Before stating the Splitting Lemma, let us fix a notation.

Let $(1+XR[X])^*$ denotes the group of invertible elements in the polynomial ring R[X] which are congruent to 1 modulo X.

3.1 Splitting Lemma and Related Results

Lemma 3.1.1 Quillen's Splitting Lemma: ([24], Lemma 1)

Let A be an algebra over R, let $f \in R$, and let $\theta \in (1 + XA_f[X])^*$. Then there exists an integer $k \geq 0$ such that for any $g_1, g_2 \in R$, with $g_1 - g_2 \in f^k R$, there exists $\psi(X) \in (1 + XA[X])^*$ such that $\psi(X)_f = \theta(g_1X)\theta(g_2X)^{-1}$.

Theorem 3.1.2 Quillen's Local-Global Principle: ([24], Theorem 1)

Let M be a finitely presented module over R[X]. If $M_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is extended $R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]$ -module for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, then M is extended from R.

In [31] A. Suslin stated and proved an analogue for the elementary matrices of the above theorem of Quillen. Suslin's proof was inspired by the ideas in the proof of Quillen. To prove his Local-Global result Suslin first proved a lemma, which is similar to the above Splitting lemma, for elementary matrices. Here we state the lemma as well as Suslin's elementary matrices analogue of Quillen's Local-Global principle.

Lemma 3.1.3 Splitting Lemma for Elementary Matrices: ([31], Lemma 3.4) Let $\alpha(X) \in GL_n(R[X])$, and let $\alpha(0) = Id$, $n \geq 3$. Let $a \in R$ be non-nilpotent and also assume $\alpha(X)_a \in E_n(R_a[X])$. Then there exists a natural number m such that $\alpha(cX)\alpha(dX)^{-1} \in \mathcal{E}_n(R[X]) \text{ for } c \equiv d \pmod{a^m}.$ Theorem 3.1.4 Local-Global Principle for Elementary Matrices: ([31], Theorem 3.1) Let $\alpha(X)$ is in $GL_n(R[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$, $n \geq 3$. Then $\alpha(X)$ lies in $E_n(R[X])$ if and only if for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R the canonical image of $\alpha(X)$ in $\operatorname{GL}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ lies in $\operatorname{E}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$. After Suslin, in [16] V.I. Kopeiko stated and proved an elementary symplectic matrices analogue of Quillen's Local-Global principle. Here we state Kopeiko's result. Theorem 3.1.5 Local-Global Principle for Elementary Symplectic Matri**ces:** ([16], Theorem 3.6) Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$, $n \geq 2$. Then $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R[X])$ if and only if for any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, the canonical image of $\alpha(X)$ in $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ lies in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$. Now we talk about the action version of Quillen's Local Global Principle due to L.N. Vaserstein. In a letter to H. Bass, L.N. Vaserstein gave a short proof of an "action version" of Quillen's well known Local Global Principle (see Theorem 3.1.6), **Theorem 3.1.6** (L.N. Vaserstein) ([18], Chapter 3, Theorem 2.5) Let $n \geq 3$ and $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R[X])$. If $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{GL}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R, then $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{GL}_n R([X])$. R.A. Rao proved similar result as above for the elementary linear group. **Theorem 3.1.7** (R.A. Rao) ([25], Theorem 2.3) Let $v(X) \in \operatorname{Um}_n(R[X]), n \geq 3$. Suppose for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} in R, $v(X) \in$

 $v(0)E_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$. Then $v(X) \in v(0)E_n(R[X])$.

3.2 Local Global Principle

We prove a relative (w.r.t. an extended ideal) elementary (linear, symplectic) action version of Theorem 3.1.7 below. We first state and prove the essential steps of L.N. Vaserstein's Local Global principle for action on $\mathrm{Um}_n(R[X])$, and a few preliminary lemmas.

Note that in this and the next section we establish results for elementary linear and elementary symplectic groups, but not for elementary orthogonal group (though the results are also true in this case, as shown in [1]).

Lemma 3.2.1 Let $n \geq 3$. Let I be an ideal of R and S be a multiplicatively closed set in R. Let $\alpha(X) \in E(n, I_S[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in E(n, R[X], I[X])$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(sX)$, for some $s \in S$, with $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: Since there are only finitely many denominators involved, there exists $t \in S$ such that $\alpha(X) \in E(n, I_t[X])$. Let

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} g e_{i_k j_k}(h_k(X)),$$

where $h_k(X) = h_k(0) + X\widetilde{f}_k(X)$. Given that $\alpha(0) = Id$. Using Lemma 2.2.27 we get,

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k g e_{i_k j_k} (X f_k(X)/t^s) \gamma_k^{-1},$$

where $\gamma_l = \prod_{k=1}^l ge_{i_k j_k}(h_k(0)) \in E(n, I_t)$ and $f_k(X) \in I[X]$.

Case (A): Linear case, i.e, when $E(n, I[X]) = E_n(I[X])$.

Let $v_{i_k}^t$ be the i_k -th column of γ_k and w_{j_k} be the j_k -th row of γ_k^{-1} . Therefore,

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \left(I_n + X f_k(X) / t^s v_{i_k}^t w_{j_k} \right).$$

Here $v_{i_k}, w_{j_k} \in R_t^n$. Let us set $v_{i_k} = (1/t^s)v_{i_k}^*, w_{j_k} = (1/t^s)w_{j_k}^*$, for some $s \ge 0$, with $v_{i_k}^*, w_{j_k}^* \in R^n$. We can write,

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \left(I_n + X f_k(X) / t^{3s} (v_{i_k}^*)^t w_{j_k}^* \right).$$

Let us take N = 3s and define,

$$\alpha^*(X) = \prod_{k=1}^r (I_n + X f_k(t^N X) (v_{i_k}^*)^t w_{j_k}^*)).$$

Clearly $\alpha^*(X) \in E_n(R[X], I[X])$, as $f_k(t^N X) \in I[X]$ (see Lemma 2.2.8), and localises to $\alpha(t^N X)$.

Case (B): Symplectic case, i.e, when $E(n, I[X]) = ESp_{2m}(I[X])$.

Let σ be the permutation defined before Definition 2.1.14. For any row vector v we define $\tilde{v} = v\psi_n$. Let $v_{i_k}^t$ and $v_{\sigma(j_k)}^t$ be the i_k -th and $\sigma(j_k)$ -th columns of γ_k respectively. Then \tilde{v}_{i_k} and $\tilde{v}_{\sigma(j_k)}$ are the $\sigma(i_k)$ -th and j_k -th rows of γ_k^{-1} respectively. If $i_k = \sigma(j_k)$ then,

$$\gamma_k s e_{i_k, i_k}(X f_k(X)/t^s) \gamma_k^{-1} = I_{2m} + (X f_k(X)/t^s) v_{i_k}^t \widetilde{v}_{i_k} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2m}(I_t[X]).$$

If $i_k \neq \sigma(j_k)$ and $i_k < j_k$ then, $\gamma_k se_{i_k j_k}(X f_k(X)/t^s)\gamma_k^{-1}$

$$=I_{2m}+(Xf_k(X)/t^s)v^t_{\sigma(j_k)}\widetilde{v}_{i_k}+(Xf_k(X)/t^s)v^t_{i_k}\widetilde{v}_{\sigma(j_k)} \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2m}(I_t[X]).$$

If $v \in R_t^{2m}$, then $v = (1/t^s)v^*$, for some $s \ge 0$, with $v^* \in R^{2m}$. Let us define,

$$a_k = \begin{cases} I_{2m} + (Xf_k(X)/t^{3s})v_{i_k}^{*t}\widetilde{v}_{i_k}^*, & \text{if } i_k = \sigma(j_k), \\ I_{2m}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$b_k = \begin{cases} I_{2m} + (Xf_k(X)/t^{3s})v_{\sigma(j_k)}^{*t} \widetilde{v}_{i_k}^* + \\ (Xf_k(X)/t^{3s})v_{i_k}^{*t} \widetilde{v}_{\sigma(j_k)}^*, & \text{if } i_k \neq \sigma(j_k), i_k < j_k, \\ I_{2m}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that $\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} a_k b_k$. Let us take N = 3s and define,

$$\widetilde{a}_k = \begin{cases} I_{2m} + (Xf_k(t^N X))v_{i_k}^{*t}\widetilde{v}_{i_k}^*, & \text{if } i_k = \sigma(j_k), \\ I_{2m}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$\widetilde{b}_k = \begin{cases} I_{2m} + (Xf_k(t^N X))v_{\sigma(j_k)}^{*t}\widetilde{v}_{i_k}^* + \\ (Xf_k(t^N X))v_{i_k}^{*t}\widetilde{v}_{\sigma(j_k)}^*, & \text{if } i_k \neq \sigma(j_k), i_k < j_k, \\ I_{2m}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Define

$$\alpha^*(X) = \prod_{k=1}^r \widetilde{a}_k \widetilde{b}_k.$$

It is easy to see $\alpha^*(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2m}(R[X], I[X])$, as $f_k(t^N X) \in I[X]$ (see Lemma 2.2.22 and Lemma 2.2.23). $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(t^N X)$.

The following argument of L.N. Vaserstein is standard (see [18], Chapter III, Proposition 2.3):

Lemma 3.2.2 Let $n \geq 3$. Let I be an ideal of R and S be a multiplicatively closed set in R. Let $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R[X])$ and let $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{E}(n,I_S[X])$. Then there is an s in S such that for any a in R,

$$v(X + asT) \in v(X)E(n, R[X, T], I[X, T]).$$

Proof: Let $\alpha(X) \in E(n, I_S[X])$ such that $v(X)\alpha(X) = v(0)$. Let

$$\beta(X,T) = \alpha(X+T)\alpha(X)^{-1} \in E(n,I_S[X,T]).$$

Then

$$v(X+T)\beta(X,T) = v(X+T)\alpha(X+T)\alpha(X)^{-1}$$

= $v(0)\alpha(X)^{-1}$
= $v(X)$ in $R_S[X,T]^{2n}$.

Since $\beta(X,0) = Id$, we can find $\beta^*(X,T) \in \mathcal{E}(n,R[X,T],I[X,T])$ which localises to $\beta(X,sT)$ for some $s \in S$ with $\beta^*(X,0) = Id$ (see Lemma 3.2.1). Then in $R[X,T]^n$ we have,

$$v(X+sT)\beta^*(X,T) - v(X) = Tw(X,T),$$

for some w(X,T) which localises to 0. Thus for some $s^* \in S$, and for all $a \in R$, we get,

$$v(X + ass^*T)\beta^*(X, as^*T) - v(X) = Tas^*w(X, as^*T) = 0.$$

Now we prove our main theorem of this section, which plays a crucial role in this thesis.

Theorem 3.2.3 Local Global Principle w.r.t. an Extended Ideal: Let $n \geq 3$. Let I be an ideal of R and $v(X) \in \text{Um}_n(R[X], I[X])$. If for all maximal (or even prime) ideals \mathfrak{m} of R, $v(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in v(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \mathbb{E}(n, I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then

$$v(X) \in v(0) E(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Proof: By assumption $v(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in v(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \mathrm{E}(n, I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal (or all prime) ideals \mathfrak{m} of R. Using Lemma 3.2.2 it follows that, for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, there exists $s_k \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that for all $a \in R$,

$$v(X + as_k T) \in v(X) \to \mathbb{E}(n, R[X, T], I[X, T]). \tag{3.1}$$

Note that the ideal generated by $s_k's$ is the whole ring R. Therefore there exists s_{k_1}, \ldots, s_{k_r} such that $a_1s_{k_1} + \cdots + a_rs_{k_r} = 1$ where $a_i \in R$, for $1 \le i \le r$.

In equation (3.1) replacing X by $a_2s_{k_2}X + \cdots + a_rs_{k_r}X$ and as_kT by $a_1s_{k_1}X$ we get,

$$v(X) = v(a_1 s_{k_1} X + a_2 s_{k_2} X + \dots + a_r s_{k_r} X)$$

$$\in v(a_2 s_{k_2} X + \dots + a_r s_{k_r} X) E(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Again in equation (3.1) replacing X by $a_3s_{k_3}X+\cdots+a_rs_{k_r}X$ and as_kT by $a_2s_{k_2}X$ we get,

$$v(a_2s_{k_2}X + \dots + a_rs_{k_r}X) \in v(a_3s_{k_3}X + \dots + a_rs_{k_r}X) \to (n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Continuing in this way we get, $v(a_r s_{k_r} X + 0) \in v(0) E(n, R[X], I[X])$. Combining all these we get,

$$v(X) \in v(0) E(n, R[X], I[X]),$$

and hence the result is proved.

Remark 3.2.4 The above Theorem is sufficient to prove Theorem 4.2.2, our main result in the free case. However to prove Theorem 5.11.4, a projective module analogue of Theorem 4.2.2, we need a stronger version of Theorem 3.2.3. This version was independently observed earlier in [1] by using Suslin's theory of special forms being elementary. Here we use commutator laws to prove those result. We state and prove the theorems in the next section.

3.3 Local Global Principle: A Stronger Version

Lemma 3.3.1 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1 \dots \varepsilon_r$ be an element in $E^1(n, R, I)$, where each ε_k is a (standard) elementary generator. Also $ge_{ij}(Xf(X))$ is a standard elementary generator of $E^1(n, R[X], I[X])$. Then

$$\varepsilon g e_{ij}(Y^{4^r} X f(Y^{4^r} X)) \varepsilon^{-1} = \prod_{t=1}^s g e_{i_t j_t}(Y h_t(X, Y)),$$

where either $i_t = 1$ or $j_t = 1$ and $h_t(X,Y) \in R[X,Y]$, when $i_t = 1$; $h_t(X,Y) \in I[X,Y]$ when $j_t = 1$.

Proof: Given that $ge_{ij}(Xf(X)) \in E^1(n, R[X], I[X])$. First assume i = 1 and $f(X) \in R[X]$. We prove the result using induction on r, the number of generators of ε . Let r = 1 and $\varepsilon = ge_{pq}(a)$. Note that when $p = 1, a \in R$, and when $q = 1, a \in I$. Case (1): Let (p,q) = (1,j). In this case

$$ge_{1j}(a) \ ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)) \ ge_{1j}(-a) = ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)).$$

Case (2): Let (p,q)=(1,k), $k \neq j$. In this case

$$ge_{1k}(a) \ ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)) \ ge_{1k}(-a) = ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)).$$

Case (3): Let
$$(p,q) = (k,1)$$
, $k \neq j$. In this case
$$ge_{k1}(a) \ ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)) \ ge_{k1}(-a)$$

$$= \ ge_{kj}(*Y^4Xf(Y^4X)) \ ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X))$$

$$= \ [ge_{k1}(*Y^2), \ ge_{1j}(Y^2Xf(Y^4X))] \ ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)),$$

where * is an element of I.

Case (4): Let
$$(p,q)=(j,1)$$
). Let us choose $k \neq 1,2,j,\sigma(j)$. In this case

$$ge_{i1}(a) \ ge_{1i}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)) \ ge_{i1}(-a)$$

$$= ge_{i1}(a) [ge_{1k}(Y^2Xf(Y^4X)), ge_{ki}(Y^2)] ge_{i1}(-a)$$

=
$$[ge_{jk}(Y^2X * f(Y^4X)) ge_{1k}(Y^2Xf(Y^4X)), ge_{k1}(-Y^2*) ge_{kj}(Y^2)]$$

$$= ge_{jk}(Y^2X * f(Y^4X)) ge_{1k}(Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{k1}(-Y^2*) ge_{kj}(Y^2)$$

$$ge_{1k}(-Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{jk}(-Y^2X * f(Y^4X)) ge_{kj}(-Y^2)$$

$$ge_{k1}(Y^2*)$$

$$= ge_{jk}(Y^2X * f(Y^4X)) ge_{1k}(Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{k1}(-Y^2*) ge_{kj}(Y^2)$$
$$ge_{1k}(-Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) [ge_{j1}(-Y*), ge_{1k}(YXf(Y^4X))] ge_{kj}(-Y^2)$$
$$ge_{k1}(Y^2*)$$

$$= ge_{jk}(Y^2X * f(Y^4X)) ge_{1k}(Y^2Yf(Y^4X)) ge_{k1}(-Y^2*) ge_{kj}(Y^2)$$

$$ge_{1k}(-Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{kj}(-Y^2) ge_{kj}(Y^2)$$

$$[ge_{j1}(-Y^*), ge_{1k}(YXf(Y^4X))] ge_{kj}(-Y^2) ge_{k1}(Y^2*)$$

$$= [ge_{j1}(Y*), ge_{1k}(YXf(Y^4X))] ge_{1k}(Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{k1}(-Y^2*)$$

$$ge_{1k}(-Y^2Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{1j}(Y^4Xf(Y^4X)) [ge_{k1}(-Y^3*)$$

$$ge_{j1}(-Y*), ge_{1j}(-Y^3Xf(Y^4X)) ge_{1k}(YXf(Y^4X))] ge_{k1}(Y^2*),$$

where * is an element of I.

Hence the result is true when r = 1. We show the case j = 1 by carrying out similar calculations. Let us assume the result is true when the number of generators

is r-1, i.e,

$$\varepsilon_2 \dots \varepsilon_r \ ge_{ij}(Y^{4^{r-1}}Xf(Y^{4^{r-1}}(X))) \ \varepsilon_r^{-1} \dots \varepsilon_2^{-1}$$
$$= \prod_{t=1}^s ge_{i_t j_t}(Yh_t(X,Y)),$$

where either $i_t = 1$ or $j_t = 1$. Note that $h_t(X, Y) \in R[X, Y]$, when $i_t = 1$ and $h_t(X, Y) \in I[X, Y]$, when $j_t = 1$.

Now we prove the result when the number of generators is r. We have

$$\varepsilon_1 \ \varepsilon_2 \dots \varepsilon_r \ ge_{ij}(Y^{4^r}Xf(Y^{4^r}(X)) \ \varepsilon_r^{-1} \dots \varepsilon_2^{-1} \ \varepsilon_1^{-1}) \\
= \ \varepsilon_1 \left(\prod_{t=1}^s ge_{i_t j_t}(Y^4 h_t(X,Y)) \right) \varepsilon_1^{-1} \\
= \ \prod_{t=1}^s \varepsilon_1 \ ge_{i_t j_t}(Y^4 h_t(X,Y)) \ \varepsilon_1^{-1}.$$

We now repeat the calculation under Cases 1, 2, 3, 4 to conclude that

$$\varepsilon g e_{ij}(Y^{4^r} X f(Y^{4^r} X)) \varepsilon^{-1} = \prod_{t=1}^s g e_{i_t j_t}(Y h_t(X, Y)),$$

where either $i_t = 1$ or $j_t = 1$. Here $h_t(X, Y) \in R[X, Y]$, when $i_t = 1$ and $h_t(X, Y) \in I[X, Y]$, when $j_t = 1$.

Theorem 3.3.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let a be a non-nilpotent element in R and $\alpha(X)$ be in $E^1(n, R_a[X], I_a[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in E^1(n, R[X], I[X])$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, with $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: Let $\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^r ge_{i_kj_k}(f_k(X))$ is in $E^1(n, R_a[X], I_a[X])$, and $f_k(X) = f_k(0) + Xg_k(X)$. Using Lemma 2.2.27 we get

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k \ ge_{i_k j_k}(Xg_k(X)) \ \gamma_k^{-1},$$

where $\gamma_l = \prod_{k=1}^l g e_{i_k j_k}(f_k(0)) \in E^1(n, R_a, I_a)$. Using Lemma 3.3.1 we can say that

$$\alpha(Y^{4^r}X) = \prod_{k=1}^r \Big(\prod_{t=1}^s ge_{i_t j_t}(Yh_t(X,Y))/a^m)\Big),$$

where either $i_t = 1$ or $j_t = 1$. Note that $h_t(X, Y) \in R[X, Y]$, when $i_t = 1$ and $h_t(X, Y) \in I[X, Y]$, when $j_t = 1$, and m is a natural number. Let us choose N = m + N' and define

$$\alpha^*(X,Y) = \prod_{k=1}^r \Big(\prod_{t=1}^s g e_{i_t j_t} (a^{N'} Y h_t(X, a^N Y)) \Big).$$

Clearly $\alpha^*(X,Y) \in E^1(n,R[X,Y],I[X,Y])$ and

$$\alpha((a^N Y)^{4^r} X) = \alpha^*(X, Y).$$

Substituting Y = 1, we get $\alpha(bX) = \alpha^*(X)$, for $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$. Note that $\alpha^*(X) \in E^1(n, R[X], I[X])$, with $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Theorem 3.3.3 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let a be a non-nilpotent element in R and $\alpha(X)$ be in $E(n, R_a[X], I_a[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in E(n, R[X], I[X])$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, with $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: Follows from the previous theorem and Lemma 2.2.30, which says that $E(n, R, I) = E^{1}(n, R, I) \cap G(n, R, I)$.

Theorem 3.3.4 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let $\alpha(X) \in G(n, R[X], I[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. If $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ belongs to $E(n, R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R then, $\alpha(X) \in E(n, R[X], I[X])$.

Proof: One can suitably choose an element $a_{\mathfrak{m}}$ from $R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\alpha(X)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \in E(n, R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X], I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X])$. Let us define

$$\beta(X,Y) = \alpha(X+Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \alpha(Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}^{-1}.$$

Clearly

$$\beta(X,Y) \in \mathrm{E}(n,R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y],I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y]),$$

and $\beta(0,Y) = Id$. Therefore $\beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}}X,Y) \in \mathcal{E}(n,R[X,Y],I[X,Y])$, where $b_{\mathfrak{m}} \in (a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N)$, for some $N \gg 0$ (see Theorem 3.3.3). The ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring

R. Therefore we have $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Note that $\beta(c_ib_{\mathfrak{m}_i}X,Y) \in \mathbb{E}(n,R[X,Y],I[X,Y])$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Hence

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta(c_i b_{\mathfrak{m}_i} X, T_i) \beta(c_k b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}, 0) \in \mathcal{E}(n, R[X], I[X]),$$

where
$$T_i = c_{i+1}b_{\mathfrak{m}_{i+1}}X + \cdots + c_k b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$$
.

Theorem 3.3.5 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $n \geq 3$ in the linear case and $n \geq 6$ in the symplectic case. Let $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R[X],I[X])$. If for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $v(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in v(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \mathrm{E}(n,R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X],I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then

$$v(X) \in v(0)E(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Proof: For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, we get $\alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) \in \mathrm{E}(n, R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ such that

$$v(X)\alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) = v(0).$$

Let us define

$$\beta(X,T) = \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X+T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}.$$

Clearly $\beta(X,T) \in \mathcal{E}(n,R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T],I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T])$. Note that there are only finitely many denominators involved, and hence there exists $a_{\mathfrak{m}} \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\beta(X,T)$ is in $\mathcal{E}(n,R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T],I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T])$. Also $\beta(X,0)=Id$. This implies $\beta(X,b_{\mathfrak{m}}T)\in \mathcal{E}(n,R[X,T],I[X,T])$ for suitable $b_{\mathfrak{m}}\in(a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N),\ N\gg 0$ (see Theorem 3.3.3). Now,

$$v(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \beta(X, b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) = v(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$
$$= v(0) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$
$$= v(X).$$

Note that the ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Therefore $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. In the above equation replacing $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$

by $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X$ and X by $c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X+\cdots+c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ we get,

$$v(X) = v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X + b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X)$$

$$\in v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \to (n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Again in the above equation replacing X by $b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X+\cdots+b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ and $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X$ we get,

$$v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \cdots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \in v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X + \cdots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{E}(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Continuing in this way we get

$$v(b_{m_k}X + 0) \in v(0) E(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Combining all these we get

$$v(X) \in v(0) E(n, R[X], I[X]).$$

Chapter 4

Equality of Orbits

L.N. Vaserstein showed in [29] that if v is the first row of an elementary matrix of even size then it is also the first row of an elementary symplectic matrix (see Lemma 2.2.34). This led us to query whether the orbit space of unimodular rows under the action of the elementary subgroup is in bijective correspondence with the orbit space of unimodular rows under the action of the elementary symplectic group. In this chapter, we prove that this is so, and also establish the relative version, $vE_{2n}(R, I) = vESp_{2n}(R, I)$, for an ideal I of R, when R = 2R.

4.1 The absolute case

In this section we prove that the set of orbits of the action of the elementary symplectic group on all unimodular rows is the same as the set of orbits of the action of the elementary linear group on all unimodular rows.

Theorem 4.1.1 Let R be a commutative ring and let $v \in \text{Um}_{2n}(R)$, then $vE_{2n}(R) = vESp_{2n}(R)$, for $n \geq 2$.

Proof: Let $v_{ij}^*(X) = vE_{ij}(X)$. Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. Using Lemma 2.2.15 we get, $v_{\mathfrak{m}} = e_1 E$, for some $E \in \mathcal{E}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}})$. Using Lemma 2.2.35 we get,

$$v_{\mathfrak{m}} = e_1 E = e_1 \tilde{E},$$

where $\tilde{E} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}})$. Also

$$v_{ij}^*(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} = v_{\mathfrak{m}} E_{ij}(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} = e_1 E E_{ij}(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} = e_1 \tilde{F}(X),$$

where $\tilde{F}(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ (see Lemma 2.2.35). Therefore,

$$v_{ij}^{*}(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} = v_{\mathfrak{m}}E_{ij}(X)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

$$= e_{1}EE_{ij}(X)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

$$= e_{1}\tilde{F}(X)$$

$$= e_{1}\tilde{E}\tilde{E}^{-1}\tilde{F}(X)$$

$$= v_{\mathfrak{m}}\tilde{E}^{-1}\tilde{F}(X)$$

$$\in v_{ij}^{*}(0)_{\mathfrak{m}}\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]).$$

Hence, $v_{ij}^*(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in v_{ij}^*(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. By Theorem 3.2.3 (when I = R)(or see the main theorem in [8]), $v_{ij}^*(X) \in v_{ij}^*(0) \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R[X])$; whence also to $v_{ij}^*(\lambda)$, for any $\lambda \in R$. Hence the result follows.

Theorem 4.1.2 The natural map

$$\frac{\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R)}{\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R)}{\mathrm{E}_{2n}(R)}$$

is bijective for $n \geq 2$.

Proof: The proof follows from Theorem 4.1.1

4.2 The Relative Case

In this section we prove a relative version (see Theorem 4.2.2), with respect to an ideal I in R, of the above Theorem 4.1.1. Vaserstein's Lemma (Lemma 2.2.37) and Local Global principle w.r.t. an extended ideal (see Theorem 3.2.3) will play a crucial role in the proof of the relative version. Local Global principle w.r.t. an extended ideal will be used to prove the Lemma 4.2.1. Vaserstein's Lemma and Lemma 4.2.1 will be employed to prove Theorem 4.2.2.

Lemma 4.2.1 Let $n \geq 3$. Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R, I^2)$. If $\rho \in \mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R, I)$, then $v \ (1 \perp \rho) \in v \ \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$.

Proof: Let $\rho(X) \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R[X], I[X])$, with $\rho(1) = \rho$ and $\rho(0) = Id$ (see Lemma 2.2.3). Let $v = (1 + a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{2n})$, with $a_i \in I^2$, for $1 \leq i \leq 2n$. Let us assume $V(X) = v(1 \perp \rho(X))$. Note that $e_1V(X) = 1 + a_1$. Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. If $I \subset \mathfrak{m}$, then $(1 + a_1)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is unit in $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$. Using Lemma 2.2.17 we get $g(\mathfrak{m})(X) \in \mathcal{E}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^2)$ such that $V(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} = e_1g(\mathfrak{m})(X)$.

If $I \nsubseteq \mathfrak{m}$, then either $(1 + a_1)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a unit or for some $i_0, 1 < i_0 \leq 2n, a_{i_0} \notin \mathfrak{m}$. In either case, since $I_{\mathfrak{m}} = R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, by Lemma 2.2.15 and Lemma 2.2.35 we have,

$$V(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in e_{1} \mathbf{E}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

$$= e_{1} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{Sp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

$$= e_{1} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{Sp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2}).$$

Therefore $V(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in e_1\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^2)$, for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Also, we will have $g(\mathfrak{m})_0$ from $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}}^2)$ such that $V(0)_{\mathfrak{m}}g(\mathfrak{m})_0 = e_1$. Therefore $V(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in V(0)_{\mathfrak{m}}g(\mathfrak{m})_0\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^2)$, for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Using Lemma 2.2.25 we get, $V(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in V(0)_{\mathfrak{m}}\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R.

Using Theorem 3.2.3, we get $V(X) \in V(0)\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R[X],I[X])$. Substituting X=1 we get $v(1\perp\rho)\in v\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$.

Theorem 4.2.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$, then $v \to \mathrm{E}_{2n}(R,I) = v \to \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$, for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: It suffices to show the left hand side is contained in the right hand side. The reverse inclusion is obvious. Let $\varepsilon \in \mathrm{E}_{2n}(R,I)$. Using Lemma 2.2.21 we get ε_1 from $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ such that $v\varepsilon\varepsilon_1 \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I^2)$. Using Lemma 2.2.37 we get ρ in $\mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R,I)$ with $\varepsilon\varepsilon_1(1\perp\rho)\in\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$. Now

$$v\varepsilon = v\varepsilon\varepsilon_1(1\perp\rho) (1\perp\rho)^{-1}\varepsilon_1^{-1}.$$

We have $v\varepsilon\varepsilon_1(1\perp\rho)$ is in $\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I^2)$. Hence by Lemma 4.2.1,

$$[v\varepsilon\varepsilon_1(1\perp\rho)]\ (1\perp\rho)^{-1} \in v \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$$

Let

$$v\varepsilon\varepsilon_1(1\perp\rho)\ (1\perp\rho)^{-1} = v\beta,$$

where β is in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$. Therefore $v\varepsilon = v\beta\varepsilon_1^{-1} \in v\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$.

Now we are in a position to give a proof of relative version of Theorem 4.1.2 using the above lemmas.

Theorem 4.2.3 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Then the natural map

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R,I)}$$

is bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: It is easy to show that the above map is surjective. To show the map is injective let us consider v, w from $\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$ and g from $\mathrm{E}_{2n}(R,I)$, such that vg = w. We need to show w is in the $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ -orbit of v. Using Theorem 4.2.2 we get h from $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$, such that vg = vh and hence w = vh.

Chapter 5

Equality of Orbits: A Global Version

Symplectic transvections were defined by H. Bass in 1964 in [4], and L.N. Vaserstein defined certain symplectic transvections of a free module in 1974 in [29]. In this chapter we will relate these two objects.

Here we define Elementary Symplectic group with respect to an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1, following the lead of L.N. Vaserstein. We then prove a Local-Global principle for this group. We also recall the definition of the group of elementary transvections and the group of elementary symplectic transvections with respect to an alternating form, due to H. Bass and prove Local-Global principle for these groups. Our main theorem is that the Elementary Symplectic group of Vaserstein and the group of elementary symplectic transvections of Bass are the same when we are dealing with the free case. Thus, the group of elementary symplectic transvections of H. Bass may be regarded as the globalization of the L.N. Vaserstein's elementary symplectic group.

As a consequence of the Local Global principles established, we generalise the theorems of previous chapters and show that the orbit space of unimodular rows of a projective module under the action of the group of elementary transvections is in bijection with the orbit space of unimodular rows of a projective module under the action of the group of elementary symplectic transvections with respect to an alternating form.

5.1 Elementary Symplectic Group $\mathrm{ESp}_{\wp}(R)$

Definition 5.1.1 The group of all invertible $2n \times 2n$ matrices

$$\{\alpha \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(R) \mid \alpha^t \varphi \alpha = \varphi\},\$$

where φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 is called **Symplectic Group Sp** $_{\varphi}(R)$ With Respect To An Invertible Alternating Matrix φ .

Definition 5.1.2 Let $v \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$. Following Lemma 2.2.32 we can define

$$L_{\varphi}(v) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha v^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \text{ and }$$

$$R_{\varphi}(v) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here φ is an invertible alternating matrix of the form

$$\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -c \\ c^t & \nu \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } \varphi^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & d \\ -d^t & \mu \end{pmatrix},$$

where $c, d \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$, and

$$\alpha = \alpha(\varphi, v) = I_{2n-1} + d^t v \nu,$$

$$\beta = \beta(\varphi, v)' = I_{2n-1} - \mu v^t c.$$

By Lemma 2.2.32 it follows that all these matrices belong to $\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$. The subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$ generated by $L_{\varphi}(v)$ and $R_{\varphi}(v)$, for $v \in R^{2n-1}$ is called the **elementary symplectic group** $\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$ with respect to the alternating matrix φ of Pfaffian 1. This definition is due to L.N. Vaserstein.

Definition 5.1.3 Let I be an ideal of R. The **relative elementary group** $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(I)$ is a subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$ generated as a group by the elements L(v) and R(v), where $v \in I^{2n-1}$.

The **relative elementary group** $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R,I)$ is the normal closure of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(I)$ in $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$.

Definition 5.1.4 Let I be an ideal in R. The **relative group** $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}^1(R,I)$ is a

subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R)$ generated by the elements of the form R(v) and L(w), where $v \in R^{2n-1}$ and $w \in I^{2n-1}$.

Lemma 5.1.5 For the standard alternating matrix ψ_n ,

$$\operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R),$$

$$\operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R, I) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I),$$

$$\operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}^1(R, I) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}^1(R, I),$$

for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: In the proof of Lemma 2.2.33 we have seen

$$R_{\psi_n}(v) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & v \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} se_{1i}(a_{i-1}),$$
 (5.1)

$$L_{\psi_n}(v) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v^t & I \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{i=2}^{2n} se_{i1}(a_{i-1}),$$
 (5.2)

where $v = (a_1, \ldots, a_{2n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$. Therefore we have

$$\mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R).$$

Note that $se_{1i}(a), se_{j1}(b) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R)$. For $i, j \neq 1$,

$$se_{ij}(a) = [se_{i1}(*), se_{1j}(1)]$$

= $[L_{\psi_n}(*e_{i-1}), R_{\psi_1}(e_{j-1})]$
 $\in ESp_{\psi_n}(R),$

where * is an element of R, and hence $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R)$. Therefore the first equality is established.

To show the second equality let us first show $\mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$. It is enough to show that an element of the form $T_{\psi_n}(v) \, S_{\psi_n}(w) \, T_{\psi_n}(v)^{-1}$ is in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$, for $v \in R^{2n-1}$ and $w \in I^{2n-1}$. Here T_{ψ_n} and S_{ψ_n} are L_{ψ_n} or R_{ψ_n} . Using the definition of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ and equations (5.1), (5.2) we get

$$T_{\psi_n}(v) \ S_{\psi_n}(w) \ T_{\psi_n}(v)^{-1} \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I),$$

and hence $\mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$.

To show the other inclusion we recall the equivalent definition of the relative group which says that $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ is the smallest normal subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ containing $se_{21}(x)$, where $x \in I$ (see Lemma 2.2.29). We need to show

$$g \operatorname{se}_{21}(x) g^{-1} \in \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R, I),$$

where $g \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R) = \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R)$. Hence $g \ se_{21}(x) \ g^{-1} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R,I)$ and

$$\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R,I).$$

Therefore the second equality is established.

Generators of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}^1(R,I)$ is of the form $R_{\psi_n}(v)$, $L_{\psi_n}(w)$, where $v \in R^{2n-1}$ and $w \in I^{2n-1}$. By equations (5.1) and (5.2) we have $R_{\psi_n}(v)$, $L_{\psi_n}(w)$ are in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I)$, hence $\mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}^1(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I)$. On the other hand generators of the group $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I)$ are of the form $se_{1i}(a)$, $se_{j1}(x)$, where $a \in R$ and $x \in I$. Using equations (5.1) and (5.2) we get $se_{1i}(a) = R_{\psi_n}(ae_{i-1})$, and $se_{j1}(x) = L_{\psi_n}(xe_{j-1})$, hence $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_n}^1(R,I)$. Therefore the third equality is established.

Lemma 5.1.6 Let φ and φ^* be two alternating matrices of Pfaffian 1 such that $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \varphi^* (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R)$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi^*}(R) (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

$$\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi^*}(R) (1 \perp \varepsilon).$$

Proof: First we will show $(1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi^*}(R)$ $(1 \perp \varepsilon) \subseteq \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$. Let $\rho \in \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi^*}(R)$ i.e, $\rho^t \varphi^* \rho = \varphi^*$ (by definition of symplectic group w.r.t. an alternating matrix). Now

$$(1 \perp \varepsilon)^{t} \rho^{t} (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1t} \varphi (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \rho (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{t} \rho^{t} (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1t} \{ (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{t} \varphi^{*} (1 \perp \varepsilon) \} (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \rho (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{t} \varphi^{*} (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \varphi,$$

and hence $(1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi^*}(R)$ $(1 \perp \varepsilon) \subseteq \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$. Similarly we will be able to show $(1 \perp \varepsilon) \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R)$ $(1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \subseteq \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi^*}(R)$. Therefore

$$\mathrm{Sp}_{\varphi}(R) \ = \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \mathrm{Sp}_{\varphi^*}(R) (1 \perp \varepsilon).$$

We also have

$$(1 \perp \varepsilon) L_{\varphi}(v) (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} = L_{\varphi^*}(v\varepsilon^t), \tag{5.3}$$

$$(1 \perp \varepsilon) R_{\varphi}(v) (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} = R_{\varphi^*}(v\varepsilon^{-1}), \tag{5.4}$$

and hence
$$\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \, \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi^*}(R) \, (1 \perp \varepsilon).$$

Lemma 5.1.7 Let φ and φ^* be two alternating matrices of Pfaffian 1 such that $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \varphi^* (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R, I)$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R, I) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi^*}(R, I) (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

$$\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}^{1}(R, I) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi^*}^{1}(R, I) (1 \perp \varepsilon).$$

Proof: To prove the above equalities we use definitions of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R,I)$, $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}^1(R,I)$ and the equations (5.3), (5.4).

Lemma 5.1.8 Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring and I be an ideal of R. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 over R, and $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Then φ is of the form

$$(1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

for some $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R,I)$.

Proof: We will prove the result using induction on n. When φ is of size 2×2 , the result is true. Let us assume the result is true for alternating matrix of size $2(n-1) \times 2(n-1)$, i.e, for an alternating matrix φ^* of size $2(n-1) \times 2(n-1)$, we have η from $E_{2n-3}(R, I)$ such that

$$\varphi^* = (1 \perp \eta)^t \psi_{n-1} (1 \perp \eta).$$

We will prove the result for alternating matrix φ of size $2n \times 2n$. Let

$$\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ -a^t & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I},$$

where $a \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n-1}(R,I)$ and α is alternating matrix of size $(2n-1) \times (2n-1)$. Note

that

$$\alpha \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \psi_{n-1} \end{pmatrix} \pmod{I}.$$

As R is local ring we have $a = e_1\beta$, where $\beta \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R, I)$ (see Corollary 2.2.18). Hence

$$(1 \perp \beta^t)^{-1} \varphi (1 \perp \beta)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e_1 \\ -e_1^t & \gamma \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\gamma = (\beta^t)^{-1} \alpha \beta^{-1}$. Note that γ is an alternating matrix. Therefore γ can be written as $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & b \\ -b^t & \varphi^* \end{pmatrix}$. Note that $\overline{\gamma} = (\overline{\beta}^t)^{-1} \overline{\alpha} \overline{\beta}^{-1} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \psi_{n-1} \end{pmatrix} \pmod{I}$, and hence $b \in I^{2n-2}$ and $\varphi^* \equiv \psi_{n-1} \pmod{I}$. Now

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -b\varphi^{*-1} \\ 0 & 0 & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix} (1 \perp \beta^t)^{-1} \varphi (1 \perp \beta)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -b\varphi^{*-1} \\ 0 & 0 & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix}^t$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \varphi^* \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let us call the matrix

$$((I_3 \perp \eta)^{-1})^t \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -b\varphi^{*-1} \\ 0 & 0 & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix} (1 \perp \beta^t)^{-1} = ((1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1})^t.$$

Note that $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R,I)$. Using induction hypothesis we get

$$((1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1})^t \varphi (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1}$$

$$= ((I_3 \perp \eta)^{-1})^t \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \varphi^* \end{pmatrix} (I_3 \perp \eta)^{-1}$$

$$= \psi_n,$$

and hence $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n(1 \perp \varepsilon)$. Therefore the result is established.

Remark 5.1.9 As a particular case of the previous lemma we get that when (R, \mathfrak{m}) is a local ring and φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 over R, then there exists $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R)$ such that

$$\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon).$$

Remark 5.1.10 The condition that the alternating matrices, in this thesis, are of Pfaffian one can be extended to all invertible alternating matrices by observing that an invertible alternating matrix over a local ring which is congruent to $u \psi_1 \perp \psi_{n-1}$ (mod I), where $u = Pfaffian \varphi$, is of the form $E^t(u\psi_1 \perp \psi_{n-1})E$, for some relative elementary matrix E. Only slight modifications in the proofs given below are needed, which is an easy exercise.

Remark 5.1.11 Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1, over R. Let us consider the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. We will get $\varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}) \in E_{2n-1}(R_{\mathfrak{m}})$ such that over $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$ we have

$$\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))$$

(see remark 5.1.9). Let a be the product of denominators of all the entries of $\varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})$. Clearly a is not in \mathfrak{m} . Hence we get ε from $E_{2n-1}(R_a)$ such that

$$\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon).$$

Also, when dealing with relative case w.r.t. an ideal I of R, we will always assume that the alternating matrix φ of Pfaffian 1 is congruent to $\psi_n \pmod{I}$. Therefore over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, we have

$$\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})),$$

for some $\varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}) \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}})$ (see Lemma 5.1.8). Since there are only finitely many denominators, we can find a not in \mathfrak{m} such that

$$\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

where $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R_a, I_a)$. We will constantly use this fact without even referring to it!

Lemma 5.1.12 Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 of the form $(1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R, I)$. Then

$$\mathrm{ESp}_{\omega}(R, I) = \mathrm{ESp}_{\omega}^{1}(R, I) \cap \mathrm{Sp}_{\omega}(R, I),$$

for $n \geq 3$.

Proof:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R,I) &= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}(R,I) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon) \\ &= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R,I) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon) \\ &= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \left(\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I) \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R,I) \right) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon) \\ &= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \left(\operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}^1(R,I) \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{\psi_n}(R,I) \right) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon) \\ &= \left((1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_n}^1(R,I) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon) \right) \ \cap \\ &= \left((1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Sp}_{\psi_n}(R,I) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon) \right) \\ &= \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}^1(R,I) \ \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi}(R,I). \end{split}$$

The third equality follows from Lemma 2.2.30.

5.2 Dilation Principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{\wp}(R)$

Lemma 5.2.1 Let $n \geq 2$. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Let $a \in R$ be non-nilpotent and $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R_a)$ over the ring R_a . Let $\alpha(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_a[X]}(R_a[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X])$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$ and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: $\alpha(X)$ can be written as $\prod_{t=1}^{s} T_{\varphi}(g_t(X))$, where T_{φ} is L_{φ} or R_{φ} , and $g_t(X) \in (R_a[X])^{2n-1}$. Having $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, with some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R_a)$, will allow us to write

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{t=1}^{s} (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} T_{\psi_n}(f_t(X)) (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} (\prod_{t=1}^{s} T_{\psi_n}(f_t(X))) (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \eta(X) (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

where $f_t(X) = g_t(X) \varepsilon^t$, if $T_{\varphi} = L_{\varphi}$, and $f_t(X) = g_t(X) \varepsilon^{-1}$, if $T_{\varphi} = R_{\varphi}$, and $\eta(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_a[X])$ (see Lemma 5.1.5 and Lemma 5.1.6). Note that $\eta(0) = Id$, as $\alpha(0) = Id$. Therefore,

$$\eta(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k \ se_{i_k j_k}(X h_k(X) / a^s) \ \gamma_k^{-1},$$

where $\gamma_k \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_a)$ and $h_k(X) \in R[X]$ (see Lemma 2.2.27). Now,

$$\eta(Y^{2^{r+1}}X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k \ se_{i_k j_k} (Y^{2^{r+1}}X h_k(Y^{2^{r+1}}X)/a^s) \ \gamma_k^{-1}$$

$$= \prod_{t=1}^{l} se_{p_t q_t} (Y^2 u_t(X,Y)/a^s)$$

$$= \prod_{t=1}^{l} [se_{p_t 1}(Y), \ se_{1q_t} (Y u_t(X,Y)/a^s)],$$

where $u_t(X,Y) \in R[X,Y]$. The second equality above follows from Lemma 2.2.28. Let us take $N = M^{2^{r+1}}$, where M = M' + s be a natural number. We define

$$\alpha^*(X,Y) = \prod_{t=1}^s [L_{\varphi}(a^M Y e_{p_t-1}(\varepsilon^t)^{-1}), R_{\varphi}(a^{M'} Y u_t(X, a^M Y) e_{q_t-1}\varepsilon)],$$

where $\alpha^*(X,Y) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X,Y]}(R[X,Y])$, for $N \gg 0$. Note that

$$\alpha(a^{N}XY^{2^{r+1}}) = \alpha((a^{M}Y)^{2^{r+1}}X)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \eta((a^{M}Y)^{2^{r+1}}X) (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \prod_{t=1}^{s} [se_{p_{t}1}(a^{M}Y), se_{1q_{t}}(a^{M}Yu_{t}(X, a^{M}Y)/a^{s})]$$

$$(1 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \prod_{t=1}^{s} [L_{\varphi}(a^{M}Ye_{p_{t}-1}(\varepsilon^{t})^{-1}), R_{\varphi}(a^{M'}Yu_{t}(X, a^{M}Y)e_{q_{t}-1}\varepsilon)].$$

Substituting Y = 1 we get $\alpha^*(X) = \alpha(bX)$, for $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$ (see Lemma 2.2.4). Observe that $\alpha^*(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X])$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Now we prove dilation principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X])$.

Lemma 5.2.2 Let $n \geq 3$. Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I

be an ideal of R. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Let $a \in R$ be a non-nilpotent element, and $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R_a, I_a)$ over the ring R_a . Let $\alpha(X) \in ESp_{\varphi \otimes R_a[X]}(R_a[X], I_a[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in ESp_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X])$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: We have $\alpha(X) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \eta(X)$ $(1 \perp \varepsilon)$, where $\eta(X)$ belongs to $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_a[X], I_a[X])$ (see Lemma 5.1.5 and Lemma 5.1.7). Note that $\eta(0) = Id$, as $\alpha(0) = Id$. Using dilation principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R[X], I[X])$ (see Theorem 3.3.3), we get an $\eta^*(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R[X], I[X])$ such that $\eta^*(X)$ localises to $\eta(b'X)$, for $b' \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, with $\eta^*(0) = Id$, and $\eta(b'X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R[X], I[X])$. Let $\alpha^*(X)$ be an element of $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X])$ such that

$$\alpha^*(X)_a = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \eta^*(X)_a (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$
$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \eta(b'X) (1 \perp \varepsilon)$$
$$= \alpha(b'X),$$

over R_a . Using Lemma 2.2.4 we can say $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

5.3 Local Global Principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{\omega}(R)$

Lemma 5.3.1 Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1, of size at least 4, over R. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X])$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X])$.

We now state and prove a relative version of Lemma 5.3.1. The above lemma is a particular case of Lemma 5.3.2 when I[X] = R[X].

Lemma 5.3.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1, of size at least 6, over R and let $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X])$.

Proof: For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R one can suitably choose an element $a_{\mathfrak{m}}$ from $R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\alpha(X)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X]}(R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X], I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X])$ and also $\varphi = (1 \perp 1)$

 ε)^t ψ_n $(1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}, I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}})$. Let us define

$$\beta(X,Y) = \alpha(X+Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \alpha(Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}^{-1}.$$

It is clear that

$$\beta(X,Y) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y]}(R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y],I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y])$$

and $\beta(0,Y) = Id$. Therefore $\beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}}X,Y) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X,Y]}(R[X,Y],I[X,Y])$, where $b_{\mathfrak{m}} \in (a_m^N)$ for $N \gg 0$ (see Lemma 5.2.2). The ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Hence we have $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Note that $\beta(c_ib_{\mathfrak{m}_i}X,Y) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X,Y]}(R[X,Y],I[X,Y])$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Now,

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}_{i}}X, T_{i}) \ \beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}_{k}}, 0) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X]),$$

where
$$T_i = c_{i+1}b_{\mathfrak{m}_{i+1}}X + \cdots + c_k b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$$
.

Now we prove a action version of above Local Global principle.

Theorem 5.3.3 Let $n \geq 2$ and $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R[X])$. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 over R. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then

$$v(X) \in v(0) \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X]).$$

We establish a relative version of Theorem 5.3.3 below. The above theorem can be treated as a particular case of Theorem 5.3.4 when I[X] = R[X].

Theorem 5.3.4 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $n \geq 3$ and $v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R[X], I[X])$. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 over R, and let $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $v(X) \in v(0)\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then

$$v(X) \in v(0) \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X]).$$

Proof: For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, we get $\alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ such that

$$v(X)\alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) = v(0).$$

Let us define

$$\beta(X,T) = \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X+T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}.$$

Clearly $\beta(X,T)$ is in $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi\otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T]}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T],I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T])$. Since there are only finitely many denominators involved, there exists $a_{\mathfrak{m}} \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\beta(X,T)$ is in $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi\otimes R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T]}(R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T],I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T])$. Also $\beta(X,0)=Id$. This implies $\beta(X,b_{\mathfrak{m}}T)\in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi\otimes R[X,T]}(R[X,T],I[X,T])$, for suitable $b_{\mathfrak{m}} \in (a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N)$, $N\gg 0$ (see Lemma 5.2.2). Now,

$$v(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \beta(X, b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) = v(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$

= $v(0) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$
= $v(X)$.

Note that the ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Therefore $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. In the above equation replacing X by $c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ and $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X$ we get,

$$v(X) = v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X + b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X)$$

$$\in v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X]).$$

Again in the above equation replacing X by $b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X + \cdots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ and $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X$ we get,

$$v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \in v(b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X]).$$

Continuing in this way we get

$$v(b_{m_k}X + 0) \in v(0) \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X]).$$

Combining all these we get

$$v(X) \in v(0) \operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi \otimes R[X]}(R[X], I[X]).$$

5.4 Transvection Group

Following H.Bass one can define transvections of a finitely generated R-module as follows:

Definition 5.4.1 Let M be a finitely generated R-module. Let $q \in M$ and $\pi \in M^* = \text{Hom}(M, R)$, with $\pi(q) = 0$. Let $\pi_q(p) := \pi(p)q$. An automorphism of the form $1 + \pi_q$ is called a **transvection** of M, if either $q \in \text{Um}(M)$ or $\pi \in \text{Um}(M^*)$. Collection of transvections of M is denoted by Trans(M). This forms a subgroup of Aut(M).

Definition 5.4.2 Let M be a finitely generated R module. The automorphisms of $N = (R \perp M)$ of the form

$$(a,p) \mapsto (a,p+ax),$$

 $(a,p) \mapsto (a+\tau(p),p),$

where $x \in M$ and $\tau \in M^*$ are called **elementary transvections** of N. Let us denote the first automorphism by E_x and the second one by E_{τ}^* . It can be verified that these are transvecions of N. Let us consider $\pi(t,y) = t$ and q = (0,x) to get E_x . Next we can consider $\pi(a,p) = \tau(p)$, where $\tau \in M^*$ and q = (1,0) to get E_{τ}^* . The subgroup of Trans(N) generated by elementary transvections is denoted by ETrans(N).

Definition 5.4.3 Let I be an ideal of R. The group of **relative transvections** w.r.t. an ideal I is generated by the transvections of the form $1 + \pi_q$, where either $q \in \text{Um}(IM), \pi \in \text{Um}(M^*)$, or $q \in \text{Um}(M), \pi \in \text{Um}(IM^*)$. The group of relative transvections is denoted by Trans(M, IM).

Definition 5.4.4 Let I be an ideal of R. The elementary transvections of $N = (R \perp M)$ of the form E_x, E_τ^* , where $x \in IM$ and $\tau \in (IM)^*$ are called **relative**

elementary transvections w.r.t. an ideal I, and the group generated by them is denoted by $\operatorname{ETrans}(IN)$. The normal closure of $\operatorname{ETrans}(IN)$ in $\operatorname{ETrans}(N)$ is denoted by $\operatorname{ETrans}(N,IN)$.

Lemma 5.4.5 Let M be a free R module of rank $n \geq 3$, and $N = (R \perp M)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}(M) = \operatorname{E}_n(R),$$

 $\operatorname{ETrans}(N) = \operatorname{Trans}(N) = \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R).$

Proof: Let $M = R^n$. Note that $\pi_q : R^n \longrightarrow R \longrightarrow R^n$, and hence $1 + \pi_q = I_n + v^t w$, for some $v, w \in R^n$, with either v or w unimodular and $\langle v, w \rangle = 0$. Therefore $\text{Trans}(M) \subseteq E_n(R)$ (see Lemma 2.2.7).

A standard elementary generator of the group $E_n(R)$ can be expressed as $I_n + ae_i^t e_j$, where $1 \le i \ne j \le n$, and $a \in R$. Hence $E_n(R) \subseteq \text{Trans}(R)$, which implies $\text{Trans}(R) = E_n(R)$.

One can observe that when $M = \mathbb{R}^n$, the matrices correspond to the elementary transvections E_x and E_{τ}^* of $N = (\mathbb{R} \perp M)$ are of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & I_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ y^t & I_n \end{pmatrix},$$

respectively, where $x, y \in R^n$, and hence $\operatorname{ETrans}(N) \subseteq \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R)$. Note that $\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R)$ is generated by the matrices of the $\operatorname{form}\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & I_n \end{smallmatrix}\right), \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ y^t & I_n \end{smallmatrix}\right)$ (see Lemma 2.2.11), and hence $\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R) \subseteq \operatorname{ETrans}(N)$. Therefore $\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R) = \operatorname{ETrans}(N)$. Also $\operatorname{ETrans}(N) \subseteq \operatorname{Trans}(N)$ and hence

$$E_{n+1}(R) = ETrans(N) \subset Trans(N) = E_{n+1}(R).$$

Therefore we have the second equality.

Lemma 5.4.6 Let I be an ideal of R and M be a free R module of rank $n \geq 2$, and $N = (R \perp M)$. Then

$$\operatorname{ETrans}(N, IN) = \operatorname{Trans}(N, IN) = \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R, I).$$

Proof: Note that when M is a free R module, an element of Trans(N, IN) looks like $I_{n+1} + v^t w$, for some $v, w \in R^{n+1}$, with either v or w unimodular and belongs to

 I^{n+1} ($\subseteq R^{n+1}$). Also $\langle v, w \rangle = 0$. Therefore $\operatorname{Trans}(N, IN) \subseteq \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R, I)$ (see Lemma 2.2.8).

For a free R-module M, the elements of ETrans(N, IN) are of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & I_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ x^t & I_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & I_n \end{pmatrix}^{-1},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ b^t & I_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & y \\ 0 & I_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ b^t & I_n \end{pmatrix}^{-1},$$

where $a, b \in M = \mathbb{R}^n$, and $x, y \in I^n(\subseteq \mathbb{R}^n)$. Hence $\operatorname{ETrans}(N, IN) \subseteq \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R, I)$. By Lemma 2.2.11 and Lemma 2.2.29 we have $\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R, I) \subseteq \operatorname{ETrans}(N, IN)$, hence $\operatorname{ETrans}(N, IN) = \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R, I)$. We have

$$E_{n+1}(R, I) = ETrans(N, IN) \subseteq Trans(N, IN) \subseteq E_{n+1}(R, I),$$

and hence the result follows.

5.5 Dilation for Elementary Transvections

Lemma 5.5.1 ([2], Proposition 3.1) Let M be a finitely generated module of R and a be non-nilpotent element of R such that M_a be free R_a -module of rank at least 2. Let $N = (R \perp M)$. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N_a[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X])$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$ for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$ and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Next we will establish a relative version of the above dilation principle (Lemma 5.5.1).

Lemma 5.5.2 Let I be an ideal of R and let M be a finitely generated module of R. Let a be non-nilpotent element of R such that M_a be free R_a -module of rank at least R. Let R = R + M. Let R = R + M. Let R = R + M be there exists R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Then there exists R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R. Let R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R = R + M be a finitely generated module of R

Proof: Given that M_a is a free R_a -module. Using Lemma 5.4.6 we get that $\operatorname{ETrans}(N_a[X], IN_a[X]) = \operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R_a[X], I_a[X])$. Now we use dilation principle for

the group $E_{n+1}(R[X], I[X])$ (see Theorem 3.3.3) to get $\beta^*(X) \in E_{n+1}(R[X], I[X])$ such that $\beta^*(X)_a = \alpha(b'X)$, for some $b' \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$.

Let us choose $\alpha^*(X)$ from ETrans(N[X], IN[X]) such that $\alpha^*(X)_a = \beta^*(X)_a$, over the ring $R_a[X]$. Using Lemma 2.2.4 we can say that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$ for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$ and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

5.6 Local Global Principle for Elementary Transvections

Lemma 5.6.1 ([2], Proposition 3.6) Let M be a finitely generated projective Rmodule of rank $n \geq 2$, and $N = (R \perp M)$. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Aut}(N[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is in $\operatorname{ETrans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X])$.

We state and prove a relative version of above Local Global principle. Local Global principle in the absolute case (Lemma 5.6.1) is a particular case of the Local Global principle in the relative case (Lemma 5.6.2) when I[X] = R[X].

Lemma 5.6.2 Let I be an ideal of R and let M be a finitely generated projective R-module of rank $n \geq 2$. Let $N = (R \perp M)$. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Aut}(N[X])$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IN_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X])$.

Proof: One can suitably choose an element $a_{\mathfrak{m}}$ from $R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\alpha(X)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \in \text{ETrans}(N_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X], IN_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X])$. Let us define

$$\beta(X,Y) = \alpha(X+Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \alpha(Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}^{-1}.$$

Clearly

$$\beta(X,Y) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y],IN_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y]),$$

and $\beta(0,Y) = Id$. Therefore $\beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}}X,Y) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X,Y],IN[X,Y])$, where $b_{\mathfrak{m}} \in (a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N)$, for some $N \gg 0$ (see Lemma 5.5.2). The ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Therefore we have $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Note that $\beta(c_ib_{\mathfrak{m}_i}X,Y) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X,Y],IN[X,Y])$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Hence

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta(c_i b_{\mathfrak{m}_i} X, T_i) \ \beta(c_k b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}, 0) \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X]),$$

where
$$T_i = c_{i+1}b_{\mathfrak{m}_{i+1}}X + \cdots + c_k b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$$
.

Now we prove action version of above Local Global principle.

Theorem 5.6.3 Let M be a finitely generated projective R-module of rank $n \geq 2$, and $N = (R \perp M)$. Let $q(X) = (a(X), p(X)) \in \text{Um}(N[X])$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $q(X) \in q(0)\text{ETrans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, then

$$q(X) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X]).$$

Here we establish a relative version of the above theorem. Theorem 5.6.3 is a particular case of Theorem 5.6.4 when I[X] = R[X].

Theorem 5.6.4 Let I be an ideal of R and let M be a finitely generated projective R-module of rank $n \geq 2$. Let $N = (R \perp M)$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $q(X) \in q(0)$ ETrans $(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IN_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, where q(X) = (a(X), p(X)) is in $U\mathfrak{m}(N[X], IN[X])$, then

$$q(X) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X]).$$

Proof: For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, we get $\alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) \in \mathrm{ETrans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IN_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ such that

$$q(X) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) = q(0).$$

Let us define

$$\beta(X,T) = \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X+T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}.$$

Clearly $\beta(X,T)$ is in ETrans $(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T],IN_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T])$. Since there are only finitely many denominators involved, there exists $a_{\mathfrak{m}} \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\beta(X,T)$ is in ETrans $(N_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T],IN_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T])$. Also $\beta(X,0)=Id$. This implies $\beta(X,b_{\mathfrak{m}}T)\in$ ETrans(N[X,T],IN[X,T]) for suitable $b_{\mathfrak{m}}\in(a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N), N\gg 0$ (see Lemma 5.5.2). Now,

$$q(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \beta(X, b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) = q(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$
$$= q(0) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$
$$= q(X).$$

Note that the ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Therefore $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. In the above equation replacing X by $c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ and $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X$ we get,

$$q(X) = q(b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X + b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X)$$

$$\in q(b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X]).$$

Again in the above equation replacing X by $b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X + \cdots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ and $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X$ we get,

$$q(b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \cdots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \in q(b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X + \cdots + b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X]).$$

Continuing in this way we get

$$q(b_{m_k}X + 0) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X]).$$

Combining all these we get

$$q(X) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(N[X], IN[X]).$$

Proposition 5.6.5 Let M be a finitely generated projective R-module of rank at least 2, and $N = (R \perp M)$. Then

$$Trans(N) = ETrans(N).$$

Proof: Note that $\operatorname{ETrans}(N) \subseteq \operatorname{Trans}(N)$. Let us consider an element $\alpha \in \operatorname{Trans}(N)$. There exists $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Trans}(N[X])$ such that $\alpha(1) = \alpha$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. We have $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{Trans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \operatorname{ETrans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ (see Lemma 5.4.5). This is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R and hence by Lemma 5.6.1 we have $\alpha(X)$ is in $\operatorname{ETrans}(N[X])$. Substituting X = 1 we get $\alpha \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N)$, and hence $\operatorname{Trans}(N) \subseteq \operatorname{ETrans}(N)$.

Similarly we can prove the following:

Proposition 5.6.6 Let I be an ideal of R. Let M be a finitely generated projective

R-module of rank at least 2, and $N = (R \perp M)$. Then

$$Trans(N, IN) = ETrans(N, IN).$$

Proof: Note that $\operatorname{ETrans}(N,IN) \subseteq \operatorname{Trans}(N,IN)$. Let us consider an element $\alpha \in \operatorname{Trans}(N,IN)$. There exists $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Trans}(N[X],IN[X])$ such that $\alpha(1) = \alpha$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. We have $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{Trans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X],IN_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \operatorname{ETrans}(N_{\mathfrak{m}}[X],IN_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ (see Lemma 5.4.6). This is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R and hence by Lemma 5.6.2 we have $\alpha(X)$ is in $\operatorname{ETrans}(N[X],IN[X])$. Substituting X=1 we get $\alpha \in \operatorname{ETrans}(N,IN)$, and hence $\operatorname{Trans}(N,IN) \subseteq \operatorname{ETrans}(N,IN)$.

5.7 Symplectic Modules and Symplectic Transvections

Definition 5.7.1 A symplectic R-module is a pair (P, \langle, \rangle) , where P is a finitely generated projective R-module of even rank and $\langle, \rangle : P \times P \longrightarrow R$ is a non-degenerate (i.e, $P \cong P^*$ by $x \longrightarrow \langle x, \rangle$) alternating bilinear form.

Definition 5.7.2 Let $(P_1, \langle, \rangle_1)$ and $(P_2, \langle, \rangle_2)$ be two symplectic R-modules. Their **orthogonal sum** is the pair (P, \langle, \rangle) , where $P = P_1 \oplus P_2$ and the inner product is defined by $\langle (p_1, p_2), (q_1, q_2) \rangle = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle_1 + \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle_2$.

There is a unique non-degenerate bilinear form \langle,\rangle on the R-module $\mathbb{H}(R) = R \oplus R^*$, namely $\langle (a_1, b_1), (a_2, b_2) \rangle = a_1b_2 - a_2b_1$.

Now onwards Q will denote $(R^2 \perp P)$ with induced form on $(\mathbb{H}(R) \perp P)$, and Q[X] will denote $(R[X]^2 \perp P[X])$ with induced form on $(\mathbb{H}(R[X]) \perp P[X])$.

Definition 5.7.3 An **isometry** of a symplectic module (P, \langle, \rangle) is an automorphism of P which fixes the bilinear form. The group of isometries of (P, \langle, \rangle) is denoted by $\operatorname{Sp}(P, \langle, \rangle)$.

Definition 5.7.4 In [7] Bass has defined a **symplectic transvection** of a symplectic module P to be an automorphism of the form

$$\sigma(p) = p + \langle u, p \rangle v + \langle v, p \rangle u + \alpha \langle u, p \rangle u,$$

where $\alpha \in R$ and $u, v \in P$ are fixed elements with $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$. It is easy to check

that $\langle \sigma(p), \sigma(q) \rangle = \langle p, q \rangle$ and σ has an inverse

$$\tau(p) = p - \langle u, p \rangle v - \langle v, p \rangle u - \alpha \langle u, p \rangle u.$$

The subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}(P, \langle, \rangle)$ generated by the symplectic transvections is denoted by $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P, \langle, \rangle)$ (see [33], Page 35).

Definition 5.7.5 The symplectic transvections of $Q = (R^2 \perp P)$ of the form

$$(a, b, p) \mapsto (a, b - \langle p, q \rangle + \alpha a, p + aq),$$

 $(a, b, p) \mapsto (a + \langle p, q \rangle - \beta b, b, p + bq),$

where $\alpha, \beta \in R$ and $q \in P$, are called **elementary symplectic transvections**.

The elementary symplectic transvections are symplectic transvections on Q. Take (u, v) = ((0, 1, 0), (0, 0, q)) and (u, v) = ((-1, 0, 0), (0, 0, q)) respectively to get the above two transvections of Q.

The subgroup of $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ generated by elementary symplectic transvections is denoted by $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$.

Definition 5.7.6 Let I be an ideal of R. The group of **relative symplectic** transvections w.r.t. an ideal I is generated by the symplectic transvections of the form

$$\sigma(p) = p + \langle u, p \rangle v + \langle v, p \rangle u + \alpha \langle u, p \rangle u,$$

where $\alpha \in I$ and $u \in P$, $v \in IP$ are fixed elements with $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$.

The group generated by relative symplectic transvections is denoted by $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P, IP, \langle, \rangle)$.

Definition 5.7.7 The elementary symplectic transvections of Q of the form

$$(a, b, p) \mapsto (a, b - \langle p, q \rangle + \alpha a, p + aq),$$

 $(a, b, p) \mapsto (a + \langle p, q \rangle - \beta b, b, p + bq),$

where $\alpha, \beta \in I$ and $q \in IP$ are called **relative elementary symplectic transvections** w.r.t. an ideal I.

The subgroup of $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ generated by relative elementary symplectic transvections is denoted by $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(IQ,\langle,\rangle)$. The normal closure of $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(IQ,\langle,\rangle)$

in $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ is denoted by $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle)$.

Definition 5.7.8 The subgroup of $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ generated by

$$(a, b, p) \mapsto (a, b - \langle p, \widetilde{q} \rangle + \alpha a, p + a \widetilde{q}),$$

 $(a, b, p) \mapsto (a + \langle p, q \rangle - \alpha b, b, p + b q),$

with $\widetilde{q} \in IP$, is denoted by $\mathrm{ETrans}^1_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle)$.

Remark 5.7.9 Let P be a free R-module and $\langle p,q\rangle=p\varphi q^t$, where φ be an alternating matrix with Pfaffian 1.

In this case the symplectic transvection

$$\sigma(p) = p + \langle u, p \rangle v + \langle v, p \rangle u + \alpha \langle u, p \rangle u$$

corresponds to the following matrix:

$$(I_{2n} - v^t u\varphi - u^t v\varphi)(I_{2n} - \alpha u^t u\varphi);$$

and the group generated by them is denoted by $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi})$.

Also in this case $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi})$ will be generated by the matrices of the form

$$\rho_{\varphi}(q,\alpha) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 & q\varphi \\ q^{t} & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mu_{\varphi}(q,\beta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\beta & -q\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & q^{t} & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that for $q=(q_1,\ldots,q_{2n})\in R^{2n}$, and for the standard alternating matrix ψ_n , we have

$$\rho_{\psi}(q,\alpha) = se_{21}(\alpha) \prod_{i=3}^{2n+2} se_{i1}(q_{i-2}), \qquad (5.5)$$

$$\mu_{\psi}(q,\beta) = se_{12}(\beta) \prod_{i=3}^{2n+2} se_{1i}((-1)^{i}q_{\sigma(i-2)}). \qquad (5.6)$$

$$\mu_{\psi}(q,\beta) = se_{12}(\beta) \prod_{i=3}^{2n+2} se_{1i}((-1)^{i} q_{\sigma(i-2)}).$$
 (5.6)

Lemma 5.7.10 Let R be a commutative ring with R=2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let P be a free R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $\varphi = \psi_n$, the standard alternating matrix, then

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}) &=& \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R), \\ & \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}) &=& \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R,I), \\ & \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}^1(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}) &=& \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}^1(R,I). \end{aligned}$$

Proof: From equations (5.5) and (5.6) it follows that

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R).$$

Using the commutator identities for the (standard) elementary generators of the group $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)$ it follows that $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)$ is generated by the elements $se_{1i}(a), se_{j1}(b), 1 < i \neq j \leq 2n, a, b \in R$, and hence $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R) \subseteq \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$. Therefore the first equality holds.

To show the second equality let us first show $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$ is a subset of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R, I)$. It is enough to show that an element of the form

$$t_{\psi_n}(q_1, \alpha) \ s_{\psi_n}(q_2, \beta) \ t_{\psi_n}(q_1, \alpha)^{-1}$$

is in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$, for $q_1 \in R^{2n}$, $q_2 \in I^{2n}$, $\alpha \in R$ and $\beta \in I$. Here t_{ψ_n} and s_{ψ_n} are ρ_{ψ_n} or μ_{ψ_n} . Using the definition of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ and equations (5.5), (5.6) we get

$$t_{\psi_n}(q_1, \alpha) \ s_{\psi_n}(q_2, \beta) \ t_{\psi_n}(q_1, \alpha)^{-1} \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$$

and hence

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I).$$

To show the other inclusion we recall the equivalent definition of the relative group which says that $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ is the smallest normal subgroup of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R)$ containing $se_{21}(x)$, where $x \in I$ (see Lemma 2.2.29). We need to show

$$g \ se_{21}(x) \ g^{-1} \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}),$$

where $g \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R) = \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$. Therefore $g \ se_{21}(x) \ g^{-1}$ belongs to $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$ and

$$\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}),$$

and hence the second equality is established.

Generators of ETrans¹_{Sp} $(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$ is of the form $\rho_{\psi_n}(q_1, \alpha)$, $\mu_{\psi_n}(q_2, \beta)$, where $q_1 \in I^{2n-1}$, $\alpha \in I$, $q_2 \in R^{2n-1}$ and $\beta \in R$. By equations (5.5) and (5.6) we have $\rho_{\psi_n}(q_1, \alpha)$, $\mu_{\psi_n}(q_2, \beta) \in \text{ESp}^1_{2n}(R, I)$, and hence

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}^1(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}^1(R, I).$$

On the other hand generators of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I)$ are of the form $se_{1i}(a), se_{j1}(x)$, where $a \in R$ and $x \in I$. Using equations (5.5) and (5.6) we get $se_{1i}(a), se_{j1}(x) \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}^1(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$, and hence $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}^1(R,I) \subseteq \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}^1(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n})$. Therefore the third equality is established.

Lemma 5.7.11 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let P be a free R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $\varphi = \psi_n$, the standard alternating matrix, then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R),$$

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R, I),$$

Proof: Using Lemma 2.2.22 and Lemma 2.2.23 it follows that

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1\perp\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R),$$

 $\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1\perp\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R,I).$

Also

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}),$$

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_n}) \subseteq \operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}).$$

Therefore using previous lemma we have

$$\mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R) = \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) \subseteq \mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}) \subseteq \mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R),$$

and hence the first sequence of equalities follow. The second sequence of equalities follow similarly. \Box

Lemma 5.7.12 Let P be a free R-module of rank 2n. Let $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ and $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ be two symplectic R-modules with $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \varphi^* (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi^*}) (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi^*}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)).$$

Proof: In the free case for symplectic transvections we have

$$(I_{2n} - v^t u\varphi - u^t v\varphi)(I_{2n} - \alpha u^t u\varphi)$$

$$= (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} (I_{2n} - \tilde{v}^t \tilde{u}\varphi^* - \tilde{u}^t \tilde{v}\varphi^*) (I_{2n} - \alpha \tilde{u}^t \tilde{u}\varphi^*) (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

where $\tilde{u} = u(1 \perp \varepsilon)^t$ and $\tilde{v} = v(1 \perp \varepsilon)^t$. Hence the first equality follows.

For elementary symplectic transvections we have

$$(I_2 \perp (1 \perp \varepsilon))^{-1} \rho_{\varphi^*}(q, \alpha) (I_2 \perp (1 \perp \varepsilon))$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \rho_{\varphi^*}(q, \alpha) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \rho_{\varphi}(q(1 \perp \varepsilon^t)^{-1}, \alpha),$$

and

$$(I_2 \perp (1 \perp \varepsilon))^{-1} \mu_{\varphi^*}(q, \beta) (I_2 \perp (1 \perp \varepsilon))$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \mu_{\varphi^*}(q, \beta) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \mu_{\varphi}(q(1 \perp \varepsilon^t)^{-1}, \beta),$$

and hence the second equality follows.

Lemma 5.7.13 Let I be an ideal of R and P be a free R-module of rank 2n. Let $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ and $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ be two symplectic R-modules with $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \varphi^* (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R, I)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P, IP, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(P, IP, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}}) (1 \perp \varepsilon),$$

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = (I_{3} \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}}) (I_{3} \perp \varepsilon),$$

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}^{1}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = (I_{3} \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}^{1}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^{*}}) (I_{3} \perp \varepsilon).$$

Proof: Using the three equations appear in the proof of Lemma 5.7.12, we get these equalities. $\hfill\Box$

Proposition 5.7.14 Let $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free of rank 2n. Let $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{E}_{2n-1}(R)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_\varphi) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}(R).$$

Proof: Using Lemma 5.1.5, Lemma 5.1.6, Lemma 5.7.10 and Lemma 5.7.12 we get,

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}) = (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2+2n}(R) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}(R) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R),$$

and

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2+2n}(R) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}(R) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon))$$

$$= \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R),$$

and hence the sequence of equalities are established.

Now we state and prove a relative version of the above proposition.

Proposition 5.7.15 Let R be a commutative ring with R=2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R, I)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R, I).$$

Proof: Using Lemma 5.1.5, Lemma 5.1.7, Lemma 5.7.10 and Lemma 5.7.13 we get,

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}) = (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2+2n}(R, I) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}(R, I) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R, I),$$

and

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2+2n}(R, I) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \psi_n}(R, I) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon))$$

$$= \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R, I),$$

and hence the sequence of equalities are established.

Remark 5.7.16 In view of above two lemmas, for any symplectic module $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ over a local ring (R, \mathfrak{m}) , we have

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}(R),$$

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,IQ,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}(R,I).$$

Here I is an ideal of the ring R.

5.8 Dilation for Elementary Symplectic Transvections

Proposition 5.8.1 Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 1$. Let $a \in R$ be non-nilpotent and $(P_a, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic module with P_a be a free R_a -module. Also let $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R_a)$ over the ring R_a . Let $\alpha(X) \in \text{ETrans}_{Sp}(Q_a[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in \text{ETrans}_{Sp}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle)$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$ for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: Let $\alpha(X) = \prod_{l=1}^{s} t_{\varphi}(g_{l}(X), \alpha_{l}(X))$, where t_{φ} is either ρ_{φ} or μ_{φ} and $g_{l}(X) \in (R_{a}[X])^{2n}$, $\alpha_{l}(X) \in R_{a}[X]$. Having $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^{t} \psi_{n} \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, with some $\varepsilon \in (R_{a}[X])^{2n}$

 $E_{2n-1}(R_a)$, will allow us to write

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{l=1}^{s} (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} t_{\psi_n}(f_l(X), \alpha_l(X))(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \Big(\prod_{l=1}^{s} t_{\psi_n}(f_l(X), \alpha_l(X)) \Big) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1} \eta(X)(I_3 \perp \varepsilon),$$

where $f_l(X) = g_l(X)(1 \perp \varepsilon^t)$, and $\eta(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R_a[X])$ (see Lemma 5.7.10 and Lemma 5.7.12). Note that $\eta(0) = Id$, as $\alpha(0) = Id$. Therefore,

$$\eta(X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k \ se_{i_k j_k}(X h_k(X)) \ \gamma_k^{-1},$$

where $f_k(X) = f(0) + Xh_k(X)$ and $\gamma_k \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n+2}(R_a)$ (see Lemma 2.2.27). Now,

$$\eta(Y^{2^{r+1}}X) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} \gamma_k s e_{i_k j_k} (Y^{2^{r+1}}X h_k (Y^{2^{r+1}}X)) \gamma_k^{-1}
= \prod_{t=1}^{l} s e_{p_t q_t} (Y^2 u_t (X, Y))
= \prod_{t=1}^{l} [s e_{p_t 1}(Y), s e_{1q_t} (Y u_t (X, Y))],$$

where $u_t(X,Y) \in R_a[X,Y]$. The second equality above follows from Lemma 2.2.28. Taking $N = M^{2^{r+1}}$ we get,

$$\alpha(a^{N}XY^{2^{r+1}}) = \alpha((a^{M}Y)^{2^{r+1}}X)$$

$$= (I_{3} \perp \varepsilon)^{-1}\eta((a^{M}Y)^{2^{r+1}}X)(I_{3} \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= (I_{3} \perp \varepsilon)^{-1}\prod_{t=1}^{s}[se_{p_{t}1}(a^{M}Y), se_{1q_{t}}(a^{M}Yu_{t}(X,Y))](I_{3} \perp \varepsilon).$$

Note that

$$se_{p_t 1}(a^M Y) = \begin{cases} \rho_{\psi_n}(0, a^M Y) & \text{if } p_t = 2, \\ \rho_{\psi_n}(a^M Y e_{p_t - 2}, 0) & \text{if } p_t \ge 3, \end{cases}$$

and

$$se_{1q_t}(a^M Y u_t(X, Y)) = \begin{cases} \mu_{\psi_n}(0, a^M Y u_t(X, Y)) & \text{if } q_t = 2, \\ \mu_{\psi_n}(a^M Y u_t(X, Y) e_{\sigma(q_t - 2)}, 0) & \text{if } q_t \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

 ${\bf Also}$

$$(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1})\rho_{\psi_n}(0, a^M Y)(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \rho_{\varphi}(0, a^M Y),$$

$$(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1})\rho_{\psi_n}(a^M Y e_{p_t - 2}, 0)(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \rho_{\varphi}(a^M Y e_{p_t - 2}(1 \perp \varepsilon^t)^{-1}), 0),$$

and

$$(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1})\mu_{\psi_n}(0, a^M Y u_t(X, Y))(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \mu_{\varphi}(0, a^M Y u_t(X, Y)),$$

$$(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)^{-1})\mu_{\psi_n}(a^M Y u_t(X, Y) e_{\sigma(q_t - 2)}, 0)(I_3 \perp \varepsilon)$$

$$= \mu_{\varphi}(a^M Y u_t(X, Y) e_{\sigma(q_t - 2)}(1 \perp \varepsilon^t)^{-1}).$$

Let us fix some notations here.

$$\overline{\rho}(p_t) = \begin{cases} \rho_{\varphi}(0, a^M Y) & \text{if } p_t = 2, \\ \rho_{\varphi}(a^M Y e_{p_t - 2}(1 \perp \varepsilon^t)^{-1}), 0) & \text{if } p_t \ge 3, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\overline{\mu}(q_t) = \begin{cases} \mu_{\varphi}(0, a^M Y u_t(X, Y)) & \text{if } q_t = 2, \\ \mu_{\varphi}(a^M Y u_t(X, Y) e_{\sigma(q_t - 2)} (1 \perp \varepsilon^t)^{-1}), 0) & \text{if } q_t \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

Note that

$$\alpha(a^{N}XY^{2^{r+1}}) = \prod_{t=1}^{s} [\overline{\rho}(p_t), \overline{\mu}(q_t)].$$

Let $\alpha^*(X) \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle)$ be such that

$$\alpha^*(X)_a = \prod_{t=1}^s [\overline{\rho}(p_t), \overline{\mu}(q_t)].$$

Using Lemma 2.2.4 we can claim that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Next we state and prove a relative version of Proposition 5.8.1. We can prove Proposition 5.8.1 in the way we prove Proposition 5.8.2, without involving commutator identities.

Proposition 5.8.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $a \in R$ be non-nilpotent and $(P_a, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic module with P_a be a free R_a -module. Also let $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in E_{2n-1}(R_a, I_a)$ over the ring R_a . Let $\alpha(X) \in \text{ETrans}_{Sp}(Q_a[X], IQ_a[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. Then there exists $\alpha^*(X) \in \text{ETrans}_{Sp}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle)$ such that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

Proof: By Lemma 5.7.15 we have

$$\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_a[X], IQ_a[X], \langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R_a[X], I_a[X]),$$

and using dilation principle for $\mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R[X], I[X])$ (see Lemma 5.2.2) we get a $\beta(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R[X], I[X])$ such that $\beta(X)_a = \alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$. Now we choose a $\alpha^*(X)$ from $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle)$ such that $\alpha^*(X)_a = \beta(X)_a$. Using Lemma 2.2.4 we claim that $\alpha^*(X)$ localises to $\alpha(bX)$, for some $b \in (a^N)$, $N \gg 0$, and $\alpha^*(0) = Id$.

5.9 Local Global principle for $ETrans_{Sp}(Q)$

Lemma 5.9.1 Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, $n \geq 1$. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q[X], \langle.\rangle)$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, then $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle)$.

Next we state and prove a relative version of the above lemma. Lemma 5.9.1 can be treated as a particular case of Lemma 5.9.2, when I[X] = R[X].

Lemma 5.9.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R=2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q[X], \langle. \rangle)$, with $\alpha(0) = Id$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$, then

$$\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

Proof: Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. One can suitably choose an element $a_{\mathfrak{m}}$ from $R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\alpha(X)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X], IQ_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X], \langle,\rangle_{\varphi_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}})$, where $\varphi_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}$ is the alternating matrix with Pfaffian 1 corresponding to the alternating form $\langle,\rangle_{\varphi_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}}$. Also $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} = (1 \perp \varepsilon)^t \psi_n \ (1 \perp \varepsilon)$, for some $\varepsilon \in \mathrm{E}_{2n-1}(R_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}, I_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}})$. Let us define

$$\beta(X,Y) = \alpha(X+Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}} \alpha(Y)_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}^{-1}.$$

Clearly

$$\beta(X,Y) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y], IQ_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,Y], \langle,\rangle_{\varphi_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}}),$$

and $\beta(0,Y) = Id$. Therefore $\beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}}X,Y) \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X,Y],IQ[X,Y],\langle,\rangle)$, where $b_{\mathfrak{m}} \in (a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N)$ for $N \gg 0$ (see Proposition 5.8.2). The ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Therefore we have $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Note that $\beta(c_ib_{\mathfrak{m}_i}X,Y) \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X,Y],IQ[X,Y],\langle,\rangle)$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. Now,

$$\alpha(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}_{i}}X, T_{i}) \ \beta(b_{\mathfrak{m}_{k}}, 0) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle)$$

where
$$T_i = c_{i+1}b_{\mathfrak{m}_{i+1}}X + \cdots + c_k b_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$$
.

Here we state and prove action version of above Local Global principle.

Theorem 5.9.3 Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank $2n, n \geq 1$. Let $q(X) = (a(X), b(X), p(X)) \in \mathrm{Um}(Q[X])$. If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $q(X) \in q(0)$ ETrans_{Sp} $(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, then

$$q(X) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

Next we state and prove a relative version of the above theorem. Theorem 5.9.3 can be treated as a particular case of Theorem 5.9.4, when I[X] = R[X].

Theorem 5.9.4 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let q(X) = (a(X), b(X), p(X)) is in Um(Q[X], IQ[X]). If for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, we have $q(X) \in q(0)$ ETrans_{Sp} $(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$, then

$$q(X) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

Proof: For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, we will find an element $\alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)$ from $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]})$ such that

$$q(X) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) = q(0).$$

Let us define

$$\beta(X,T) = \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X+T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}.$$

Clearly $\beta(X,T)$ is in $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T],IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T],\langle,\rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$. Since there are only finitely many denominators, there exists $a_{\mathfrak{m}} \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\beta(X,T)$ is in $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}[X,T],IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X,T],\langle,\rangle_{\varphi_{a_{\mathfrak{m}}}})$. Also $\beta(X,0)=Id$. This implies $\beta(X,b_{\mathfrak{m}}T)$ is in $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X,T],IQ[X,T],\langle,\rangle)$, for suitable $b_{\mathfrak{m}} \in (a_{\mathfrak{m}}^N)$ (see Proposition 5.8.2). Now,

$$q(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \beta(X, b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) = q(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X + b_{\mathfrak{m}}T) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$
$$= q(0) \alpha_{(\mathfrak{m})}(X)^{-1}$$
$$= q(X)$$

Note that the ideal generated by $b_{\mathfrak{m}}$'s is the whole ring R. Therefore $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1} + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k} = 1$, where $c_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq k$. In the above equation replacing $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X$ and X by $c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \cdots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ we get,

$$q(X) = q(c_1b_{\mathfrak{m}_1}X + \dots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X)$$

$$\in q(c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X,T], IQ[X,T], \langle, \rangle).$$

In the above equation replacing $b_{\mathfrak{m}}T$ by $c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X$ and X by $c_3b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X+\cdots+c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X$ we get

$$q(c_2b_{\mathfrak{m}_2}X + \dots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X)$$

$$\in q(c_3b_{\mathfrak{m}_3}X + \dots + c_kb_{\mathfrak{m}_k}X) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X,T], IQ[X,T], \langle, \rangle).$$

Continuing in this way we get

$$q(X) \in q(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

5.10 Equality of Trans_{Sp} (Q, \langle, \rangle) , ETrans_{Sp} (Q, \langle, \rangle) and ESp_{φ}(R)

In this section we establish equality of the above mentioned groups.

Theorem 5.10.1 Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank $2n, n \geq 1$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle).$$

Proof: By definition $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle) \subseteq \mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$. We need to show $\mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle) \subseteq \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$. Let $\alpha \in \mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$. There exists $\alpha(X)$ in $\mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X],\langle,\rangle_{\varphi\otimes R[X]})$ such that $\alpha(1)=\alpha$ and $\alpha(0)=Id$. For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, one has

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$$

(see Remark 5.7.16). Hence $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Using Lemma 5.9.1 we get $\alpha(X)$ is in $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle)$ and hence substituting X = 1 we get $\alpha \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle)$.

Theorem 5.10.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Also assume for any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, the alternating form \langle, \rangle corresponds to the alternating matrix $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$, over the ring

 $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle).$$

Proof: We have $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle) \subseteq \mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle)$. We need to show $\mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle) \subseteq \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle)$. Let $\alpha \in \mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle)$. There exists $\alpha(X)$ in $\mathrm{Trans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X]\langle, \rangle_{\varphi \otimes R[X]})$ such that $\alpha(1) = \alpha$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, one has

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$$

(see Remark 5.7.16). Hence $\alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle,\rangle_{\varphi \otimes R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]})$, for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Therefore from Lemma 5.9.2 it follows that $\alpha(X)$ is in $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle,\rangle)$ and hence substituting X=1 we get the result. \square

We now come to main theorems of this chapter.

Theorem 5.10.3 Let $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free of rank 2n, $n \geq 1$. Let $\langle u, v \rangle = u\varphi v^t$, where φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Then

$$\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R).$$

Proof: Let $\delta \in \text{ETrans}_{\text{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$. There exists a

$$\delta(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$$

such that $\delta(1) = \delta$ and $\delta(0) = Id$. For any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} in R,

$$\delta(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

(see Remark 5.7.16). By Lemma 5.3.1 it follows that

$$\delta(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 + \varphi}(R[X]),$$

and hence $\delta \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R)$.

Let $\omega \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R)$. There exists $\omega(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R[X])$ such that $\omega(1) = \omega$ and $\omega(0) = Id$. For any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} in R,

$$\omega(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$$

(see Remark 5.7.16). By Lemma 5.9.1 it follows that

$$\omega(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}),$$

and hence $\omega \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$.

Arguing exactly in the similar way we establish a relative version of the above theorem. We state the relative version of Theorem 5.10.3 below.

Theorem 5.10.4 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $(P, \langle , \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $\langle u, v \rangle = u\varphi v^t$, where φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 such that $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Then

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R, I).$$

Remark 5.10.5 Let $(P, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$ be a symplectic R-module with P free R-module of rank $2n, n \geq 1$. Let $\langle u, v \rangle = u\varphi v^t$, where φ is an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1\perp\varphi}(R).$$

Moreover, let us assume R = 2R, and I be an ideal of R. Let P free R-module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$, and let $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Trans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{ESp}_{\psi_1 \perp \varphi}(R, I).$$

5.11 Equality of orbits

In this section we establish main result of the thesis regarding equality of orbits.

Theorem 5.11.1 Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1. Then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R)/\operatorname{ESp}_{\varphi}(R) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R)/\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R),$$

is bijective for $n \geq 2$.

Now we establish a relative version of the above theorem. Theorem 5.11.1 can be treated as a particular case of Theorem 5.11.2, when I = R.

Theorem 5.11.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let φ be an alternating matrix of Pfaffian 1 such that $\varphi \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$. Then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)/\operatorname{ESp}_{\omega}(R,I) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)/\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R,I)$$

is bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: It is easy to show that the map is surjective. To show injectivity the map we need to consider $v, w \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$ and $g \in \mathrm{E}_{2n}(R,I)$ such that vg = w. We have to show w is in the same $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R,I)$ -orbit of v. Let g(X) be in $\mathrm{E}_{2n}(R[X],I[X])$ such that g(1) = g, and g(0) = Id (see Lemma 2.2.3). Let us define

$$V(X) = v g(X).$$

For each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R we have $\varphi = (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^t \psi_n(1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))$, for some $\varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}) \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-1}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}})$, over the ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$. We define

$$V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) = v g_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}.$$

Note that $V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(0) = v \ (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$. We have

$$V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) \in V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(0) \to_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]).$$

Using Theorem 4.2.2 we can say

$$V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) \in V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(0) \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]).$$

Therefore there exists $h(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ such that

$$V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(X) h(X) = V^{(\mathfrak{m})}(0).$$

This implies $vg_{\mathfrak{m}}(X)(1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}h(X) = v(1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$, which means

$$V_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) = V_{\mathfrak{m}}(0) (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} h(X)^{-1} (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})),$$

i.e, $V_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) \in V_{\mathfrak{m}}(0)$ ESp $_{\varphi}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ for each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} in R (see Lemma 5.1.5 and Lemma 5.1.7). Using Theorem 5.3.4 we get an $\alpha(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R[X], I[X])$ such that $V(X) = V(0)\alpha(X)$. Substituting X = 1 we get $vg = v\alpha(1)$ where $\alpha(1) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R, I)$. Hence w is in the same $\mathrm{ESp}_{\varphi}(R, I)$ orbit of v.

Theorem 5.11.3 Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, $n \geq 1$ and $v = (a, b, p) \in \mathrm{Um}(Q)$. Then

$$(a, b, p)$$
 ETrans $(Q) = (a, b, p)$ ETrans_{Sp} (Q, \langle, \rangle) .

Here we state and prove a relative version of the above theorem. Theorem 5.11.3 can be treated as a particular case of Theorem 5.11.4, when I = R.

Theorem 5.11.4 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of rank 2n, $n \geq 2$. Let $v = (a, b, p) \in \text{Um}(Q, IQ)$. Then

$$(a, b, p) \operatorname{ETrans}(Q, IQ) = (a, b, p) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle).$$

Here we also assume that of each maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, the alternating form \langle , \rangle corresponds to the alternating matrix $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$, over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$.

Proof: Let $\alpha \in \text{ETrans}(Q, IQ)$. Let us choose $\alpha(X)$ from ETrans(Q[X], IQ[X]) such that $\alpha(1) = \alpha$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. Let us define $V(X) = (a, b, p)\alpha(X)$. Note that V(0) = (a, b, p), and

$$V(X) \in V(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(Q[X], IQ[X]).$$

Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. Over $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, we have $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} = (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^t \psi_n$ $(1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))$, where $\varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}) \in E_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}})$. Let us define W(X) = V(X) $(1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$. We have

$$W(X) \in W(0) \to \mathbb{E}_{2n+2}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

$$= W(0) \to \mathbb{E}_{2n+2}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

$$= W(0) \to \mathbb{E}_{2n+2}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]), \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n},$$

and hence

$$V(X) \in V(0) (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\psi_n}) (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))$$

$$= V(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}).$$

This is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, and hence by Theorem 5.9.4 we get $V(X) \in V(0)$ ETrans_{Sp} $(Q[X], I[X], \langle, \rangle)$. Substituting X = 1 we get

$$(a, b, p) \alpha \in (a, b, p) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle).$$

Now we consider β from $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q, IQ, \langle, \rangle)$. Let $\beta(X)$ be an element of $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle)$ such that $\beta(1) = \beta$ and $\beta(0) = Id$. We define $V(X) = (a, b, p)\beta(X)$. Note that

$$V(X) \in V(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q[X], IQ[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. Over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, we define $W(X) = V(X) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$. We have

$$W(X) \in W(0) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})) \ \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}) \ (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$$

$$= W(0) \ \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\psi_{n}})$$

$$= W(0) \ \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

$$= W(0) \ \operatorname{E}_{2n+2}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]),$$

and hence

$$\begin{split} V(X) &\in V(0) \ \mathrm{E}_{2n+2}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) \\ &= V(0) \ \mathrm{ETrans}(Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], IQ_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]). \end{split}$$

This is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, and hence by Theorem 5.6.4 we have $V(X) \in V(0)$ ETrans(Q[X], IQ[X]). Substituting X = 1, we get

$$(a, b, p) \beta \in (a, b, p) \operatorname{ETrans}(Q, IQ).$$

Chapter 6

Excision Theorem

In this chapter we first recall the Excision Theorem of W. van der Kallen (see Theorem 6.1.1). We also recall the definition of the Excision ring in the linear case and its properties. We shall then prove similar results (see Theorem 6.3.2), following the lead of van der Kallen in Theorem 6.1.1, for the relative elementary symplectic groups. We also prove Excision theorem for the elementary symplectic transvection group in the free case.

The Excision theorem (Theorem 6.1.1) of van der Kallen enables one to transform a problem on unimodular rows from the relative case ($I \neq R$) to the absolute case.

6.1 Excision Ring and Excision Theorem

The Excision ring $(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)$: If I is an ideal in R, one can then construct the ring $\mathbb{Z} \oplus I$ with multiplication defined by $(n \oplus i)(m \oplus j) = (nm \oplus nj + mi + ij)$, for $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $i, j \in I$. The maximal spectrum of the ring $\mathbb{Z} \oplus I$ is Noetherian, being the union of finitely many subspaces of dimension $\leq \dim(R)$. There is also a natural homomorphism $\varphi : \mathbb{Z} \oplus I \longrightarrow R$ given by $(m \oplus i) \mapsto m + i \in R$.

Theorem 6.1.1 (W. van der Kallen) ([15], Theorem 3.21) Let I be an ideal in R. Then the natural maps

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{n}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{n}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{E}_{n}(R, I)},
\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{n}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{n}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{n}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{n}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)},$$

are bijective for $n \geq 3$.

6.2 Discussion on The Excision Theorem

The critical input in W. van der Kallen's proof of Excision theorem is that if $v = (1 + a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) \in \text{Um}_n(R, I), n \geq 3$, then he observed that

$$v E_{ij}(t) = v E_{1j}(a_i t) E_{ij}(-a_1 t), \text{ for } 2 \le i \ne j \le n,$$

 $v E_{i1}(t) = v E_{ij}(t) E_{j1}(1) E_{ij}(-t) E_{j1}(-1).$

Using these formulae he was able to transform a problem on elementary orbit to a problem on relative elementary orbit.

We first tried this direct approach in the case of elementary symplectic orbits. One can make similar observations with $se_{ij}(t)$, in very special cases (of the short roots). First we will discuss it.

Let $v = (1 + a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{2n}) \in \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I), n \geq 2$. Let i be an odd integer. Then,

$$v \ se_{ii+1}(t) = v \ se_{1i+1}(a_it + a_1a_it) \ se_{ii+1}(-2a_1t - a_1^2t) \ se_{12}(-a_i^2t).$$

Proof:

$$v$$

$$\downarrow^{se_{1i+1}(a_it+a_1a_it)}$$

$$(1+a_1, a_2 + a_i^2t + a_1a_i^2t, \dots, a_{i+1} + a_it + 2a_1a_it + a_1^2a_it, \dots, a_{2n})$$

$$\downarrow^{se_{ii+1}(-2a_1t-a_1^2t)}$$

$$(1+a_1, a_2 + a_i^2t + a_1a_i^2t, \dots, a_{i+1} + a_it, \dots, a_{2n})$$

$$\downarrow^{se_{12}(-a_i^2t)}$$

$$(1+a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{i+1} + a_it, \dots, a_{2n}).$$

Again let $v = (1 + a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{2n}) \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R, I), n \geq 2$. Let i be an even integer. Then,

$$v \ se_{ii-1}(t) = v \ se_{1i-1}(a_it + a_1a_it) \ se_{ii-1}(-2a_1t - a_1^2t) \ se_{12}(a_i^2t).$$

Proof:

$$v$$

$$\downarrow^{se_{1i-1}(a_it+a_1a_it)}$$

$$(1+a_1, a_2 - a_i^2t - a_1a_i^2t, \dots, a_{i-1} + a_it + 2a_1a_it + a_1^2a_it, \dots, a_{2n})$$

$$\downarrow^{se_{ii-1}(-2a_1t - a_1^2t)}$$

$$(1+a_1, a_2 - a_i^2t - a_1a_i^2t, \dots, a_{i-1} + a_it, \dots, a_{2n})$$

$$\downarrow^{se_{12}(a_i^2t)}$$

$$(1+a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{i-1} + a_it, \dots, a_{2n}).$$

However we were unable to get direct proofs as above in other cases (of the long roots).

6.3 Symplectic Analogue of The Excision Theorem

Here we will see again that the Local Global principle w.r.t. an extended ideal (Theorem 3.2.3) plays an important role in the proof of symplectic analogue of the Excision Theorem. Theorem 3.2.3 along with Lemma 2.2.17, Lemma 2.2.21 and Lemma 2.2.25 will be employed to prove the following lemma.

Lemma 6.3.1 Let $n \geq 3$. Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$. Then for $t \in R$,

$$v \ se_{ij}(t) \in v \ \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I),$$

when $i \neq 1, j \neq 2$.

Proof: Using Lemma 2.2.21 we get ε_0 from $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$ such that $v\varepsilon_0 = (1+x_1,x_2,\ldots,x_{2n})$, where $x_1,\ldots,x_{2n}\in I^4$. Let $v^*=v\varepsilon_0$. For any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R there exists $E(\mathfrak{m})\in\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}},I_{\mathfrak{m}}^4)$ such that $v_{\mathfrak{m}}^*=e_1\mathrm{E}(\mathfrak{m})$ by Lemma 2.2.17. (Note here that when $I^4\nsubseteq\mathfrak{m}$, the relative group $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}},I_{\mathfrak{m}}^4)=\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}})$. So one can either appeal to L.N. Vaserstein's lemma, or infer it independently as in the proof of Lemma 2.2.17). Using Lemma 2.2.25 we get $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}},I_{\mathfrak{m}}^4)\subseteq\mathrm{E}(n,I_{\mathfrak{m}}^2)$. Let us

define $V(Y) = v^* se_{ij}(tY)$. Note that $V(0) = v^*$. We have,

$$v_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} se_{ij}(tY) = e_{1} \operatorname{E}(\mathfrak{m}) se_{ij}(tY)$$

$$= e_{1} se_{ij}(tY) se_{ij}(-tY) \operatorname{E}(\mathfrak{m}) se_{ij}(tY)$$

$$= e_{1} se_{ij}(-tY) \operatorname{E}(\mathfrak{m}) se_{ij}(tY)$$

$$= v_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \operatorname{E}(\mathfrak{m})^{-1} se_{ij}(-tY) \operatorname{E}(\mathfrak{m}) se_{ij}(tY).$$

Let us fix a notation $E(\mathfrak{m})^{-1}$ $se_{ij}(-tY)$ $E(\mathfrak{m})$ $se_{ij}(tY) = E$. Note that $E \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[Y], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[Y]^2)$. By Lemma 2.2.25 we have $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[Y], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[Y]^2)$ is a subset of $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I_{\mathfrak{m}}[Y])$. Therefore $V(Y)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in V(0)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(I_{\mathfrak{m}}[Y])$. By Theorem 3.2.3, there exists $\mathrm{E}_0(Y) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R[Y], I[Y])$ such that $V(Y) = V(0)\mathrm{E}_0(Y)$. Put Y = 1, to get $v^*se_{ij}(t) = v^*\mathrm{E}_0(1)$, where $\mathrm{E}_0(1) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$, i.e. $v\varepsilon_0se_{ij}(t) = v\varepsilon_0\mathrm{E}_0(1)$. Hence $vse_{ij}(t) \in v\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)$.

Theorem 6.3.2 which appears next, is a symplectic analogue of W. van der Kallen's Excision theorem. We now prove the following theorem.

Theorem 6.3.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Then the natural maps

$$\Phi: \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)},
\Psi: \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)},$$

are bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: The map Φ is surjective because of the same reason for which the first map in Theorem 6.1.1 is surjective; we sketch the proof for completeness.

We have to show that given $[v] \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)/\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)$, there exists a $[w] \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)/\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$ such that [w] maps to [v] by the natural map. We can think of v as a vector from $(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}$. Note that $v \equiv e_1 \pmod{0 \oplus I}$. We will try to show $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$. For this we need to show there exists $y \in (\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}$ such that $\langle v, y \rangle = 1$.

(Note that $(b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_{2n}) \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R)$ and hence $(b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_{2n})$ is in $\mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R)$. Because if $(b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_{2n}) \notin \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R)$, then ideal generated by

$$\{b_1, b_2^2, \dots, b_{2n}^2\} \subseteq \mathfrak{m}_R,$$

for some maximal ideal of R. But $b_i^2 \in \mathfrak{m}_R$ implies $b_i \in \mathfrak{m}_R$ since \mathfrak{m}_R is prime ideal. Therefore $\{b_1, b_2, \dots, b_{2n}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{m}_R$, a contradiction.)

Let
$$v = (1 + x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{2n}) \in \text{Um}_{2n}(R, I)$$
. Take

$$u = (1 + x_1, x_2^2, \dots, x_{2n}^2) \in \operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I).$$

Then $\bar{u} = (1, 0, ..., 0) \in (R/I)^{2n}$. Here 'bar' means reduction modulo I. Now $u \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R, I)$ implies there exists $w = (w_1, w_2, ..., w_{2n}) \in R^{2n}$ such that $\langle u, w \rangle = 1$. Now $\langle \bar{u}, \bar{w} \rangle = \bar{1}$ implies $\langle e_1, \bar{w} \rangle = \bar{1}$ and hence $\bar{w}_1 = \bar{1}$. So $w_1 = 1 + y_1$, where $y_1 \in I$, and $\langle u, w \rangle = 1$ implies

$$(1+x_1)(1+y_1) + x_2^2w_2 + \dots + x_{2n}^2w_{2n} = 1.$$

Let us take $y = (1 + y_1, x_2 w_2, \dots, x_{2n} w_{2n})$. This $y \in (\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}$ and $\langle v, y \rangle = 1$. Therefore $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$.

To show Ψ is surjective we need to show for any $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$, there exists $g \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ such that $vg \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$. From the surjectivity of the second map in Theorem 6.1.1 it follows that, for any $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$, there exists $g \in \mathrm{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ such that

$$v\acute{g} \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I).$$

Now from Theorem 4.1.1 it follows that, there exists $g \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$, such that $vg = v\acute{g}$. Hence Ψ is surjective.

To show Ψ is injective we need to consider $v, w \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$ and $g \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ such that vg = w. We have to show w is in the $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$ -orbit of v. Let

$$g = \prod_{k=1}^{r} se_{i_{k}j_{k}}(a_{k} \oplus x_{k})$$

$$= \prod_{k=1}^{r} se_{i_{k}j_{k}}(0 \oplus x_{k})se_{i_{k}j_{k}}(a_{k} \oplus 0)$$

$$= se_{i_{1}j_{1}}(0 \oplus x_{1}) \prod_{k=2}^{r} \gamma_{k}se_{i_{k}j_{k}}(0 \oplus x_{k})\gamma_{k}^{-1} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{r} se_{i_{k}j_{k}}(a_{k} \oplus 0)\right)$$

$$= g_{1}g_{2},$$

where $\gamma_l = \prod_{k=1}^{l-1} se_{i_k j_k}(a_k \oplus 0)$ and hence $\gamma_l \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus 0)$. Note that here

$$g_1 = se_{i_1j_1}(0 \oplus x_1) \prod_{k=2}^r \gamma_k \ se_{i_kj_k}(0 \oplus x_k) \ \gamma_k^{-1},$$

 $g_2 = \prod_{k=1}^r se_{i_kj_k}(a_k \oplus 0).$

Clearly $g_1 \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$ and $g_2 \in \mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2])$. We also have $\overline{v}\overline{g} = \overline{w}$. Here 'bar' means modulo the ideal $0 \oplus I$. Therefore we have $\overline{v}\overline{g}_1\overline{g}_2 = \overline{w}$, i.e, $e_1\overline{g}_2 = e_1 = e_1g_2$. Hence we have

$$g_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 1 & * \\ * & 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 1 & * \\ * & 0 & I_{2n-2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix},$$

where α is in $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n-2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2]) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n-2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2])$. To see that v and w are in the same $\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$ orbit we use Lemma 6.3.1, replacing R by $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$.

To see the map Φ is injective we now consider the following commutative diagram of the orbit spaces and the natural maps between them:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\Psi} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}$$

$$\downarrow^{\Psi_{2}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\Psi_{1}}$$

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\Psi_{3}} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}.$$

Clearly $\Psi_1 \circ \Psi = \Psi_3 \circ \Psi_2$. Note that we have proved that Ψ is injective. The injectivity of Ψ_1 follows from Theorem 4.1.1. Therefore we have $\Psi_1 \circ \Psi$ is injective. This implies $\Psi_3 \circ \Psi_2$ is injective and hence Ψ_2 is injective.

We now consider another commutative diagram:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\Phi} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)}$$

$$\downarrow^{\Phi_2} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\Phi_1}$$

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\Phi_3} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R, I)}.$$

We have $\Phi_1 \circ \Phi = \Phi_3 \circ \Phi_2$. Note that $\Phi_2 = \Psi_2$ and hence Φ_2 is injective. The injectivity of Φ_3 follows from Theorem 6.1.1. Therefore $\Phi_3 \circ \Phi_2$ is injective. This

6.4 Equality of Orbits and Excision

We can recapture Theorem 4.2.3 which is a relative version of Theorem 4.1.2, as an application of symplectic analogue of the Excision Theorem. Here we establish our claim.

Theorem 6.4.1 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Then the natural map

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R,I)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R,I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R,I)}$$

is bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: Consider the following commutative diagram:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\Omega_{1}} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R, I)}$$

$$\downarrow^{\Omega_{3}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\Omega_{2}}$$

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\Omega_{4}} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R, I)}.$$

The bijectivity of Ω_1 and Ω_3 follows from Theorem 6.3.2 and Theorem 4.1.2 respectively. Further, the bijectivity of Ω_4 is immediate from Theorem 6.1.1. These three bijections together implies that the map Ω_2 is bijective.

6.5 Suresh linear relation property for a group G

Let G be a functor from commutative rings R (in which 2 is invertible) to groups. A group G(R) is said to satisfy **Suresh linear relation property** if it has a set of generators $x_{\alpha}(b)$, for α in some indexing set, $b \in R$ and

$$x_{\alpha}(a+b) = x_{\alpha}(a/2) x_{\alpha}(b) x_{\alpha}(a/2),$$

for all $a, b \in R$.

In [27], Amit Roy generalized Eichler's construction in [11] (over fields) by defining orthogonal transformations of a quadratic module with a hyperbolic summand.

In ([28], Lemma 1.2, Lemma 1.3) V. Suresh showed that the Eichler orthogonal transformations defined by A. Roy satisfied this linear property.

Here we show that generators of the elementary symplectic group ETrans_{Sp} $(Q, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$, where $Q = R^2 \perp P$, also satisfies similar linear relations as above when P is a free R module of rank 2n. Let $v_1, v_2 \in R^{2n}$ and $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in R$. Then

$$\rho_{\varphi}(v_{1}/2, \alpha_{1}/2) \rho_{\varphi}(v_{2}, \alpha_{2}) \rho_{\varphi}(v_{1}/2, \alpha_{1}/2)
= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1}/2 & 1 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ v_{1}^{t}/2 & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{2} & 1 & v_{2}\varphi \\ v_{2}^{t} & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1}/2 & 1 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ v_{1}^{t}/2 & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}
= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1}/2 + \alpha_{2} + (v_{1}/2)\varphi v_{2}^{t} & 1 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi + v_{2}\varphi \\ v_{1}^{t}/2 + v_{2}^{t} & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1}/2 & 1 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ v_{1}^{t}/2 & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}
= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1}/2 + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{1}/2 & 1 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi + v_{2}\varphi + (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ v_{1}^{t}/2 + v_{2}^{t} + v_{1}^{t}/2 & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}
= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} & 1 & v_{1}\varphi + v_{2}\varphi \\ v_{1}^{t} + v_{2}^{t} & 0 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}
= \rho_{\varphi}(v_{1} + v_{2}, \alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}),$$

and

$$\mu_{\varphi}(v_{1}/2, \alpha_{1}/2) \ \mu_{\varphi}(v_{2}, \alpha_{2}) \ \mu_{\varphi}(v_{1}/2, \alpha_{1}/2)$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{1}/2 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{1}^{t}/2 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{2} & v_{2}\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{2}^{t} & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{1}/2 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{1}^{t}/2 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{1}/2 - \alpha_{2} + (v_{1}/2)\varphi v_{2}^{t} & (v_{1}/2)\varphi + v_{2}\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{1}^{t}/2 + v_{2} & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{1}/2 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{1}^{t}/2 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{1}/2 - \alpha_{2} - \alpha_{1}/2 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi + v_{2}\varphi + (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{1}^{t}/2 + v_{2} + v_{1}^{t}/2 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\alpha_{1}/2 - \alpha_{2} - \alpha_{1}/2 & (v_{1}/2)\varphi + v_{2}\varphi + (v_{1}/2)\varphi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_{1}^{t}/2 + v_{2} + v_{1}^{t}/2 & I_{2n} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \mu_{\varphi}(v_{1} + v_{2}, \alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2}).$$

6.6 Excision Theorem for Symplectic Transvection Group

Now we are ready to prove Excision theorem for elementary symplectic transvection group. Before that we state a preliminary lemma which will be required in the proof.

Lemma 6.6.1 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(R,I)$. Let $\alpha \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(R^{2n},\langle,\rangle_{\varphi})$ such that $e_1\alpha = e_1$. Here φ is the alternating matrix corresponding to the alternating form \langle,\rangle and $\varphi \equiv \psi_{n-1} \pmod{I}$. Then

$$v\alpha \in v \text{ ETrans}_{Sp}(R^{2n}, I^{2n}, \langle,\rangle_{\varphi}),$$

for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: Let us choose $\alpha(X)$ from $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(R[X]^{2n},\langle,\rangle_{\varphi})$, with $\alpha(1)=\alpha$, and $\alpha(0)=Id$ (see Lemma 2.2.3). Let us set $V(X)=v\alpha(X)$. Note that V(0)=v, and hence $V(X)\in V(0)$ $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(R[X]^{2n},\langle,\rangle_{\varphi})$. Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. Over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, we have

$$V(X) \in V(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}),$$

and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} = (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^t \psi_{n-1} (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))$, for some $\varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}) \in \mathcal{E}_{2n-3}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}})$ (see Lemma 5.1.8). Note that by Lemma 5.7.12 we have

$$\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$$

$$= (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_{n-1}}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})),$$

and hence

$$V(X) \in V(0) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\psi_{n-1}}) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))$$
$$= V(0) (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})))^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) (1 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})))$$

(see Lemma 5.7.10). Let us set $\beta(X) = (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})) \alpha(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$ and define $W(X) = V(X) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1}$. Note that $W(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \beta(X) = W(X)_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\beta(X)$ is in $\mathrm{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ and $e_1\beta(X) = e_1$. By Lemma 6.3.1 we get that $W(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \beta(X) \in$

 $W(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]), \text{ hence } W(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in W(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]), \text{ i.e.}$

$$v \alpha_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} \in v (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]),$$

and hence

$$v \alpha_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) \in v (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m}))^{-1} \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) (I_3 \perp \varepsilon(\mathfrak{m})),$$

i.e, $V(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in V(0)_{\mathfrak{m}} \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n}, I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$. This is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Using Theorem 5.9.4 we get

$$V(X) \in V(0) \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R[X]^{2n}, I[X]^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi}).$$

Substituting
$$X = 1$$
 we get $v\alpha \in v$ ETrans_{Sp} $(R^{2n}, I^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi})$.

Definition 6.6.2 Let R be a commutative ring with R = 2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let us consider the excision ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$. The standard alternating matrix of size 2n over the ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$ is defined inductively as

$$\widehat{\psi_n} = \widehat{\psi_{n-1}} \perp \widehat{\psi_1},$$

where

$$\widehat{\psi}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} (0,0) & (1,0) \\ (-1,0) & (0,0) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Theorem 6.6.3 Excision Theorem for the Group of Elementary Symplectic Transvections:

Let R be a commutative ring with R=2R, and let I be an ideal of R. Let us consider the excision ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$. Let $((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n-2}, \langle,\rangle_{\varphi^*})$ be a symplectic $(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ -module, where φ^* be an alternating matrix over the ring $\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I$ and $\varphi^* \equiv \widehat{\psi_{n-1}} \pmod{0 \oplus I}$. Then the natural maps

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})} \xrightarrow{\eta} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R^{2n}, I^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})}, \\
\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})} \xrightarrow{\delta} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})},$$

are bijective for $n \geq 3$.

Proof: Clearly η is surjective (follows from the surjectivity of the first map in Theorem 6.3.2). To show δ is sucjective we need to show for $v \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ there exists a $g \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ such that $vg \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$. From the Excision theorem in the linear case (see Theorem 6.1.1) it follows that there exists $g^* \in \mathrm{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)$ such that $vg^* \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$. By Theorem 5.10.3 and Theorem 5.11.1 we have $v \in \mathrm{E}_{2n}(R) = v \in \mathrm{ESp}_{\widehat{\psi}_1 \perp \varphi^*}(R) = v \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}(R^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ and hence there exists a $g \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ such that $vg = vg^* \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$.

To show δ is injective we need to consider $v, w \in \mathrm{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)$ and $g \in \mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ such that vg = w. We have to show w is in the $\mathrm{ETrans}_{\mathrm{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, 0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$ -orbit of v. Let

$$g = \prod_{k=1}^{r} t_{\varphi^{*}}(a_{k} \oplus x_{k}, \alpha_{k} \oplus \beta_{k})$$

$$= \prod_{k=1}^{r} t_{\varphi^{*}}(0 \oplus x_{k}/2, 0 \oplus \beta_{k}/2) \ t_{\varphi^{*}}(a_{k} \oplus 0, \alpha_{k} \oplus 0) \ t_{\varphi^{*}}(0 \oplus x_{k}/2, 0 \oplus \beta_{k}/2)$$

$$= t_{\varphi^{*}}(0 \oplus x_{k}/2, 0 \oplus x_{k}/2) \prod_{k=2}^{r} \gamma_{k} \ t_{\varphi^{*}}(0 \oplus x_{k}/2, 0 \oplus x_{k}/2) \ \gamma_{k}^{-1}$$

$$\left(\prod_{k=1}^{r} t_{\varphi^{*}}(a_{k} \oplus 0, \alpha_{k} \oplus 0)\right)$$

$$= g_{1} \ g_{2},$$

where t_{φ^*} is ρ_{φ^*} or μ_{φ^*} , and $\gamma_l = \prod_{k=1}^{l-1} t_{\varphi^*}(a_k \oplus 0, \alpha_k \oplus 0)$. Therefore γ_l is in $\text{ETrans}_{\text{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus 0)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})$. Note that here

$$g_{1} = t_{\varphi^{*}}(0 \oplus x_{k}/2, 0 \oplus \beta_{k}/2) \prod_{k=2}^{r} \gamma_{k} t_{\varphi^{*}}(0 \oplus x_{k}/2, 0 \oplus \beta_{k}/2) \gamma_{k}^{-1},$$

$$g_{2} = \prod_{k=1}^{r} t_{\varphi^{*}}(a_{k} \oplus 0, \alpha_{k} \oplus 0).$$

Clearly g_1 is in the relative group $\mathrm{ETrans_{Sp}} \big((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*} \big)$ and g_2 is in $\mathrm{ETrans_{Sp}} \big((\mathbb{Z}[1/2])^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*} \big)$. We also have $\overline{vg} = \overline{w}$. Here 'bar' means modulo the ideal $(0 \oplus I)$. Therefore we have \overline{v} $\overline{g_1}$ $\overline{g_2} = \overline{w}$, i.e, $e_1\overline{g_2} = e_1 = e_1$ g_2 , and hence v g_1 $g_2 \in v$ $\mathrm{ETrans_{Sp}} \big((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*} \big)$ (see Lemma 6.6.1), i.e, $w \in v$ $\mathrm{ETrans_{Sp}} \big((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*} \big)$.

To see the map η is injective we now consider the following commutative diagrams of the orbit spaces and the natural maps between them:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})} \xrightarrow{\delta} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})} \xrightarrow{\delta_{1}} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\delta_{3}} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)}.$$

Clearly $\delta_1 \circ \delta = \delta_3 \circ \delta_2$. Note that we have proved that δ is injective. The injectivity of δ_1 follows from Theorem 5.10.3 and Theorem 5.11.1. Therefore we have $\delta_1 \circ \delta$ is injective. This implies $\delta_3 \circ \delta_2$ is injective and hence δ_2 is injective.

We now consider another commutative diagram:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}((\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I)^{2n}, (0 \oplus I)^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*})} \xrightarrow{\eta} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R^{2n}, I^{2n}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi^*}))} \\
\downarrow^{\eta_2} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\eta_1} \\
\frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}[1/2] \oplus I, 0 \oplus I)} \xrightarrow{\eta_3} \frac{\operatorname{Um}_{2n}(R, I)}{\operatorname{E}_{2n}(R, I)}.$$

We have $\eta_1 \circ \eta = \eta_3 \circ \eta_2$. Note that $\eta_2 = \delta_2$ and hence η_2 is injective. The injectivity of η_3 follows from W.van der Kallen's Excision theorem (see Theorem 6.1.1). Therefore $\eta_3 \circ \eta_2$ is injective. This implies $\eta_1 \circ \eta$ is injective and hence η is injective.

Chapter 7

Injective Stability

7.1 Decrease in injective stability for $K_1\operatorname{Sp}(R)$

In this chapter first we would like to recall the definition of $K_1(R)$. Given $\alpha \in M_n(R)$ and $\beta \in M_m(R)$, then

$$\alpha \perp \beta = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} \in M_{n+m}(R).$$

Using the above definition one has a natural inclusion

$$\operatorname{GL}_n(R) \subset \operatorname{GL}_{n+1}(R) \subset \dots$$

defined by $\alpha \in GL_n(R)$ goes to $(1 \perp \alpha) \in GL_{n+1}(R)$. Stable linear group GL(R) is defined as $\bigcup_n GL_n(R)$. In an obvious and unique way a group structure is defined on GL(R) which coincides with the group structures on $GL_n(R)$ when restricted to $GL_n(R)$, for all n. We also recall definitions of the subgroups

$$E(R) = \bigcup_{n} E_n(R),$$

 $SL(R) = \bigcup_{n} SL_n(R),$

of GL(R).

By Lemma 2.2.9 we have E(R) = [E(R), E(R)] = [GL(R), GL(R)]. In particular, E(R) is a normal subgroup of GL(R).

Definition 7.1.1

$$K_1(R) = \frac{\operatorname{GL}(R)}{\operatorname{E}(R)},$$

 $SK_1(R) = \frac{\operatorname{SL}(R)}{\operatorname{E}(R)}.$

H. Bass, J. Milnor, J-P. Serre began the study of the stabilization for the linear group $GL_n(R)/E_n(R)$, for $n \geq 3$, where R is a commutative ring with identity. In [6], they showed the following:

Corollary 7.1.2 ([6], Corollary 11.3) Suppose that the maximal spectrum of a commutative ring R is Noetherian space of dimension $\leq d$. Then the map

$$\frac{\mathrm{GL}_n(R)}{\mathrm{E}_n(R)} \longrightarrow K_1(R)$$

is an isomorphism of groups for all $n \geq d+3$.

Bass-Milnor-Serre also showed that $K_1(R) = GL_3(R)/E_3(R)$, when d = 1. So the natural question of improving the stability bound arises. In ([4], §11) Bass conjectured the following:

The dimension of the maximal spectrum under the Zariski topology is called the Jacobson-Krull dimension.

Conjecture of Bass:

Let R be a commutative ring with 1 and Jacobson-Krull dimension of R is d. Then the map

$$\frac{\operatorname{GL}_n(R)}{\operatorname{E}_n(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{GL}_{n+1}(R)}{\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism for $n \geq d + 2$.

In [34], L.N. Vaserstein proved the above conjecture for an algebra A, which is finite as a module over a commutative ring R, and whose spectrum of maximal ideals is a Noetherian space of dim d.

In [26], R.A. Rao and W. van der Kallen began the study of whether the stabilization bound above improves in the case of finitely generated algebras A over a field k. Such rings A are called affine algebras. Note that by Hilbert's Nullstellensatz, for such rings the Krull dimension and the Jacobson-Krull dimension (i.e. the dimension of the maximal ideal spectrum under the Zariski topology) coincide.

An affine algebra A will be called *non-singular* if A_{\wp} is a regular local ring, for every prime ideal \wp of A. The well-known Jacobian criterion gives an effective method to determine whether a given ideal $I = (f_1, \ldots, f_r)$ of $k[X_1, \ldots, X_n]$ gives rise to a non-singular algebra $k[X_1, \ldots, X_n]/I$.

Definition 7.1.3 C_1 -field:

A field F is called a C_1 field if for any homogeneous polynomial $f(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ in $F[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ of degree d (d is any positive integer), where n > d has a nontrivial zero in F^n .

Example of C_1 -field due to Tsen-Lang: If F is an algebraically closed field and E is a function field in one variable over F, then E is a C_1 -field.

For more examples of C_1 -field one can see [12].

R.A. Rao and W. van der Kallen showed the following:

Theorem 7.1.4 ([26], Theorem 1)

Let A be a non-singular affine algebra of Krull dimension $d \geq 2$ over a perfect C_1 field. Let $\sigma \in \mathrm{SL}_{d+1}(A)$ and $(1 \perp \sigma) \in \mathrm{E}_{d+2}(A)$. Then σ is homotopic to identity,
i.e, there exists a $\rho(X) \in \mathrm{SL}_{d+1}(A[X])$ such that $\rho(1) = \sigma$ and $\rho(0) = Id$.

As a consequence of the above result they showed the following:

Theorem 7.1.5 (|26|, Theorem 1)

If A is a non-singular affine algebra of Krull dimension $d \geq 2$ over a perfect C_1 -field, then the natural map

$$\frac{\operatorname{SL}_n(A)}{\operatorname{E}_n(A)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{SL}_{n+1}(A)}{\operatorname{E}_{n+1}(A)}$$

is injective for $n \ge d + 1$.

Thus, the set of all non-singular affine algebras over a perfect C_1 -field, of Krull dimension d, became an important subclass of the set of all commutative rings of Jacobson-Krull dimension d, over which one could seek improvement in K_0 and K_1 results. (The famous theorems of Suslin in [30], [32] first showed that stabilization results of H. Bass for K_0 improved over such rings. This is the key why one expect to hope for improvement for K_1 for this class of rings.)

L.N. Vaserstein in [35] considered the symplectic, orthogonal and the unitary K_1 -functors, and obtained stabilization theorems for them. These results have been sharpened and extended to other groups in [3].

We restrict ourselves to the symplectic case here.

Theorem 7.1.6 ([35], Theorem 3.3)

The natural map

$$\varphi_{n,n+1}: \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n+2}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism for $2n \geq 2d + 4$. Here d is the stable dimension of R.

R. Basu and R.A. Rao showed, in particular, the following:

Theorem 7.1.7 ([9], Theorem 1)

Let R be a non-singular affine algebra over a perfect C_1 -field of odd Krull dimension $d \geq 2$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)$. Then σ is homotopic to identity, i.e, there exists $\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R[X])$ such that $\rho(1) = \sigma$ and $\rho(0) = Id$. \square

As a consequence they showed that

Theorem 7.1.8 ([9], Theorem 2)

If R is a non-singular affine algebra over a perfect C_1 -field of odd Krull dimension $d \geq 2$, then the natural map

$$\varphi_{n,n+1}: \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R)} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Sp}_{2n+2}(R)}{\operatorname{ESp}_{2n+2}(R)}$$

is an isomorphism for $2n \ge d + 1$.

In this section we are going to reprove this result. Moreover via our main result we show that there is a further decrease in the injective stabilization bound (for the symplectic K_1) of a non-singular affine algebra over a finite field of characteristic not equal to 2 (or its algebraic closure). We show that if the field is a finite field of characteristic not equal to 2 (or its algebraic closure) then the bound improves to $2n \geq d$, provided d is even ≥ 4 .

We would like to recall the surjective stability estimates first. We begin with a definition:

Definition 7.1.9 Stable Range: Let R be a commutative ring. The following concept was introduced by H. Bass:

 (R_m) for every $(a_1, \ldots, a_m) \in \operatorname{Um}_m(R)$, there are $x_i \in R$, for $1 \leq i \leq m-1$, such that $(a_1 + x_1 a_m, \ldots, a_{m-1} + x_{m-1} a_m) \in \operatorname{Um}_{m-1}(R)$. The condition (R_m) implies (R_{m+1}) , for every m > 0. Moreover, for any $n \geq m$, the condition (R_m) implies (R_n) , with $x_i = 0$, for $i \geq m$. By stable range $\operatorname{sr}(R)$ of a ring R we mean the least n such that (R_n) holds.

Definition 7.1.10 Stable Dimension: The stable dimension of a ring R is the integer one less than the stable range. It is denoted by $\operatorname{sdim}(R)$. If R is a Noetherian ring of Krull dimension d, then $\operatorname{sdim}(R) \leq d+1$.

The following is well-known:

Lemma 7.1.11 Let I be an ideal of R and $sr(R) \le t$. Let us assume $t \ge 2$. Then $Um_n(R, I) = e_1 E_n(R, I)$, for $n \ge t$.

Proof: Let $v = (a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}, a_n) \in \operatorname{Um}_n(R, I)$, then $w = (a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}, a_n^2)$ is in $\operatorname{Um}_n(R, I)$. Since $\operatorname{sr}(R) \leq t$, there exists $b_i \in R$ such that

$$w^* = (a_1 + b_1 a_n^2, \dots, a_{n-1} + b_{n-1} a_n^2) \in \operatorname{Um}_{n-1}(R, I).$$

There exists $E_1 \in E_n(R, I)$ such that $vE_1 = (w^*, a_n)$. Let us consider $(w^*, a_n) \in Um_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)$, with $w^* \in Um_{n-1}(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)$. Clearly there exists an elementary matrix $E_2 \in E_n(\mathbb{Z} \oplus I)$ such that $(w^*, a_n)E_2 = e_1$. By W. van der Kallen's Excision theorem (see Theorem 6.1.1) we get an $E_3 \in E_n(R, I)$ such that $(w^*, a_n)E_3 = e_1$. Hence $vE_1E_3 = e_1$, where $E_1E_3 \in E_n(R, I)$.

Proposition 7.1.12 Let R be a Noetherian commutative ring of odd Krull dimension $d \geq 3$. Assume R = 2R. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+3}(R)$. Then σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to the identity, i.e. there exists a $\rho(X)$ in $\operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R[X])$, such that $\sigma = \rho(1)$, and $\rho(0) = Id$.

Proof: Let $\alpha(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{d+3}(R[X])$ be such that $(I_2 \perp \sigma) = \alpha(1)$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$ (see Lemma 2.2.3). Let $e_1\alpha(X) = v(X)$. Therefore

$$v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_{d+3}(R[X], (X^2 - X)).$$

The Krull dimension of R[X] is d+1. Note that R[X] is Noetherian and hence $\operatorname{sdim}(R[X]) \leq d+2$. This implies $\operatorname{sr}(R[X]) \leq d+3$. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{Um}_{d+3}(R[X], (X^2 - X)) = e_1 \operatorname{E}_{d+3}(R[X], (X^2 - X))$$
$$= e_1 \operatorname{ESp}_{d+3}(R[X], (X^2 - X)).$$

(First equality follows form Lemma 7.1.11 and second equality follows from Theorem 4.2.3.) Let

$$\varepsilon(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+3}(R[X], (X^2 - X))$$

be such that $v(X) = e_1 \varepsilon(X)$.

Let us define $\beta(X) = \alpha(X)\varepsilon(X)^{-1}$. Clearly $e_1\beta(X) = e_1$ and $\beta(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{d+3}(R[X])$. This implies $\beta(X)$ is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 1 & * \\ * & 0 & \beta^*(X) \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\beta^*(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R[X])$. Now $(I_2 \perp \sigma) = \alpha(1) = \beta(1)$ since $\varepsilon(1) = I_{d+3}$. Therefore $\beta^*(1) = \sigma, \beta^*(0) = Id$; and hence σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to the identity.

The next result is proven in the linear case in ([37], Theorem 3.3), using H. Lindel's insight in [19], when R is a localization of an affine algebra over a field K at a non-singular point. This can be extended to any regular ring (R, \mathfrak{m}) containing a field, or if characteristic $R/\mathfrak{m} \notin \mathfrak{m}$, using the deep approximation theorem of D. Popescu in [22]. (Also see [23], Corollary 4.4.) The argument imitated in the symplectic case is outlined in [9] and asserts:

Theorem 7.1.13 ([9], Theorem 3.8) Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a regular local ring. Assume that R contains a field, or characteristic $R/\mathfrak{m} \notin \mathfrak{m}$.² Then

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(R[X]) = \operatorname{ESp}_{2n}(R[X]),$$

for
$$n \geq 2$$
.

Corollary 7.1.14 Let R be a non-singular affine algebra of odd Krull dimension

 $d \geq 5$ over a field K. Also assume R = 2R. Then

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R) \cap \operatorname{ESp}_{d+3}(R) = \operatorname{ESp}_{d+1}(R).$$

Proof: It suffices to show that the left hand side is contained in the right hand side. The reverse inclusion is obvious. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R) \cap \operatorname{ESp}_{d+3}(R)$. By Proposition 7.1.12, σ is stably elementary symplectic homotopic to the identity, i.e, there exists $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R[X])$ such that $\alpha(1) = \sigma$ and $\alpha(0) = Id$. Now $\alpha_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} in R. By Theorem 7.1.13 we have $\operatorname{Sp}_{d+1}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \operatorname{ESp}_{d+1}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R. Theorem 3.1.5 implies $\alpha(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+1}(R[X])$. We have $\sigma = \alpha(1) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+1}(R)$.

Theorem 7.1.15 Let R be a finitely generated algebra of even Krull dimension $d \geq 4$ over K, where $K = \mathbb{Z}$ or F or \overline{F} and $\operatorname{char}(K) \neq 2$. (Here F is a finite field and \overline{F} is its algebraic closure.) Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R)$. Then σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to the identity. In fact, $\sigma = \rho(1)$, and $\rho(0) = Id$, for some

$$\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R[X]) \cap \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R[X]).$$

Proof: Let $\alpha(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{d+2}(R[X])$ be such that $(I_2 \perp \sigma) = \alpha(1)$, and $\alpha(0) = Id$. Let $e_1\alpha(X) = v(X)$. Therefore

$$v(X) \in \mathrm{Um}_{d+2}(R[X], (X^2 - X)).$$

By ([29], Corollary 20.4),

$$\operatorname{Um}_{d+2}(R[X], (X^2 - X)) = e_1 \operatorname{E}_{d+2}(R[X], (X^2 - X))$$
$$= e_1 \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R[X], (X^2 - X)).$$

(The last equality follows from Theorem 4.2.2.) Let

$$\varepsilon(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R(X), (X^2 - X))$$

be such that $v(X) = e_1 \varepsilon(X)$.

Let us define $\beta(X) = \alpha(X)\varepsilon(X)^{-1}$. Clearly $e_1\beta(X) = e_1$ and $\beta(X) \in \mathrm{ESp}_{d+2}(R[X])$.

This implies $\beta(X)$ is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 1 & * \\ * & 0 & \beta^*(X) \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\beta^*(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R[X])$. Now $(I_2 \perp \sigma) = \alpha(1) = \beta(1)$ since $\varepsilon(1) = I_{d+2}$. Therefore $\beta^*(1) = \sigma, \beta^*(0) = Id$; and hence σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to identity.

Corollary 7.1.16 Let R be a finitely generated non-singular algebra of even Krull dimension $d \geq 4$ over K, where K is either a finite field or the algebraic closure of a finite field and $\operatorname{char}(K) \neq 2$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ESp}_{d+2}(R)$. Then σ belongs to $\operatorname{ESp}_d(R)$.

Proof: From the proof of Theorem 7.1.15 it follows that $\sigma = \beta^*(1)$ for some $\beta^*(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}_d(R[X])$, with $\beta^*(0) = Id$. We know $\operatorname{Sp}_d(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \operatorname{ESp}_d(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R (see Theorem 7.1.13). This implies $\beta^*(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_d(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} in R. By Theorem 3.1.5, $\beta^*(X) \in \operatorname{ESp}_d(R[X])$. Hence $\sigma = \beta^*(1)$ belongs to $\operatorname{ESp}_d(R)$.

7.2 Decrease in injective stability for $Sp(Q, \langle, \rangle)/ETrans_{Sp}(Q, \langle, \rangle)$

Final goal of this section is to give an improvement for Basu-Rao (see Theorem 7.1.8) estimate in the module case over finitely generated rings. For this purpose we state and prove a few preliminary results. While dealing with the results in the relative case w.r.t. an ideal I of a ring R, we will always assume that over the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where \mathfrak{m} is a maximal ideal, the alternating form \langle , \rangle corresponds to the alternating matrix $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}} \equiv \psi_n \pmod{I}$.

Theorem 7.2.1 ([5], Theorem 3.4, Page 183) Let R be a commutative ring of dim d. Let I be an ideal of R and P be a projective module of rank $\geq d+1$. Let $\tilde{Q} = R \perp P$. Let $v_1, v_2 \in \text{Um}(\tilde{Q})$ and $v_1 \equiv v_2 \pmod{I\tilde{Q}}$. Then there exists $\beta \in \text{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}, I\tilde{Q})$ such that $v_1\beta = v_2$.

Lemma 7.2.2 Let R be commutative ring of dimension d, and let I be an ideal of R. Let us assume R=2R. Let (P,\langle,\rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of even rank $\geq max\{4,d-1\}$, and let $Q=R^2\perp P$.

Let $v_1, v_2 \in \text{Um}(Q)$ and $v_1 \equiv v_2 \pmod{IQ}$. Then there exists $\beta \in \text{ETrans}_{Sp}(Q, IQ)$ such that $v_1\beta = v_2$.

Proof: Follows from Theorem 7.2.1 and Theorem 5.11.4. \Box

Let us recall the property $P_r(R, I)$ introduced in ([17]). Let R be a commutative ring and I be an ideal of R. Let P be a projective module of rank $\geq r$ and let $\tilde{Q} = R \perp P$. We say $P_r(R, I)$ holds if $\operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}, I\tilde{Q})$ acts transitively on the set of unimodular elements $(a, x) \in \operatorname{Um}(\tilde{Q})$ with the property $(a, x) \equiv (1, 0) \pmod{I\tilde{Q}}$. We can similarly introduce $P_r(R, I)$ for the group of elementary symplectic transvections $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}$. In the next two lemmas 'bar' will denote modulo the ideal $\operatorname{nil}(R)$.

Lemma 7.2.3 ([17], Remark 2.3): $P_r(\overline{R}, \overline{I})$ implies $P_r(R, I)$.

Proof: Let $(a, p) \in \text{Um}(\tilde{Q})$ with the property $(a, p) \equiv (1, 0) \pmod{I\tilde{Q}}$. We have $(\overline{a}, \overline{p}) \in \text{Um}(\overline{\tilde{Q}})$ and $(\overline{a}, \overline{p}) \equiv (\overline{1}, \overline{0}) \pmod{I\tilde{Q}}$. Given that $P_r(\overline{R}, \overline{I})$ holds and hence there exists $\alpha \in \text{ETrans}(\overline{\tilde{Q}}, \overline{I\tilde{Q}})$ such that $(\overline{a}, \overline{x})\alpha = (\overline{1}, \overline{0})$. We know the map

$$\operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}, I\tilde{Q}) \ \longrightarrow \ \operatorname{ETrans}(\overline{\tilde{Q}}, \overline{I\tilde{Q}})$$

is surjective. Therefore there exists $\alpha_0 \in \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}, I\tilde{Q})$ such that $\overline{\alpha_0} = \alpha$ and we have $(\overline{a}, \overline{p})\overline{\alpha_0} = (\overline{1}, \overline{0})$. Hence $(a, p)\alpha_0 = (1, 0) \pmod{nil(R)}$. We may assume $(a, p) \equiv (1, 0) \pmod{nil(R)}$. Therefore we have $(a, p) \equiv (1, 0) \pmod{nil(R)} \cap I\tilde{Q}$. Let (a, p) = (1 + a', p), where $a' \in nil(R) \cap I$ and $p \in (nil(R)\tilde{Q} \cap I\tilde{Q})$. We define v(X) = (1 + a'X, pX). For any maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R, $P_{\mathfrak{m}}$ will be a free $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$ -module and $v(X)_{\mathfrak{m}} \in \operatorname{Um}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$, where $n \geq r + 1$. Note that $a' \in nil(R)$ and hence 1 + a'X is a unit in R[X]. Therefore by Lemma 2.2.17 we get $\beta(X) \in E_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ such that $v(X)\beta(X) = (1, 0) = v(0)$. We have

$$E_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$$

(see Lemma 5.4.6). Therefore

$$v(X) \in v(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]),$$

and this is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Hence using Theorem 5.6.4 we claim

$$v(X) \in v(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}[X], I\tilde{Q}[X]).$$

Substituting X = 1 we get the result.

Lemma 7.2.4 $P_r(\overline{R}, \overline{I})$ for ETrans_{Sp} implies $P_r(R, I)$ for ETrans_{Sp}.

Proof: Follows from Lemma 7.2.3 and Theorem 5.11.4. \Box

Theorem 7.2.5 ([17], Theorem 2.4): Let R be a finitely generated ring of dimension $d \geq 2$, and I be an ideal of R. Let P be a projective module of rank $\geq d$, and $\tilde{Q} = R \perp P$. Let $(a, x) \in \text{Um}(\tilde{Q})$ with the property $(a, x) \equiv (1, 0) \pmod{I\tilde{Q}}$. Then there exists $\alpha \in \text{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}, I\tilde{Q})$ such that $(a, x)\alpha = (1, 0)$.

Proof: Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R. Consider the free module $P_{\mathfrak{m}}$ of $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$. Also $(a_{\mathfrak{m}}, x_{\mathfrak{m}}) \in \mathrm{Um}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}})$, where $n \geq d+1$. By Corollary 2.2.18 we get $\beta \in \mathrm{E}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}, I_{\mathfrak{m}})$ such that $(a_{\mathfrak{m}}, x_{\mathfrak{m}})\beta = (1, 0)$. Let us choose $\beta(X)$ from $\mathrm{E}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ such that $\beta(1) = \beta$ and $\beta(0) = Id$ (see Lemma 2.2.3). Let us define $v(X) = (a_{\mathfrak{m}}, x_{\mathfrak{m}})\beta(X)$. Note that v(1) = (1, 0) and v(0) = (a, x) and

$$v(X) \in v(0) \to \mathbb{E}_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]).$$

We have $E_n(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]) = \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X])$ (see Lemma 5.4.6). Therefore

$$v(X) \in v(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], I\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]),$$

and this is true for all maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of R. Hence using Theorem 5.6.4 we claim

$$v(X) \in v(0) \operatorname{ETrans}(\tilde{Q}[X], I\tilde{Q}[X]).$$

Substituting X = 1 we get the result.

Theorem 7.2.6 Let R be a finitely generated ring of dimension $d \geq 2$, and let I be an ideal of R. Let us assume R = 2R. Let (P, \langle, \rangle) be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of even rank $\geq \max\{4, d-1\}$, and $Q = R^2 \perp P$. Let $(a, x) \in \text{Um}(Q)$ with the property $(a, x) \equiv (1, 0) \pmod{IQ}$. Then there exists $\alpha \in \text{ETrans}_{Sp}(Q, IQ)$ such that $(a, x)\alpha = (1, 0)$.

Proof: Follows from Theorem 7.2.5 and Theorem 5.11.4.

Theorem 7.2.7 Let R be a commutative ring of dimension d. Let us assume R = 2R. Let $(P\langle,\rangle)$ be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module

of even rank $\geq \max\{2, d-3\}$. Let $Q = (R^2 \perp P)$, and let $\widehat{Q} = (R^2 \perp Q)$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q, \langle, \rangle)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}), \langle, \rangle)$. Then σ is (stably elementary symplectic) homotopic to the identity. In fact, $\sigma = \rho(1)$, and $\rho(0) = Id$, for some

$$\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle) \cap \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X], \langle, \rangle).$$

Proof: Let us choose $\alpha(X)$ from $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X],\langle,\rangle)$, such that $\alpha(1)=I_2\perp\sigma$, and $\alpha(0)=Id$. Let $e_1\alpha(X)=v(X)\in\operatorname{Um}(\widehat{Q}[X],(X^2-X)\widehat{Q}[X])$. Also $e_1=(1,0,0)\in\operatorname{Um}(\widehat{Q}[X],(X^2-X)\widehat{Q}[X])$. Therefore by Lemma 7.2.2, we have $\beta(X)\in\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X],(X^2-X)\widehat{Q}[X],\langle,\rangle)$, such that $v(X)\beta(X)=(1,0,0)$, i.e, $e_1\alpha(X)\beta(X)=e_1$. Let us call the product $\alpha(X)\beta(X)=\delta(X)$. Since $\delta(X)\in\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X],\langle,\rangle)$, we have $\langle e_1\delta(X),e_2\delta(X)\rangle=\langle e_1,e_2\rangle=1$, and hence $e_2\delta(X)=(a(X),1,q(X))=u(X)$ (say). Note that $\delta(0)=Id$, hence u(0)=(0,1,0). Also $\delta(1)=Id$, hence u(1)=(0,1,0), i.e, $u(X)\equiv(0,1,0)$ (mod (X^2-X)). Let \mathfrak{m} be a maximal ideal of R and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$ be the alternating matrix over $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$, which corresponds to the alternating bilinear form \langle,\rangle . Let us choose an element

$$\gamma(X) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -a(X) & 1 & -q(X) \\ \varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}^{-1} q(X)^t & 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \rho(q(X)\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}^{-1}, -a(X))$$

from $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], (X^2-X)\widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{m}}[X], \langle, \rangle)$, such that $e_1 \gamma(X) = e_1$ and $u(X) \gamma(X) = e_2 = u(0)$. This is true for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R. By Theorem 5.9.4 there is a $\widetilde{\gamma}(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X], (X^2-X)\widehat{Q}[X], \langle, \rangle)$ such that $e_1 \ \widetilde{\gamma}(X) = e_1$ and $u(X) \ \widetilde{\gamma}(X) = e_2$. Let us call $\delta(X)\widetilde{\gamma}(X) = \eta(X)$. Clearly $\eta(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q}[X], \langle, \rangle)$, and $e_1 \ \eta(X) = e_1; e_2 \ \eta(X) = e_2$. Let $\eta(X) = I_2 \perp \rho(X)$, where $\rho(X) = \eta(X)|_{Q[X]}$. Note that $\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle)$, and

$$I_2 \perp \rho(1) = \eta(1) = \delta(1)\widetilde{\gamma}(1)$$
$$= \alpha(1)\beta(1)\widetilde{\gamma}(1)$$
$$= \alpha(1) = (I_2 \perp \sigma),$$

and $\rho(0) = Id$.

Theorem 7.2.8 ([9], Theorem 3.13) Let (R, \mathfrak{m}) be a regular local ring. Assume that R contains a field, or characteristic of $R \setminus \mathfrak{m} \notin \mathfrak{m}^2$. Then

$$\operatorname{Sp}(R[X]^{2n+2}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}) = \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R[X]^{2n+2}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}}),$$

for $n \geq 1$, where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is the associated matrix of the alternating bilinear form \langle , \rangle . \square

The next corollary improves Basu-Rao (see Theorem 7.1.8) estimate in the module case over finitely generated rings.

Corollary 7.2.9 Let R be a finitely generated non-singular algebra of dimension d over K, where K is either a finite field or the algebraic closure of a finite field. Let us assume R=2R. Let $(P.\langle,\rangle)$ be a symplectic R-module with P finitely generated projective module of even rank $\geq \max\{2, d-3\}$. Let $Q=(R^2 \perp P)$, and $\widehat{Q}=(R^2 \perp Q)$. Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$ and $(I_2 \perp \sigma) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(\widehat{Q},\langle,\rangle)$. Then σ belongs to $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(Q,\langle,\rangle)$.

Proof: From the proof of Theorem 7.2.7 it follows that $\sigma = \rho(1)$ for some $\rho(X) \in \operatorname{Sp}(Q[X], \langle, \rangle)$, with $\rho(0) = Id$. Using Theorem 7.2.8 we get that $\operatorname{Sp}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n+2}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$ = $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n+2}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of R. This implies $\rho(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R_{\mathfrak{m}}[X]^{2n+2}, \langle, \rangle_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{m}}})$, for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} in R. By Lemma 5.9.1, $\rho(X) \in \operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R[X], \langle, \rangle)$. Hence $\sigma = \rho(1)$ belongs to $\operatorname{ETrans}_{\operatorname{Sp}}(R, \langle, \rangle)$.

Remark 7.2.10 We believe that Corollary 7.2.9 should also hold for finitely generated rings of dimension ≥ 2 in view of results in [13].

Bibliography

- [1] H. Apte, P. Chattopadhyay, R.A. Rao, ————————————————————, (in preparation).
- [2] A. Bak, R. Basu, R.A. Rao, Local-Global principle for transvection groups, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 138 no. 4 (2010) 1191– 1204
- [3] A. Bak, V. Petrov, G. Tang, Stability for quadratic K_1 . Special issue in honour of Hyman Bass on his seventieth birthday. Part I. K-Theory 30 no. 1 (2003) 1–11.
- [4] H. Bass, K-theory and stable algebra, Inst. Publ. Math. IHES 22 (1964) 5–60.
- [5] H. Bass, Algebraic K-theory, W.A. Benjamin, Inc, 1968.
- [6] H. Bass, J. Milnor, J-P. Serre, Solution of the congruence subgroup problem for SL_n , $n \geq 3$ and Sp_{2n} , $n \geq 2$, Inst. Publ. Math. IHES 33 (1967) 59–137.
- [7] H. Bass, Unitary algebraic K-theory, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 343 (1973) 57–265
- [8] R. Basu, R. Khanna, R.A. Rao, On Quillen's local global principle, Contemp. Math. 390 Amer. Math. Soc. Providence RI (2005) 17–30.
- [9] R. Basu, R.A. Rao, Injective Stability for K_1 of Classical Modules, Journal of Algebra 323 no. 4 (2010) 867–877.
- [10] P. Chattopadhyay, R.A. Rao, Elementary symplectic orbits and improved K_1 -stability, Journal of K-Theory (to appear).

- [11] M. Eichler, Quadratische Formen und Orthogonale Gruppen, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften 63 Springer-Verlag Berlin/Heidelberg/New York 1952.
- [12] J.-L. Colliot-Thélène, Fields of Cohomology Dimension 1 versus C_1 -fields, Algebra and Number Theory, Proceedings of the Silver Jubilee Conference, University of Hyderabad (2005) 1–6.
- [13] F. Grunewald, J. Mennicke, L. Vaserstein, On symplectic group over polynomial rings, Mathematische Zeitschrift 206 (1991) 35–56.
- [14] S.K. Gupta, M.P. Murthy, Suslin's Work on Linear Groups over Polynomial Rings and Serre Problem, ISI Lecture Notes 8 Macmillan of India Ltd. (1980).
- [15] W. van der Kallen, A group structure on certain orbit sets of unimodular rows, Journal of Algebra 82 no. 2 (1983) 363–397.
- [16] V.I. Kopeiko, The stabilization of symplectic groups over a polynomial ring, Math. USSR. Sbornik 34 (1978) 655–669.
- [17] N. Kumar, M.P. Murthy, A. Roy, A cancellation Theorem for Projective Modules over Finitely Generated Rings, Algebraic Geometry and Commutative Algebra 1 (1988) 281–287.
- [18] T.Y. Lam, Serre's conjecture, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 635, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1978. Revised edition: Serre's Problem on Projective Modules. Springer Monographs in Math. ISBN 3-540-23317-2.
- [19] H. Lindel, On the Bass-Quillen conjecture concerning projective modules over polynomial rings, Invent. Math. 65 no. 2 (1981-82) 319–323.
- [20] S. Mandal, Projective module and complete intersection, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1672 (1997).
- [21] J. Milnor, Introduction to algebraic K-theory, Annals of Mathematics Studies, Number 72, 1971.
- [22] D. Popescu, General Néron desingularization and approximation, Nagoya Math. J. 104 (1986) 85–115.

- [23] D. Popescu, Polynomial rings and their projective modules, Nagoya Math. J. 113 (1989) 121–128.
- [24] D. Quillen, Projective modules over polynomial rings, Invent. Math. 36 (1976) 167–171.
- [25] R.A. Rao, An elementary transformation of a special unimodular vector to its top coefficient vector, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 93 no. 1 (1985) 21–24.
- [26] R.A. Rao, W. van der Kallen, Improved stability for K_1 and WMS_d of a non-singular affine algebra, K-theory (Strasbourg, 1992). Astérisque no. 226 (1994) 411–420.
- [27] A. Roy, Cancellation of Quadratic Forms over Commutative Rings, Journal of Algebra 10 (1968) 286–298.
- [28] V. Suresh, Linear Relations in Eichler Orthogonal Transformations, Journal of Algebra 168 (1994) 804–809.
- [29] A.A. Suslin, L.N. Vaserstein, Serre's problem on Projective Modules over Polynomial Rings and Algebraic K-theory, Math. USSR Izvestija 10 (1976) 937–1001.
- [30] A.A. Suslin, Stably Free Modules. (Russian) Math. USSR Sbornik 102 (144) no. 4 (1977) 537–550, 632.
- [31] A.A. Suslin, On the Structure of the Special Linear Group over Polynomial Rings, Math. USSR. Izvestija 11 (1977) 221–238.
- [32] A.A. Suslin, Cancellation for affine varieties (Russian) Modules and algebraic groups. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 114 (1982) 187–195, 222.
- [33] R.G. Swan, Serre's Problem, Queen's paper in pure and applied mathematics 42 Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario (1975) 1–60.
- [34] L.N. Vaserstein, On the stabilization of the general linear group over a ring, Mat. Sbornik (N.S.) 79 (121) 405–424 (Russian); English translation in Math. USSR-Sbornik 8 (1969) 383–400.

- [35] L.N. Vaserstein, Stabilization of Unitary and Orthogonal Groups over a Ring with Involution, Mat. Sbornik 81 (123) no. 3 (1970) 328–351.
- [36] L.N. Vaserstein, On the normal subgroups of GL_n over a ring, Algebraic K-theory, Evanston 1980 (Proc. Conf., Northwestern Univ., Evanston, Ill., 1980) 456–465; Lecture Notes in Math. 854, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1981.
- [37] T. Vorst, The general linear group of polynomial rings over regular rings, Comm. Algebra 9 no. 5 (1981) 499–509.